
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING  
WEDNESDAY,  SEPTEMBER 23, 2020 

       Closed Session  - 6:00 PM     
Regular Meeting - 6:30 PM 

 
City Hall – Beryl P. Robinson, Jr. Conference Room 

317 Broad Street, Nevada City, CA  95959 
 

MISSION STATEMENT  
The City of Nevada City is dedicated to preserving and enhancing its small town  

character and historical architecture while providing quality public services for our 
 current and future residents, businesses and visitors. 

 
 

Erin Minett, Mayor 
    Douglass Fleming, Council Member              Duane Strawser, Vice Mayor 

Daniela Fernández, Council Member   Vacant, Council Member 
 

The City Council welcomes you to its meetings which are scheduled at 6:30 PM on the 2nd and 4th Wednesdays of 
each month.  Your interest is encouraged and appreciated.  This meeting is recorded on DVD and is televised on 
local public television Channel 17.  Other special accommodations may be requested to the City Clerk 72 hours in 
advance of the meeting.  Please turn off all cell phones or similar devices.  Action may be taken on any agenda item.  
Agenda notices are available at City Hall.  Materials related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the Council after 
distribution of the agenda packet are available for public inspection in the City Hall at 317 Broad Street, Nevada 
City, CA during normal business hours. 
In order to minimize the spread of the COVID 19 virus Governor Newsom has issued 
Executive Orders that temporarily suspend requirements of the Brown Act.   Please be advised 
that the Council Chambers are closed to the public and that some, or all, of the City of Nevada 
City, City Council Members may attend this meeting telephonically. 
 
1. You are strongly encouraged to observe the City Council meetings live on PUBLIC 
TELEVISION CHANNEL 17,  ONLINE AT THE CITY’S WEBSITE 
WWW.NEVADACITYCA.GOV or Nevada City Public Meetings-YouTube Channel or at  
HTTP://NEVCO.GRANICUS.COM/PLAYER/CAMERA/2?PUBLISH_ID=7 (If you are unable 
to view the meeting live on YouTube please use one of the other 3 methods). 
 
2. If you wish to make a comment on a specific agenda item, please submit your comment 
via email to NEVADACITY.OLSON@GMAIL.COM.  Comments will be accepted at the email 
provided through the live meeting.  You can also go to the Nevada City website at 
www.nevadacityca.gov and go to the public comment button to submit comments.  PLEASE 
INCLUDE YOUR NAME AND ADDRESS IN YOUR COMMENT, AS WELL AS, 
INCLUDING THE AGENDA ITEM LETTER AND NUMBER IN YOUR SUBJECT LINE.  
Please keep your written comments to 3 minutes or less.  Every effort will be made to read 
your comment into the record, but some comments may not be read due to time constraints. 
 
3. In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, if you need special 
assistance to participate in this meeting, please contact the Deputy City Clerk at (530) 265-
2496 x133.  Notification at least 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the City to make 
reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting.  [28 CFR 35.102.35.104 ADA 
Title II].   
 
The City of Nevada City thanks you in advance for taking all precautions to prevent spreading 
the COVID 19 virus.  
 

 
 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCXSQwrXtey12YIl3IbyGMYQ
http://nevco.granicus.com/player/camera/2?publish_id=7
mailto:NEVADACITY.OLSON@GMAIL.COM
http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


ANY MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE COUNCIL ON ANY ITEM ON THIS 
AGENDA: After receiving recognition from the Mayor, give your name and address, and then your comments or 
questions. Please direct your remarks to the Councilmembers. In order that all interested parties have an opportunity 
to speak, please limit your comments to the specific item under discussion. All citizens will be afforded an 
opportunity to speak, consistent with their Constitutional rights. Time limits shall be at the Mayor's discretion. 
IF YOU CHALLENGE the Council's decision on any matter in court, you will be limited to raising only those 
issues you or someone else raised at the meeting or Public Hearing described on this agenda, or in written 
correspondence delivered to the City Council at, or prior to, the meeting or Public Hearing.  
CLOSED SESSION:  6:00 PM 
 
Under Government Code Section 54950 members of the public are entitled to comment on the closed session 
agenda before the Council goes into closed session. 
 

1. Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9, The City Attorney, Crystal Hodgson and 
City Manager, Catrina Olson are requesting a closed session item to discuss and confer 
on the pending litigation involving the City in the case of LORRAINE REICH, in Propria 
Persona, and for SA VE NEV ADA COUNTY TREES, an unincorporated association of 
Citizens of Nevada City and Nevada County, State of California, Petitioners vs. CITY OF 
NEVADA CITY, PACIFIC GAS and ELECTRIC COMPANY, MOUNTAIN 
ENTERPRISES, INC., AND DOES 1 through 25, inclusive, Prespondents, Case 
No.CU20-084893. 

 
REGULAR MEETING – 6:30 PM - Call to Order 
 
Roll Call:  Mayor Minett, Vice Mayor Strawser, Council Members Fleming and Fernández  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
PROCLAMATIONS:   
 
PRESENTATIONS:  Dr. Johnson, Nevada County Public Health Officer and Jill Blake, 
Director, Nevada County Public Health Department  
 
BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR 
 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT 
Under Government Code Section 54954.3, members of the public are entitled to address 
the City Council concerning any item within the Nevada City Council’s subject matter 
jurisdiction. Comments on items NOT ON THE AGENDA are welcome at this time.  
Normally, public comments are limited to no more than three minutes each.  Except for 
certain specific exceptions, the City Council is prohibited from discussing or taking 
action on any item not appearing on the posted agenda. 

 
2. COUNCIL MEMBERS REQUESTED ITEMS, COMMITTEE REPORTS AND 

FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS: 
 
A. Subject: League of California Cities 2020 Annual Conference Resolution Packet  

Recommendation: Review and provide the League of California Cities voting 
delegate, Vice Mayor Strawser, direction on whether to approve a Resolution of the 
General Assembly of the League of California Cities calling for an amendment of 
Section 230 of the Communications Decency Act of 1996 to require social media 
companies to remove materials which promote criminal activities. 



3. CONSENT ITEMS: 
All matters listed under the Consent Calendar are to be considered routine by the City 
Council and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed.  There will be no separate 
discussion of these items unless, before the City Council votes on the motion to adopt, 
members of the Council, City staff or the public request specific items to be removed 
from the Consent Calendar for separate discussion and action. 

 
A. Subject: Fire Activity Report – August 2020 

Recommendation: Receive and file. 
 

B. Subject: Second Reading - Ordinance 2020-16, an Ordinance of the City of Nevada 
City Adding Section 17.80.240 to the Nevada City Municipal Code Regulating 
Stationary Standby Generators and Second Reading- Ordinance 2020-17 an 
Ordinance of the City of Nevada City Amending Section 8.20.90 of the Nevada City 
Municipal Code in Order to Update the City’s Ordinance Pertaining to Emergency 
Use of Generators 
Recommendation:  

1. Adopt Ordinance 2020-16, an Ordinance of the City of Nevada City 
Amending Section 8.20.90 of the Nevada City Municipal Code to Add an 
Exception to the City’s Noise Regulations for the Use of Emergency 
Generators. 

 
2. Adopt Ordinance 2020-17, an Ordinance of the City of Nevada City Adding 

Section 17.80.240 to the Nevada City Municipal Code Regulating Stationary 
Standby Generators. 

  
C. Subject: A Resolution of the City of Nevada City Awarding a Professional Services 

Contract Amendment to 4LEAF, Inc. for Building Inspection and Plan Review 
Services  
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City of Nevada 
City awarding a professional services contract amendment to 4Leaf, Inc. for building 
inspection and plan review services for the City of Nevada City and authorize the 
Mayor to sign. 
 

D. Subject: Award of Contract for Church Street Water Service Replacement 
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of 
the City of Nevada City to award a contract to PSCE in the amount of $21,774 plus 
$3,000 in contingencies for Church Street Water Service Replacement in Nevada 
City and authorize the Mayor to sign.  
 

E. Subject: Notice of Completion for Commercial Street Phase 1 Water, Sewer and 
Storm Drain in Nevada City 
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution for the City of Nevada 
City authorizing the Mayor to sign a Notice of Completion for Commercial Street 
Phase 1 Water, Sewer and Storm Drain in Nevada City and authorize the City Clerk 
to file said Notice of Completion with the Nevada County Recorder’s Office.   
 

F. Subject: Agreement for Public Safety Dispatch Services Between the City of Grass 
Valley, the Town of Truckee, the City of Nevada City and the County of Nevada 
(July 1, 2020 through June 30, 2021) 



Recommendation: Review and approve the agreement for public safety dispatch 
services between the City of Grass Valley, the Town of Truckee, the city of Nevada 
City and the County of Nevada for the period of July 1, 2020 through June 30, 2021 
and authorize the Mayor and City Manager to sign. 
 

G. Subject: A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City to Award a 
Contract to Koch & Koch, Inc. in the Amount of $60,500 for Water Reservoir 
Cleaning and Maintenance at the Water Treatment Plant in Nevada City 
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of 
the City of Nevada City awarding a contract to Koch & Koch Inc. in amount of 
$60,500 for water reservoir cleaning and maintenance at Water Treatment Plant in 
Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign. 
 

H. Subject: Action Minutes September 9, 2020 Regular City Council Meeting  
Recommendation: Review and approve regular City Council meeting action 
minutes of September 9, 2020. 
 

4. DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ACTION ITEMS AND UPDATE REPORTS: 
 
A. Subject: Tesla Energy Products Purchase Agreement and California Self Generation 

Incentive Program (SGIP) 
Recommendation: Review, receive and file the attached Tesla Energy Products 
Purchase Agreement and California Self Generation Incentive Program. 
 

B. Subject: A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City 
Renewing Goals of the 2015 Energy Action Plan and Adopting the 100% 
Renewables Committee’s Renewable Energy Plan   
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of 
the City of Nevada City renewing goals of the 2015 Energy Action Plan and 
adopting the 100% Renewables Committee’s Renewable Energy Plan. 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 

6. OLD BUSINESS: 
 
A. Subject: Cashin’s Field Affordable Housing Development Request for Financial 

Assistance   
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of 
the City of Nevada City committing to an agreement with the Regional Housing 
Authority and Central California Housing Corporation to provide a loan to the 
Cashin’s Field Affordable Housing Project in the amount of $200,000 (effectively 
deferring that portion of development impact fees), and authorize the Mayor and 
City Manager to sign a letter of commitment for  the loan. 

 
7. NEW BUSINESS: 

 
A. Subject: A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City Pledging 

Support to the Nisenan Tribal Community of the Nevada City Rancheria to Preserve 
and Protect their Native Culture and Acknowledging the Ancestral Nisenan Lands 



Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of 
the City of Nevada City pledging support to the Nisenan Tribal Community of the 
Nevada City Rancheria to preserve and protect their Native Culture and 
acknowledging the Ancestral Nisenan Lands and that a statement of that 
acknowledgment be read prior to each City Council meeting. 
 

8. CORRESPONDENCE: 
 

9. ANNOUNCEMENTS: 
 

10.  CITY MANAGER’S REPORT: 
 

11.  ADJOURNMENT 
   
Certification of Posting of Agenda 
I, Gabrielle Christakes, Administrative Services Technician/Deputy City Clerk for the City of Nevada City, 
declares that the foregoing agenda for the September 23rd, 2020 Regular Meeting of the Nevada City City 
Council was posted September 18th, 2020 at the entrance of City Hall. The agenda is also posted on the 
City’s website www.nevadacityca.gov.   
 
Signed September 18th, 2020, at Nevada City, California 
      
___________________________________________________ 
Gabrielle Christakes, Administrative Services Technician/Deputy City Clerk 
 
 
 
___________________________________________________________________________________  

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
City Council 

Long Range Calendar 
 
September 23, 2020 Regular Council Meeting 
October 12, 2020 Holiday 
October 14, 2020 Regular Council Meeting 
October 28, 2020 Regular Council Meeting 
November 18, 2020 Regular Council Meeting 
December 9, 2020 Regular Council Meeting 
 
 
NOTE:  This list is for planning purposes; items may shift depending on timing and capacity of a 
meeting. 
 
NOTICE:  As presiding officer, the Mayor has the authority to preserve order at all City Council meetings, to 
remove or cause the removal of any person from any such meeting for disorderly conduct, or for making personal, 
impertinent, or slanderous remarks, using profanity, or becoming boisterous, threatening or personally abusive 
while addressing said Council and to enforce the rules of the Council. 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
             Nevada City CA 95959 
September 23, 2020       www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:   League of California Cities 2020 Annual Conference Resolution Packet   
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Review and provide the League of California Cities voting delegate, 
Vice Mayor Strawser, direction on whether to approve a Resolution of the General Assembly of 
the League of California Cities calling for an amendment of Section 230 of the 
Communications Decency Act of 1996 to require social media companies to remove materials 
which promote criminal activities. 
 
CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
The League of California Cities is holding the annual business meeting on Friday October 9, 
2020 in conjunction with its Annual Conference.  At this meeting, the League membership 
considers and takes action on resolutions that establish League policy. 
 
It is typical that the City Council come to a general consensus to provide direction to the voting 
delegate on matters being presented at the business meeting for action.  This year a 
Resolution of the General Assembly of the League of California Cities calling for an 
amendment of Section 230 of the Communications Decency Act of 1996 to require social 
media companies to remove materials which promote criminal activities is being presented for 
consideration. 
 
At the August 12, 2020 City Council meeting Vice Mayor Strawser was appointed the voting 
delegate.  Mayor Minett and Council Member Fernández were appointed alternates.  The  
League Resolution packet is attached to the staff report for review, discussion and direction. 
 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:   Not applicable.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 League of California Cities 2020 Annual Conference Resolution Packet 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


























































REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City, CA  95959 
September 23, 2020       www.nevadacityca.gov 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Second Reading - Ordinance 2020-XX, an Ordinance of the City of Nevada City Adding 
Section 17.80.240 to the Nevada City Municipal Code Regulating Stationary Standby 
Generators and Second Reading- Ordinance 2020-XX an Ordinance of the City of Nevada City 
Amending Section 8.20.90 of the Nevada City Municipal Code in Order to Update the City’s 
Ordinance Pertaining to Emergency Use of Generators 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

1. Adopt Ordinance 2020-XX; an Ordinance of the City of Nevada City Amending Section 8.20.90 
of the Nevada City Municipal Code to Add an Exception to the City’s Noise Regulations for the 
Use of Emergency Generators. 
 

2. Adopt Ordinance 2020-XX an Ordinance of the City of Nevada City Adding Section 17.80.240 
to the Nevada City Municipal Code Regulating Stationary Standby Generators. 

 
CONTACT:   Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
At the September 9, 2020 meeting, City Council introduced for a first reading, an Ordinance as 
recommended by staff and the Planning Commission establishing a process for processing commercial 
and residential stationary generators to be used in the event of emergency electrical power outages. 
At the same meeting, Council introduced an Ordinance amendment to exempt generator noise when 
used during emergency electrical power outages. Staff has updated the Ordinance consistent with 
direction from Council to modify the power output for generator proposals that may go through the 
Architectural Review process with power outputs between 10,000 and 20,000 watts (originally 18,000 
watt limit). 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT:  
 At the September 9, 2020 meeting the City Council approved a Notice of Exemption (NOE) finding 
that the project is exempt from environmental review pursuant to §15301 (Class 1) of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guidelines. The CEQA Guidelines for Categorical Exemption 
§15301, allows for operation, repair, maintenance, permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of 
existing public or private structures, facilities, mechanical equipment, or topographical features, 
involving negligible or no expansion of use beyond that existing at the time of the lead agency’s 
determination. Consistent with this exemption, the Ordinance will regulate stationary standby 
generators to provide power to existing permitted uses and only during electrical emergency power 
outage events and will not provide for an expansion of use.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  None. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 Ordinance 2020-XX, an Ordinance of the City of Nevada City Amending Section 8.20.90 of the 

Nevada City Municipal Code to Add an Exception to the City’s Noise Regulations for the Use 
of Emergency Generators 
 

 Ordinance 2020-XX, an Ordinance of the City of Nevada City Adding Section 17.80.240 to the 
Nevada City Municipal Code Regulating Stationary Standby Generators 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 
1 
 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-XX 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY AMENDING 
SECTION 8.20.90 OF THE NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE 

TO ADD AN EXCEPTION TO THE CITY’S NOISE 
REGULATIONS FOR THE USE OF EMERGENCY 

GENERATORS 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City, California ("City") is a municipal corporation, 
duly organized under the constitution and laws of the State of California; and 

 
WHEREAS, the utility PG&E has implemented a Public Safety Power Shutoff (PSPS) 

program whereby all customers in any given area could have their power shut off for multiple 
days; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City has received recent inquiries from residents and 

business owners about the use of generators for homes and commercial businesses; and 
 
WHEREAS, the noise ordinance of the City of Nevada City Municipal Code provides 

for measures to protect the peace and quiet of neighborhoods and community solitude and 
does not anticipate the possibility of PG&E power shutoffs and resulting interest in backup 
generators for homes and businesses; and 

 
WHEREAS, such generators can be an important safety element during a power 

outage by maintaining power for refrigeration systems and medical equipment. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY DOES 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Section 8.20.90 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
8.20.90 – General Exemptions  
The following noises are exempted from regulation by this chapter:  

A. Sirens, horns and other warning signals on ambulance, fire and public safety 
vehicles and the like, while being utilized in response to an emergency condition 
endangering health, safety or property; 

B. Work required in response to an emergency condition endangering the public 
welfare; and 

C. A stationary or portable generator operating only during interruptions of electrical 
service from the distribution system or transmission grid due to circumstances 
beyond the operator’s control. 

 



 
 

SECTION 2.  CEQA. This Ordinance is exempt from the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) under CEQA Guidelines section 15301 because CEQA only applies to 
projects which have the potential to have a significant impact on the environment and 
because the installation of an emergency generator will serve an existing  permitted 
commercial or residential use of the property and will not involve an expansion of that use, 
but rather allows for continuance of the permitted use during temporary interruptions of 
electrical power. 

 
SECTION 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective on the 31st day 

after adoption.   
 
SECTION 4.  Severability.  If any portion of this ordinance is found to be 

unenforceable, each such provision shall be severed, and all remaining portions of this 
ordinance shall be enforced to the maximum extent legally permissible. 

 
SECTION 5.  Certification.  The City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption 

of this ordinance as required by law.   
 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this ___th day of ______2020 by the 
following vote: 
 
AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:   
NOES: COUNCILMEMBERS:   
ABSENT: COUNCILMEMBERS:   

 
__________________________ 
Erin Minett, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
_______________________________ 
Crystal Hodgson, City Attorney 



 
1 
 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2020-XX 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY ADDING 
SECTION 17.80.240 TO THE NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE 
REGULATING STATIONARY STANDBY GENERATORS 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City, California ("City") is a municipal corporation, 
duly organized under the constitution and laws of the State of California; and 

 
WHEREAS, the utility PG&E has implemented a Public Safety Power Shutoff (PSPS) 

program whereby all customers in any given area could have their power shut off for multiple 
days; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City has received recent inquiries from residents and 

business owners about the use of generators for homes and commercial businesses; and 
 
WHEREAS, the noise ordinance of the City of Nevada City Municipal Code provides 

for measures to protect the peace and quiet of neighborhoods and community solitude and 
does not anticipate the possibility of PG&E power shutoffs and resulting interest in backup 
generators for homes and businesses; and 

 
WHEREAS, the zoning ordinance of the City of Nevada City Municipal Code provides 

for measures to protect the aesthetics of neighborhoods and the community and does 
adequately address aesthetics of backup generators for homes and businesses; and 

 
WHEREAS, on July 23, 2020, City Council requested that an item be placed on the 

City Council agenda to consider possible adoption of an ordinance providing for an 
administrative process to allow backup generators during emergency electrical power 
interruptions; and  

 
WHEREAS, such generators can be an important safety element during a power 

outage by maintaining power for refrigeration systems and medical equipment; and 
 
WHEREAS, on August 20, 2020, the Planning Commission held a duly-noticed public 

hearing and considered the staff report, recommendations by staff, and public testimony 
concerning the proposed ordinance, and voted 4-0 (with one Planning Commission seat 
vacant) to recommend approval of the Ordinance to the City Council.  

 
NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY DOES 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Section 17.80.240 is hereby added to the Nevada City Municipal Code to 
read as follows: 



 
 

17.80.240 – Stationary Standby Generators—Purpose and definitions.  
A. Purpose. The City of Nevada City finds and declares that stationary standby 

generators can be an important safety feature during an electrical power outage by 
maintaining power for refrigeration systems and medical equipment. If unregulated, 
standby generators can be noise and aesthetic nuisances and can also compromise 
the safety and welfare of the community.    

 
It is the intent of Nevada City to encourage use of stationary standby generators 
during temporary interruptions in electrical power and, additionally, to impose 
standards that will enhance the safety of the community without compromising 
aesthetics or the quite enjoyment of neighborhoods  
 

B. Findings. 
 (1) It is necessary to regulate the aesthetic impacts of stationary standby 

generators, because if stationary standby generators are located in areas without 
locational regulations or screening requirements they may be unsightly and 
therefore, detract from the aesthetic and design requirements of the Nevada City 
Municipal Code requirements thereby leading to a decline in property values within 
the City. 

 (2)  Regulating air quality impacts of stationary standby generators is necessary 
to protect the health and safety of residents and visitors, because without air quality 
limits exhaust from individual or collective stationary standby generators may cause 
respiratory and health problems. 

 (3) Regulating noise levels and hours of operations of stationary standby 
generators is necessary to protect the health and safety of residents and visitors 
because exposure to excessive noise levels, especially for prolonged periods, 
causes hearing damage or loss and other health conditions.   

    
C. Definitions.  
(1) “Stationary standby generator” means a non-portable, hardwired generator intended 

for permanent installation.   
 
 
17.80.241 – Stationary Standby Generators—General.  
 
(A) A stationary standby generator may operate only during interruptions of electrical 

service from the distribution system or transmission grid due to circumstances 
beyond the operator’s control.  

(B) Prior to installation of a stationary standby generator, the property owner shall obtain 
one of the following permits: 
(1) A Minor Architectural Review approval for all stationary standby generators 

10,000 watts are less, from the City Planning Department;  
(2) .An Architectural Review application for all stationary standby generators 

between  10,000 watts and 20,000 watts; and 



 
 

(3) A Conditional Use Permit for all stationary standby generators over 20,000 
watts; 

 
 Applications for Architectural Review and Minor Architectural Review must meet the 

criteria set forth in Section 17.80.242.  
 
17.80.242 – Stationary Standby Generators—Application for Stationary Standby Generator 
permit.  
 
A.   An Architectural Review approval may be issued only for proposals that meet and 

continue to conform with all requirements below and as specified in the City of 
Nevada City Municipal Code.  
(1) Stationary standby generators that have a power output of 20,000 watts 

or less may be located in all zones within the City except for Open Space 
(OS). Any Generator with a power output in excess of 20,000 watts shall 
be reviewed through a Conditional Use Permit. 

(2) Air Quality: An Authority to Construct/Permit to Operate issued by the 
Northern Sierra Air Quality Management District (NSAQMD) is required for 
any diesel-fired generator engine greater than 50 horsepower before such 
generator is placed into operation. Such permits shall be good for one year 
and renewed on an annual basis.  

(3) Noise Standards:  
a. Applicant shall demonstrate that the generator complies with noise standards 

outlined in Chapter 8.20 of the City Municipal Code. 
b.   Test cycles shall only run during day time hours of 7AM to 9PM. 

(4) Aesthetics:  
a. All stationary standby generators shall be located outside of the front yard 

setback or outside a corner street-side yard if possible, otherwise they must 
be adequately screened by fencing, landscaping or other method as 
demonstrated on the site plan.  

b. All stationary standby generators proposed within the Historic District shall be 
located in such a manner so as not to be visible from public views. 

(5) Location: Stationary standby generators shall not be allowed within a 
property easement unless the easement expressly permits the generator. 

(6) Safety: Stationary standby generators shall be equipped with a disconnect 
pursuant to Section 15.08.045, Auxiliary Power Generator, of the City 
Municipal Code. 

(7) Following the City’s Architectural Review approval, the applicant shall obtain 
an electrical/plumbing permit from the Nevada County Building Department, 
acting on behalf of the City. 

 
B.   An architectural review application shall be submitted by the owner of the parcel 

and shall be filed with the city planner on the city-approved application form and 
subject to the established fee and the following additional checklist: 

 



 
 

(1) A digital copy of the site plan or three (3) copies if hard copies are submitted;  
(2) The brand, model, KW-output stationary standby generator to be installed; 
(3) The brand, model, and specifications of the transfer switch to be utilized; 
(4) Location of stationary standby generator, transfer switch, raceways, and fuel 

gas piping to/from unit, mounting surface of stationary standby generator; 
(5) Size dimensions of the stationary standby generator; 
(6) Type of fuel supply for the stationary standby generator; and 
(8) Signed “Stationary Standby Generator Declaration.” 

 
SECTION 2.  CEQA. This Ordinance is exempt from the California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA) under CEQA Guidelines section 15301 because CEQA only applies to 
projects which have the potential to have a significant impact on the environment and 
because the installation of an emergency standby generator will serve an existing  permitted 
commercial or residential use of the property and will not involve an expansion of that use, 
but rather allows for continuance of the permitted use during temporary interruptions of 
electrical power. 

 
SECTION 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective on the 31st day 

after adoption.   
 
SECTION 4.  Severability.  If any portion of this ordinance is found to be 

unenforceable, each such provision shall be severed, and all remaining portions of this 
ordinance shall be enforced to the maximum extent legally permissible. 

 
SECTION 5.  Certification.  The City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption 

of this ordinance as required by law.   
 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this ___th day of ______2020 by the 
following vote: 
 
AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:   
NOES: COUNCILMEMBERS:   
ABSENT: COUNCILMEMBERS:   

 
____________________________ 
Erin Minett, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
_______________________________ 
Crystal Hodgson, City Attorney 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
September 23, 2020       www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

 
TITLE:   A Resolution of the City of Nevada City Awarding a Professional Services 
Contract Amendment to 4LEAF, Inc. for Building Inspection and Plan Review Services  

 
RECOMMENDATION:  Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City of Nevada City 
awarding a professional services contract amendment to 4Leaf, Inc. for building inspection and 
plan review services for the City of Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign. 

 
CONTACT:  Bryan McAlister, City Engineer 

 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:   
In accordance with City of Nevada City Ordinance 15.04 Building Standards, the Building Official 
is defined as the “building official for Nevada County under contract to furnish such services to 
Nevada City, or such other entity as the City Council of Nevada City may designate”.   City staff 
issued a request for proposal (RFP) for "Building Inspection and Plan Review Services on an 
As-Needed Basis" on April 12, 2018.   4Leaf, Inc. was selected as a qualified consultant to 
provide Building Inspection and Plan Review Services based on the evaluation criteria set forth 
in the RFP.   To-date 4Leaf Inc. has provided Building Official Services including plan check and 
inspection for two building renovations in the downtown historic district.    
 
City Council formally awarded the initial contract to 4Leaf Inc. in 2018.    This proposed contract 
amendment increases the budgeted fee amounts for continued services required to complete 
the National Hotel project. 

 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  No direct fiscal impact to the City as the applicant for Building 
Permit is required to pay the cost of permit processing. 

 
ATTACHMENT: 
 Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City of Nevada City Awarding a Professional 

Services Contract Amendment to 4leaf, Inc. for Building Inspection and Plan Review 
Services 

 Contract Amendment for Professional Consulting Services for Building Inspection and 
Plan Review Services 

 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 
  

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY AWARDING A 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACT AMMENDMENT TO 4LEAF, INC. 

FOR BUILDING INSPECTION AND PLAN REVIEW SERVICES 
 

WHEREAS, Pursuant to the goal of providing quality public services while 
preserving our small town character and historic architecture, City staff solicited 
competitive proposals from qualified firms to provide building inspection and plan 
check services for the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, On May 9th, 2018, City Council designated approved firms to provide 
Building Inspection and Plan Review Services on an as-needed basis for the City 
based on the evaluation criteria set forth in the request for proposal, which include 
1) Willdan, 2) 4Leaf, Inc. and 3) Interwest Consulting Group; and 
 
WHEREAS, after careful review of the consultant’s resources and availability to 
provide such services, City staff recommends 4Leaf Inc. as being the appropriate 
consultant to provide Building Inspection and Plan Review Services on an as-
needed basis for immediate projects in accord with Council authorization; and 
 
WHEREAS, City Council awarded a contract for Building Inspection and Plan 
Review Services to 4Leaf, Inc. on July 25, 2018. 
 

BE IT RESOLVED the City Council of the City of Nevada City awards a 
Professional Consulting Services Contract Amendment for a fixed price, not to 
exceed amount of $40,000.00 for Building Inspection and Plan Review Services 
based on hourly labor, and other rates set forth in consultant’s cost proposal, to 
4Leaf, Inc. in the form attached hereto as “Exhibit A,” and incorporated herein by 
this reference, and authorize the Mayor to sign. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the City Council of the City 
of Nevada City on the 23rd day of September 2020, by the following vote:  

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:  
      ________________________________ 
      Erin Minett, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



Subject:  Amendment No. 1 to the Professional Services Contract for Building Inspection
and Plan Review Services dated July 25, 2018.

AMMENDMENT 1:   BUILDING INSPECTION AND PLAN REVIEW SERVICES

This is an amendment to the July 25, 2018 Professional Services Contract / Agreement
between the City of Nevada City and 4Leaf Inc. for Building Inspection and Plan Review
Services.

Contract Amendment Description:   Contract Increase of $40,000 to provide continued Building
Inspection and Plan Review Services

Contract History Contract Price

Original Contract 7/25/18 $50,000.00

This Amendment 1 $40,000.00

Total Amended Contract Price $90,000.00

Replaced the entirety of Section 5 Fees in the Professional Service Contract.

1. FEES: Payment for the services provided under this Agreement shall be based on a unit price
basis at rates set forth in Exhibit "C" for a Fixed Price, Not to Exceed Amount of $90,000.00.
The City agrees to pay and the Consultant agrees to accept, in full payment for the work above
agreed to be done, the payment of unit price for all work described herein subject to additions
and deductions as provided in this contract.

DATED:  September 23, 2020

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereunto have executed this Contract Amendment on
the date above,

APPROVED BY:
CITY OF NEVADA CITY:

_____________________________
Mayor 

______________________
Deputy City Clerk

4LEAF INC.

(Signature) 

(Printed Name and Title) 

(Federal Tax I.D. #)

bmcalister
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT A





ver 4‐13‐18 

D. Provide general bid and contract forms and special provisions format when needed.

5. FEES: Payment for the services provided under this Agreement shall be based on a unit price basis at rates
set forth in Exhibit "C" for a Fixed Price, Not to Exceed Amount of $50,000.00.     The City agrees to pay and
the Consultant agrees to accept, in full payment for the work above agreed to be done, the payment of unit
price for all work described herein subject to additions and deductions as provided in this contract.

6. PAYMENT:
Payment for services  under  this Contract shall be due  each  month  within  thirty  (30) calendar days  after
receipt by City of an invoice covering the service(s) rendered to date.

With respect to any additional services  provided under this  Contract as specified in paragraph 2 hereof,
Consultant  shall  not  be  paid  unless   Consultant has  received written   authorization from  City  for  the
additional services  prior  to  incurring  the  costs  associated therewith.

7. CONTRACT PERFORMANCE TIME: If this bid is accepted, the bidder agrees to execute the Agreement,
and furnish to the City all required evidences of insurance, within ten (10) days after receiving written notice of
the award of contract, and complete the project services within the timeframes as described in Exhibit ‘A’
Scope of Work, after receiving written notice to proceed.

8. INSURANCE:  Consultant shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract insurance against
claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the
performance of the work hereunder by the Consultant, its agents, representatives, or employees.

MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMIT OF INSURANCE
Coverage shall be at least as broad as:
1. Commercial General Liability (CGL): Insurance Services Office Form CG 00 01 covering CGL on an
“occurrence” basis, including products and completed operations, property damage, bodily injury and
personal & advertising injury with limits no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence. If a general aggregate limit
applies, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to this project/location (ISO CG 25 03 or 25
04) or the general aggregate limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit.
2. Automobile Liability: Insurance Services Office Form Number CA 0001 covering, Code 1 (any auto), or
if Consultant has no owned autos, Code 8 (hired) and 9 (non-owned), with limit no less than $1,000,000 per
accident for bodily injury and property damage.
3. Workers’ Compensation insurance as required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, and
Employer’s Liability Insurance with limit of no less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury or disease.
(Not required if consultant provides written verification it has no employees)
4. Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions) Insurance appropriates to the Consultant’s profession, with
limit no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence or claim, $1,000,000 aggregate.
If the Consultant maintains broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums shown above, the
Entity requires and shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or higher limits maintained by the
Consultant. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and
coverage shall be available to the Entity.

Other Insurance Provisions  
The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions:  
Additional Insured Status  
The Entity, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers are to be covered as additional insureds 
on the CGL policy with respect to liability arising out of work or operations performed by or on behalf of the 
Consultant including materials, parts, or equipment furnished in connection with such work or operations. 
General liability coverage can be provided in the form of an endorsement to the Consultant’s insurance (at 
least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85 or both CG 20 10, CG 20 26, CG 20 33, or CG 20 38; and CG 
20 37 forms if later revisions used).  

Primary Coverage  
For any claims related to this contract, the Consultant’s insurance coverage shall be primary insurance 
primary coverage at least as broad as ISO CG 20 01 04 13 as respects the Entity, its officers, officials, 
employees, and volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the Entity, its officers, officials, 
employees, or volunteers shall be excess of the Consultant’s insurance and shall not contribute with it.  



ver 4‐13‐18 

Notice of Cancellation  
Each insurance policy required above shall state that coverage shall not be canceled, except with notice 
to the Entity.  

Waiver of Subrogation  
Consultant hereby grants to Entity a waiver of any right to subrogation which any insurer of said Consultant 
may acquire against the Entity by virtue of the payment of any loss under such insurance. Consultant agrees 
to obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation, but this provision 
applies regardless of whether or not the Entity has received a waiver of subrogation endorsement from the 
insurer.  

Self-Insured Retentions  
Self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by the Entity. The Entity may require the Consultant 
to provide proof of ability to pay losses and related investigations, claim administration, and defense 
expenses within the retention. The policy language shall provide, or be endorsed to provide, that the self-
insured retention may be satisfied by either the named insured or Entity.  

Acceptability of Insurers  
Insurance is to be placed with insurers authorized to conduct business in the state with a current A.M. Best’s 
rating of no less than A:VII, unless otherwise acceptable to the Entity.  

Claims Made Policies (for Professional Liability Converage) 
If any of the required policies provide coverage on a claims-made basis:  
1. The Retroactive Date must be shown and must be before the date of the contract or the beginning of
contract work.
2. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least five (5) years
after completion of the contract of work.
3. If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made policy form with
a Retroactive Date prior to the contract effective date, the Consultant must purchase “extended reporting”
coverage for a minimum of five (5) years after completion of contract work.

 Verification of Coverage  
Consultant shall furnish the Entity with original Certificates of Insurance including all required amendatory 
endorsements (or copies of the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by this clause) and a 
copy of the Declarations and Endorsement Page of the CGL policy listing all policy endorsements to Entity 
before work begins. However, failure to obtain the required documents prior to the work beginning shall not 
waive the Consultant’s obligation to provide them. The Entity reserves the right to require complete, certified 
copies of all required insurance policies, including endorsements required by these specifications, at any time.  

Subcontractors 
Consultant shall require and verify that all subcontractors(or Subconsultants) maintain insurance meeting all 
the requirements stated herein, and Contractor shall ensure that Entity is an additional insured on insurance 
required from subcontractors.  

Special Risks or Circumstances  
Entity reserves the right to modify these requirements, including limits, based on the nature of the risk, prior 
experience, insurer, coverage, or other special circumstances. 

9. WORKER'S COMPENSATION:   The  Consultant acknowledges that  it is aware  of the provisions
of the Labor  Code  of  the  State  of  California which  requires every  employer  to  be  insured
against  liability  for worker's  compensation or to undertake  self-insurance in accordance with the
provisions of that Code and it certifies that  it will comply  with such provisions before  commencing
the  performance of the  work  of this Contract.    A copy of the certificates evidencing such insurance
shall be provided to City prior to commencement of work.

10. PREVAILING WAGE AND APPRENTICES:  Consultant acknowledges awareness of the provisions
of the Code,   in   particular   Labor   Code   Sections    1770  to   1780,   inclusive,   and   Title   8  of
the   California  Administrative Code  Sections 200  et  seq.; and  shall  comply  with  such  provisions



ver 4‐13‐18 

before  commencing services required  by this Contract to be performed  by employees subject  to 
these provisions. 
Pursuant to SB 854, this project is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the 
Department of Industrial Relations (DIR).  The DIR registration number of each subcontractor and 
subconsultant must be identified and failure to identify this number could categorize your proposal as 
non-responsive. The City reports all public works contracts to the DIR within 5 days of the contract award 
date. 

11. NONDISCRIMINATORY  EMPLOYMENT:     In  connection  with   the   execution  of  this
Contract,  the Consultant shall  not  discriminate against  any  employee or  applicant for
employment  because of race,  color, religion, age, sex, national  origin, political affiliation, ancestry,
marital status or disability.  This policy does not require the employment of unqualified persons.

12. SUBCONTRACTING:  Consultant shall not subcontract nor assign  any portion of the work required
by this Contract   without  prior  written  approval of  the  City  except   for  any  subcontract work
identified  herein.  Consultant shall require any such subcontractor to comply with all of the provisions
of this contract except that Consultant may determine the need for subcontractor to carry errors and
omissions insurance.

13. ASSIGNMENT:  The rights, responsibilities and duties under this Contract are personal to the
Consultant and may not be transferred or assigned without the express prior written consent of the
City.

14. LICENSING: The Consultant shall maintain the appropriate licenses throughout the life of this
Contract. 

15. BOOKS OF RECORD AND AUDIT PROVISION: Consultant shall maintain on a current basis
complete books and records relating to this contract.  Such records shall include, but not be limited to,
documents supporting all bids, all income and all expenditures.  The books and record shall be
original entry books with a general ledger itemizing all debits and credits for the work on this contract.
In addition, Consultant shall maintain detailed payroll records including all subsistence, travel and field
expenses, and canceled checks, receipts and invoices for all items.  These documents and records
shall be retained for at least three (3) years from the date of final payment and all other pending
matters are closed for completion of this contract.   Consultant will permit  City to audit all books,
accounts  or records  relating to this contract  or all books, accounts  or records  of any  business
entities  controlled by Consultant who participated in this contract  in any way.  Any audit  may be
conducted on Consultant's premises or, at City's option,  Consultant shall  provide  all books  and
records  within  a maximum of fifteen  (15) days  upon receipt of written  notice from  City.
Consultant shall refund any moneys erroneously charged.  If City ascertains that it has been billed
erroneously by Consultant for an amount equaling 5% or more of the original bid, Consultant shall be
liable for the costs of the audit in addition to any other penalty to be imposed.

16. TIME  OF  COMPLETION:  The  Consultant agrees  to complete  each  phase  of the  work  within
the  time schedules outlined within this Contract (included with Exhibit A Scope of Services).

17. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES:  Time is of the essence in the performance of the services by the Consultant.
In the  event  that  the  Consultant's work  is not  completed in an  acceptable fashion  by  any  of
the  dates established herein, the City may incur damages due to the delay.

18. DISPUTE RESOLUTION: Every effort will be made to resolve, in an equitable manner, any dispute
arising between the City and Consultant concerning the terms of this agreement and subsequent
Task Orders.

19. TITLE:   It  is  understood that  any  and  all  documents, information and  reports  concerning this  project
prepared by and/or  submitted to the Consultant, shall be the property of the City  upon full payment of all



ver 4‐13‐18 

monies due and owing  to the Consultant in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  The Consultant 
may retain reproducible copies of drawings and copies of other documents.  In the event of the termination 
of this Contract, for any reason  whatever, Consultant shall promptly turn over  all information, writing  and 
documents  to  City   without   exception  or  reservation  for  their  intended  use   only.  Consultant is not 
responsible for any use of the documents for anything other than their original intended use. 

20. TERMINATION:

A. If  the  Consultant fails  to  provide  in  any  manner   the  services  required under  this  Contract  or
otherwise fails  to comply  with the terms  of this  Contract  or violates  any  ordinance,  regulation
or other  law  which  applies  to its performance herein, the City  may  terminate this Contract  by
giving five (5) calendar  days written notice to the party involved.

B. The  Consultant  shall   be  excused for  failure  to  perform   services   herein   if  such  services
are prevented by acts of God, strikes, labor  disputes  or other forces over which  the Consultant
has no control.

C. Either  party  hereto  may terminate this Contract  for any  reason  by giving  thirty  (30) calendar
days written  notice  to the  other  parties.    Notice of Termination shall be by written notice to the
other parties and be sent by registered mail.

D. In the event of termination not the fault of the Consultant, the Consultant shall be paid for services
performed to the date of termination in accordance with the terms of this Contract.

21. RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE  PARTIES:  It is expressly understood that in the  performances of the
services   herein,  the  Consultant, and  the  agents  and  employees thereof,  shall  act  in  an  independent
capacity  and as an independent Consultant and not as officers, employees or agents of the City.

22. AMENDMENT: This Contract may be amended or modified only by written agreement of all parties.

23. ASSIGNMENT OF PERSONNEL:  The Consultant shall not substitute any personnel for those specifically
named in Exhibit "B" unless personnel with substantially equal or better qualifications and experience are
provided, acceptable to City, as evidenced in writing.

24. JURISDICTION AND VENUE:  This Contract shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of
California and the parties hereto agree that venue shall be in Nevada County, California.

25. INDEMNIFICATION:
(a  Indemnification for Professional Liability.  Where the law establishes a professional standard of care for
Consultant’s Services, to the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant shall indemnify, protect, defend and
hold harmless City and any and all of its officials, employees and agents (“Indemnified Parties”) from and
against any and all losses, liabilities, damages, costs and expenses, including attorney’s fees and costs to
the extent same are caused in whole or in part by any negligent or wrongful act, error or omission of
Consultant, its officers, agents, employees or sub-consultants (or any entity or individual that Consultant
shall bear the legal liability thereof) in the performance of professional services under this Agreement.

(b) Indemnification for Other than Professional Liability.  Other than in the performance of professional
services and to the full extent permitted by law, Consultant shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold
harmless City, and any and all of its employees, officials and agents from and against any liability (including
liability for claims, suits, actions, arbitration proceedings, administrative proceedings, regulatory
proceedings, losses, expenses or costs of any kind, whether actual, alleged or threatened, including
attorneys fees and costs, court costs, interest, defense costs, and expert witness fees), where the same
arise out of, are a consequence of, or are in any way attributable to, in whole or in part, the performance of
this Agreement by Consultant or by any individual or entity for which Consultant is legally liable, including but
not limited to officers, agents, employees or sub-contractors of Consultant.



ver 4‐13‐18 

The provisions of this section do not apply to claims occurring as a result of City’s sole or active negligence. 
The provisions of this section shall not release City from liability arising from gross negligence or willful acts 
or omissions of City or any and all of its officials, employees and agents.   

26. COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS:   The Consultant shall comply with any and all federal,
state and local Laws affecting the services covered by this Contract.

27. NOTICES:

Notices shall be given to City at the following location:
City of Nevada City
Attention:  Bryan McAlister, City Engineer
Office #: (530) 265-2496x126;  Email: bryan.mcalister@nevadacityca.gov
317 Broad Street
Nevada City, CA  95959

Notices shall be given to Consultant at the following address:
4LEAF, Inc.

Attention Joseph Nicolas, Executive Project Manager

Office #: (916) 965‐0010;  Email: jnicolas@4leafinc.com

8896 North Winding Way

Fair Oaks, CA 95628

28. STANDARD OF PRACTICE: The Consultant warrants that Consultant has the degree of learning and skill
ordinarily possessed by reputable professionals practicing in similar localities in the same profession and
under   similar   circumstances.     Consultant's duty is to exercise such care skill and diligence as
professionals engaged in the same profession ordinarily exercise under like circumstances.

29. FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE STATEMENTS: If  the  scope  of  work  of  this  contract is  of  such  a  nature,
Consultant will follow  the form and requirements of Government Code  Sections  87100, et seq. in filing its
financial disclosure statement.

30. COST DISCLOSURE:  In accordance with Government Code  Section 7550, Consultant agrees  to state in
a separate   section  of  its  filed  report  the  dollar  amount  of this  contract  and  any  related  contracts
and subcontracts relating to the preparation of the report resulting  from this contract.

31. FEDERAL AND STATE CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS FOR CONSULTANT AGREEMENT:  Attached
hereto and made a part of this agreement (for Scope of Services involving State or Federal funding).





ver 4‐13‐18 

Exhibit A 
CONSULTANTS  

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 (excerpts from Proposal dated April 27, 2018) 
 
4LEAF’s plan review services include: 
• Structural Engineers and Mechanical/Electrical/Plumbing Plan Review 
• Fire Review. 
• Civil Review. 
• CASp Review 
• Less than 24‐hour pickup and delivery of all plan reviews performed off site. 
• Electronic plan review services. 
• Expedited plan review services. 
• Hourly plan review. 
• Special negotiated discounted rates for large/complex reviews. 
• Immediate response from 4LEAF’s project manager or management team on all 
questions and requests. 

 

Building Inspection Services 
4LEAF has the largest group of building inspectors in Northern California. We currently 
manage four large contracts with large inspection teams of approximately 10 or more staff. 
Most of these contracts include plan review and inspection with many of the technology 
giants of the East Bay, South Bay, and Peninsula including, Apple, VMware, Work Day, 
and Sybase (SAP). These projects range from the several million to billions of dollars of 
construction valuation in those cities/state agencies. 4LEAF also has a proven track record 
of providing staff as‐needed including staffing for short‐term assignments including one 
day assignments to cover staff training, sick days, vacation days, or spikes in permit 
activity. 

  



  
 
 

 

 

Proposal to Provide Professional Building Inspections and Plan Check Services for City of Nevada City on an As-Needed Basis Page 2 of 7 
Section 3: Scope of Services  April 27, 2018 

Plan Review Services Approach 
4LEAF will provide plan review for any and all types of structures to ensure compliance with all adopted codes, 
local ordinances (including Tier 1 of Cal Green,  if  required) and state and federal  laws that pertain to Building 
and Safety, and for compliance with the adopted International Code Council (ICC) Building, Plumbing, Electrical, 
Mechanical,  National  Fire  Protection  codes  and  standards,  and  the  Accessibility  and  Noise  and  Energy 
Conservation requirements as mandated by  the State of California Title 24, State of California Water Efficient 
Landscape  Ordinance,  the  State  of  California  Certified  Access  Specialist  (CASp)  compliance,  and  all  other 
applicable ordinances.  Types of projects we provide these services for include; Single‐Family Dwellings, Multi‐
Family Dwelling Units, Commercial, and Industrial. 

 

On‐Site Review Work Plan 
4LEAF  can  supply  Registered  Professional  Engineers  to  the  City  of  Nevada  City  to  work  on‐site  performing 
structural plan review and non‐structural reviews at the Jurisdiction’s discretion.   4LEAF currently supplies on‐
site review to such Municipalities as: 
 

City of Roseville  City of Livermore 
City of Sacramento  County of San Joaquin 
Aerojet, Folsom, CA  City of East Palo Alto 
City of Pleasanton  City of Hollister 
Livermore/Pleasanton Fire Dept. (LPFD)  City of Gilroy  
City of Palo Alto  City of San Mateo 
Menlo Park Fire Protection District  County of San Benito 

 

Off‐Site Review Work Plan 
4LEAF  is  able  to  work  effectively  with  design  teams  and  assist  Public  Works,  Planning,  Fire,  and  Building 
Departments in the construction, rehabilitation, and repair of both public and private projects.  Our experience 
includes checking for compliance with the structural,  life‐safety, accessibility, plumbing, mechanical, electrical, 
fire, and local codes/ordinances. 
 

Approach 
We understand that the specific building plan review responsibilities will include, but are not limited to: 

 

 Examining  plans,  drawings,  specifications,  computations  documents,  soils  reports,  and  any  additional 
  data;  

 

 Ascertaining  whether  projects  are  in  accordance  with  applicable  building  and  fire  codes,  and  City 
ordinances, including but not limited to Title 24 and Title 25; 

 

 Performing such reviews as, structural, MEP, green building, fire and life safety, grading and drainage; 

 Reviewing plans to ensure conformity to the required strengths, stresses, strains, loads, and stability as 
  per the applicable laws; 

 

 Reviewing  plans  to  ensure  conformity with  use  and  occupancy  classification,  general  building  heights 
  and areas, types of construction, fire resistance construction and protection systems, means of egress, 
  accessibility, structural design, soils and foundations; and masonry; 

 

 Providing additional plan review services as requested by the City; 
 

 Conducting  all  plan  review  at  the  City  Department  or,  as  needed,  at  a  site mutually  agreed  upon  in 
writing and;  
 

 Supplying all plan review staff with all code books and other basic professional references. 



  
 
 

 

 

Proposal to Provide Professional Building Inspections and Plan Check Services for City of Nevada City on an As-Needed Basis Page 3 of 7 
Section 3: Scope of Services  April 27, 2018 

4LEAF Plan Review QA/QC Process for all Reviews 

Task 1 – Project Tracking Set‐up 

The first step of our process will be to set up the project in our system to enable 4LEAF and the City of Nevada 
City  to  track  the  progress  of  the  review.   Our  plan  tracking  procedures  are  designed  to  track  each  submittal 
throughout the review process and maintain accurate and comprehensive records for each submittal.   
 

Task 2 ‐ Complete Submittal Review 

Upon  receiving  the  plans  from  the  City,  4LEAF will  triage  (preliminary  plan  review  performed  by  4LEAF  plan 
review  project  lead)  the  submittal  to  verify  that  the  submittal  received  is  complete  (i.e.,  all  pertinent  plans, 
calculations,  reports, and other  related documents)  in order  that we can begin our  review.      If  the submitted 
package is incomplete, we will communicate with the City to discuss the deficient documents needed to proceed 
with our review. 

 

Task 3 ‐ Plan Review Assignment 

After the triage process is performed and a complete package is verified, the project will be assigned to the most 
qualified  Plans  Examiner  and  a  turnaround  time  will  be  established.  We  will  log  each  application  into  our 
database the same day the plans are received to assure that they are routed in a timely manner and to allow for 
daily project tracking. 

 

Task 4 ‐ Plan Review 

4LEAF will provide the project contact (Developer, Contractor, Architect, or Engineer) desired by City of Nevada 
City  with  a  list  of  any  items  needing  correction  and  clarification  to  comply  with  applicable  building  codes, 
ordinances, and regulations. A correction list will be created based on the missing codes and ordinances.  

 

Task 5 ‐ Quality Control 

Prior to submitting the plan review correction list to the City, the designated plan review project lead will review 
the correction list for adherence to applicable codes and ordinances as well as for accuracy and completeness.  
After completion of our quality control review a correction list will be e‐mailed to a designated staff member at 
the City of Nevada City or as directed by the City of Nevada City. The correction list and a 4LEAF transmittal form 
will include the following information: a description of the work, type of construction, occupancy group, square 
footage, number of floors, and sprinkler requirements.  

 

Task 6 ‐ Plan Review Rechecks 

Plans received for rechecks will be reviewed for conformance. Our goal is to actively work with the designers to 
resolve all unresolved issues after our second review. If it appears that there are complicated issues that might 
cause  a  project  to  go  beyond  our  second  review, we will  communicate  directly with  the  designer  to  resolve 
these concerns. 

 

Task 7 ‐ Project Approval 

Once the final plan reviews are completed and ready for approval, 4LEAF will organize the plans and supporting 
documents per  the City of Nevada City processing  requirements  and  return  them  to  the City,  along with our 
letter of completion. 

 



  
 
 

 

 

Proposal to Provide Professional Building Inspections and Plan Check Services for City of Nevada City on an As-Needed Basis Page 4 of 7 
Section 3: Scope of Services  April 27, 2018 

Turn‐Around Times 
4LEAF has  a  tremendous  reputation  for  completing projects on‐time and under budget.    4LEAF’s plan  review 
team is widely recognized for quick turn‐around times and prompt service.  We have provided some elaborate 
examples in our Experience and Reference section ‐ please read through our similar experience examples and 
contact our  references  to  learn about our abilities and commitments  to our clients.   Off‐site plan reviews are 
performed at our office, with plans transmitted by personal delivery or overnight service.   The standard turn‐
around time is within 10 business days for residential plan reviews and within 10 days for commercial/industrial 
plan reviews; however,  these timeframes are negotiable based on your needs.   4LEAF also provides Fire Plan 
Review services.   
 

Type of 
Plans 

Transportation  Initial 
Review 

Resubmittal 
Review 

2nd Resubmittal 
Review 

Expedited 
Review 

Expedited 
Resubmittal  

Residential 
<24 Hours (pick 
up & delivery) 

<10 Days  <5 Days  <3 Days  <5 Days  <3 Days 

Commercial 
<24 Hours (pick 
up & delivery) 

<10 Days  <5 Days  <3 Days  <5 Days  <3 Days 

Large 
Commercial 
>15,000 SF. 

<24 Hours (pick 
up & delivery) 

Negotiable  Negotiable  Negotiable   Negotiable   Negotiable  

 
Larger complex plan reviews can be negotiated to achieve the best possible pricing.  4LEAF has a proven track 
record  of  working  with  municipalities  to  provide  expedited  reviews  with  special  discounted  pricing  when 
applicable. 
 

Pick‐up of all plans will be performed by 4LEAF staff within 24 hours of the City’s phone call or e‐mail.   4LEAF 
prefers  to  pick‐up  and  deliver  the  plans  in  person  in  order  to  communicate  any  information  that  may  be 
pertinent to the project and maintain a consistent communication.  4LEAF staff will transport the plans to and 
from the City upon a phone call  to  the 4LEAF office or a  simply e‐mail  for “pick‐up”  to pickup@4leafinc.com.  
Pick‐ups are at no additional cost. 
 

Document Control and Electronic Plan Review 

When plans and documents are received for review, 4LEAF’s Plan Review 
Manager and Document Control Technician analyzes the project, creates 
a job number, and completes a Job Setup Sheet. This form highlights both 
jurisdiction  and  project  specific  design  criteria  and  notes  applicable 
contact  information.  Jobs  are  transmitted  through  4LEAF’s  easily 
accessed  EZPlan  Review  portal  which  tracks  initial  and  subsequent 
reviews  and  is  open  for  view  by  the  customer.  The  City  and  their 
customers  can  view  4LEAF’s  plan  control  log  through  EZPlan  Review 
Portal.  
 
Plans  then  get  distributed  for  review  to  a  4LEAF  team  consisting  of  a  Plan  Review  Engineer  or  Architect  (a 
licensed state professional) and/or an ICC Certified Plans Examiner, as applicable.  Our staff then performs his or 
her  function  of  analyzing  the  plans  and  documentation  for  effective  conformance  to  the  California  Codes, 
referenced construction standards, and City amendments. Code review methodology entails “The Effective Use 
of  the  CBC”  reinforced  through  proprietary  and  jurisdictional  checklists.  When  complete  the  Plan  Review 



  
 
 

 

 

Proposal to Provide Professional Building Inspections and Plan Check Services for City of Nevada City on an As-Needed Basis Page 5 of 7 
Section 3: Scope of Services  April 27, 2018 

Manager overviews  the project  for quality control purposes and  forwards comments or approvals  to  the pre‐
designated contacts. 
 
4LEAF’s EZPlan Review 
 Structural & Non‐Structural Guidelines and Checklists 

 

 Specialized Spreadsheet  
Web‐Based  
(EZPlan Review) 

 
 
Electronic Plan Review  
4LEAF has successfully implemented and used Blue Beam for electronic review of files 
to help eliminate the use of paper and take the plan review workflow to a whole new 
level.  4LEAF’s offices are equipped with large scale monitors for easy review of plans.  
Bluebeam Revu combines powerful PDF editing, markup and collaboration technology 
with reliable file creation. 
 

Additional Technologies 
Having served more than 100 jurisdictions, 4LEAF and our staff are knowledgeable and have experience working 
with a variety of different technologies for Electronic Plan Review, Permit Tracking, and Building Inspections.  
 

4LEAF’s experience with tracking technologies include but are not limited to: 

 CRW  

 Trackit  

 EnerGov  

 Accela  

 
Structural Only Review 
Upon request, 4LEAF will perform “structural only” reviews for the City.  4LEAF can communicate directly with 
the designers via email, in‐person meetings, and through our EZ Plan Review system.  4LEAF prefers PDF files for 
“structural  only”  reviews  which  allow  several  different  Structural  Engineers  to  review  plans  together  should 
there be design related questions.  The majority of 4LEAF’s plan review engineers have a design background and 
work well with project designers. 
 

Certified Access Specialist (CASp)  
4LEAF  has  seven  Certified  Access  Specialists  on  staff.   We  have  performed  CASp  inspection  and  plan  review 
projects and have consulted on numerous construction projects for accessibility questions and advice. 
 

CASp Inspector  Certification No.  Expiration 

Jerry Thome  CASp‐104  09/14/2018 

Mike Anderson, P.E.  CASp‐328  09/22/2019 

Howie Conroy, CBO  CASp‐429  07/31/2018 

David Rashé, CBO  CASp‐213  06/23/2019 

Scott Wungluck  CASp‐560  04/29/2020 

Brent Hipsher, CBO  CASp‐422  04/12/2018 

William Holl, AIA  CASp‐509  12/6/2019 



  
 
 

 

 

Proposal to Provide Professional Building Inspections and Plan Check Services for City of Nevada City on an As-Needed Basis Page 6 of 7 
Section 3: Scope of Services  April 27, 2018 

Inspection Services 
4LEAF  maintains  the  largest  database  of  qualified  inspectors  of  varied  qualifications.  Inspectors  vary  from 
current  full‐time  inspection  staff,  idle  staff  (temporarily  between  assignments),  and  pre‐qualified  staff  which 
include  inspectors who  are  available  subject  to  client  demand.      4LEAF’s  inspectors  are  all  ICC  Certified  and 
experienced working within a municipal work environment.  4LEAF will provide inspectors with all the necessary 
tools,  equipment,  and  current  code  books  sufficient  to  facilitate  all  required  inspections.  4LEAF  can  provide 
interim or full‐time inspectors same‐day or within one business day.  Simply call, email, or text our assigned 
Project Manager Joe Nicolas for an immediate response. 
 

We maintain an on‐call database for as‐needed requests with our clients.  4LEAF utilizes this service for more 
than 75 municipalities.  Below is a snapshot of our database. 

 

Inspection Options 
Periodic Inspection Services    Available Next Day 

  4LEAF can fulfill inspection requests immediately upon request including same day.  4LEAF has a wealth of local 
and available inspectors ready to serve the City of Necada City.  In addition, 4LEAF has a proven track record of 
providing such services to a number of different building departments. 
 

Part‐Time Inspection Services    Available Next Day 
4LEAF will provide the City with part‐time inspectors upon request.  4LEAF can provide part‐time staff within 24 
hours of request for any duration of  time.   4LEAF’s Project Manager will work closely with the department to 
identify the right personnel and determine the appropriate work schedule. 
 

Full‐Time Inspection Services    Available Two Days or Less 
4LEAF  can  provide  full‐time  inspectors  upon  request.    4LEAF  provides  this  service  regularly  to  many  clients 
throughout the Central Coast, Sacramento Valley, Peninsula/South Bay, East Bay, and Central Valley. 
   

  Project Specific Inspection Services    Available Two Days or Less 
4LEAF  is  often  tasked with  providing  inspection  services  to  large  projects  on  behalf  of municipalities.    4LEAF 
currently  handles  large‐scale  projects  for  such  clients  as  the  City  of  Palo  Alto,  City  of  Cupertino,  etc.    These 
projects are developer funded into a separate City account which is distributed to 4LEAF using a separate invoice 
and  contract  number.    This  is  particularly  helpful  to  fast  paced  projects  looking  for  continuous  inspection 
services over a short period of time (i.e. 6 – 36 Months). 



  
 
 

 

 

Proposal to Provide Professional Building Inspections and Plan Check Services for City of Nevada City on an As-Needed Basis Page 7 of 7 
Section 3: Scope of Services  April 27, 2018 

On Call Building Department Staff Services 
4LEAF has a proven track record of providing Permit Technician/Counter staff to jurisdictions.  The 4LEAF pool of 
talented  professionals  includes  qualified  and  experienced  permit  technicians  capable  of  providing  all  permit 
processing and counter services.   4LEAF can deploy such staff on short notice and offer  training programs for 
department staff, if required.   
 

Our  staff  encompasses  the  right  combination  of  experience,  education,  and  certifications.    4LEAF  Permit 
Technician  Staff  must  be  experienced  and  dedicated  to  serving  the  public  at  the  Planning  and  Building 
Department counter.  Typical duties include: 

 Accepting Plans for Plan Check 

 Verification that Plans are accurate and complete 

 Calculate Permit Fees 

 Explain ordinances and procedures to owners, contractors, developers, architects, and general public 

 Assist with preparation of permit applications 

 Receive Plans for Planning and Building permits and route to various agencies (if requested) 

 Accept complaints on code violations, process, and record complaints 

 Answer telephone for field and office staff 

 Process inspection requests 

 Maintain files for building permits 

 Operate Building Department’s computerized information system 

 Input variety of information including building permits and inspections 

 Complete related duties and responsibilities as assigned by Building Official and Senior staff members 
 
4LEAF  has  numerous  of  Permit/Counter  Technicians  on  staff, many whom  are  currently  assigned  to  Building 
Departments throughout the state.   All staff will have the materials, resources, tools, and training required to 
perform the job. 
 
Building Department Services Placement Schedule 
 

Building Department Staff  Interim  Full‐Time 

Permit Technician (ICC Certified) 
Less Than 
2 Days 

Less Than 
5 Days 

Assistant Permit Technician/ Counter Staff 
Less Than 
2 Days 

Less Than 
5 Days 

Building Official 
Less Than 
2 Days 

Less Than 
15 Days 

 

Public Works Inspection Services 
In addition to building inspection, 4LEAF has an experienced staff that provides public works inspection.   Our 
team has supported numerous projects for on‐call construction management and inspection services contracts 
for  clients  such  as  the  Sacramento  Regional  Transit  District,  California  State  Parks,  and  numerous  local 
municipalities.    Our  many  public  works  projects  include  light‐rail  extension  projects,  water/sewer  systems, 
roadways, and bridges.  Our team of qualified public works inspectors is available should the City have needs in 
this area. 



ver 4‐13‐18 

Exhibit B 
ASSIGNMENT OF PERSONNEL 

(excerpts from Proposal dated April 27, 2018) 

 

  



  
 
 

 

 

Proposal to Provide Professional Building Inspections and Plan Check Services for City of Nevada City on an As-Needed Basis Page 1 of 4 
Section 4: Project Team  April 27, 2018 

Section 4: Project Team 

Project Management Team 

As your consultant, we understand that our role is to be an advocate on behalf of the City of Nevada City and 
represent  the  City’s  best  interests.    4LEAF’s  team  will  function  as  an  extension  of  City  staff,  seamlessly 
integrating with the personnel and practices established by the City while adding the perspective and expertise 
that only 4LEAF can offer.  Our goal, which we have successfully accomplished on previous clients’ projects, is to 
have our staff integrate with yours and be accepted as an essential part of the City.   
 

Primary Contact: Lead Project Manager – Joe Nicolas, P.E. 
This contract will be managed by our Project Manager, Joe Nicolas, P.E. Joe is responsible for municipal client 
management including staff recruitment, hiring, and the placing for Building Department clientele for positions 
like permit/counter  staff,  building official, plans examiners,  residential  inspectors,  commercial  inspectors, and 
inspection services for complex commercial developer funded projects. 
 

Joe  is a California registered Civil Engineer with more than 30 years of experience with both structural design 
and code compliance for large‐scale projects. While leading the Plan Review Staff of more than 45 at the City of 
Sacramento, Joe had oversight of large public and private developments. These projects included the $10 million 
renovation  of  Sacramento’s  Historic  City  Hall;  and  high‐rise  buildings  including  the  $650  million,  53‐story, 
Towers Building on Capitola Mall;  and  the $138 million, 39‐story Aura Residential Towers. Having worked  for 
4LEAF for over 9 years, Joe has been the Project Manager for many projects for the Judicial Council of California 
‐ Administrative Office of the Courts, the City of Cupertino ‐ Main Street Cupertino, Stanislaus County ‐ Capital 
Improvement Projects, and several other projects. 
 

All  inspection requests can be made to Joe Nicolas, P.E.    Joe helps collectively manage the entirety of 4LEAF’s 
Building and  Safety  Services Division  that  includes up  to 176 employees,  including more  than 125  inspectors.  
Whether  the  request  ranges  from  full‐time  to  part‐time  assignments,  Joe will  take  the  request,  schedule  the 
personnel,  and  confirm  with  the  City  all  the  pertinent  details  of  the  scheduling  (i.e.  time,  dates,  scope  of 
service). Joe has work with numerous  local clients  including the Town of Truckee, City of South Lake Tahoe, 
City  of  Sacramento, City  of  Folsom, City  of Roseville,  City of Rohnert  Park,  City  of Rancho Cordova,  City  of 
Rocklin, City of Galt, Aerojet, and numerous Cities and Counties throughout the Sacramento Area, Bay Area, 
and the Central Valley. 
 

Joe will discuss with the Building Department the exact personnel that are available at the time of request 
and give  the Building Official  several  options.   Availability will  also depend on  the  length of  assignment.  
4LEAF has several local candidates available immediately – 4LEAF’s Building Department Organization Chart 
is included at the end of this section.  Staffing includes: 

• Project Inspectors 
• Full‐Time and Part‐Time Building Inspectors 
• Code Enforcement, Building Officials, Permit Technicians, etc. 
• Fire Inspectors 
• CASp Inspections/Consulting 

 
Joe Nicolas, P.E. 
Senior Engineer 
(916) 965 – 0010 – Office            (916) 200 – 9959 – Cell            jnicolas@4leafinc.com – Email    

 
 



  
 
 

 

 

Proposal to Provide Professional Building Inspections and Plan Check Services for City of Nevada City on an As-Needed Basis Page 2 of 4 
Section 4: Project Team  April 27, 2018 

 
 
 

Project 
Manage

r 

Plan Review Project Manager – Melissa Dubovik, P.E. 
The plan review portion of this contract will be managed by Melissa Dubovik, P.E.   She will be responsible for 
coordinating  the  distribution  of  reviews  to  our  plan  review  staff  and  managing  the  content  of  the  reviews 
throughout Quality Control Checks.   Melissa manages a  comprehensive  team of  structural  and non‐structural 
plans examiners who work on a variety of residential, commercial, and industrial projects throughout the region 
and  services  such  clients  as  the:  City  of  Sacramento,  City  of  Folsom,  City  of  Roseville,  City  of  Galt,  City  of 
Rocklin,  City  of  Ranch  Cordova,  Aerojet  Rocketdyne,  UC  Davis  Design  &  Construction  Management,  and 
numerous Cities and Counties throughout the Sacramento Area, Bay Area, and the Central Valley. 
 

Melissa is a California registered Civil Engineer with more than eleven years of experience providing plan review 
and  engineering  services  on  numerous  projects.  Melissa’s  responsibilities  include  reviewing  initial  and 
subsequent  submittals  of  structural  and  non‐structural  building  plans  for  conformance  of  residential, 
commercial  and  essential  service  projects  to  the  California  Building  Code  (CBC)  applicable  at  the  time  of 
submittal.  In addition, Melissa composes plan check comment  letters  for projects, and performs  independent 
calculations to verify project calculations.  
 

Melissa’s contact information is:   
Office – (925) 462‐5959  Cell – (916) 479 – 2403  Email ‐ mdubovik@4leafinc.com 
 

Raylee Glasser, Development Services Manager 
Raylee  is an  ICC Certified Residential Building/Fire/Plumbing  Inspector, Plans Examiner, and Permit Technician 
with  ICC.   With more than 15 years of Municipal Building Department experience, Raylee has been promoted 
throughout the ranks of the Building Department from Permit Technician to Permit Center Manager. Raylee is 
responsible  for  training,  mentoring,  and  placing  Permit  Technicians  and  Engineering  Technicians  to 
Building, Fire and Public Works Departments throughout Northern California. Raylee currently manages a 
team of over 15 staff.   
 

Raylee’s contact information is:   
Office – (925) 462‐5959  Cell – (925) 708‐4209  Email ‐ rglasser@4leafinc.com 
 

Organizational Chart 
 

  Raylee Glasser 
Development Services 

Manager 

Joe Nicolas, P.E. 
Executive 

Project Manager 

Melissa Dubovik, P.E. 
Plan Review 

Project Manager 

Plan Review Engineers AIA 
Joseph Nicolas, PE 
Stefanie Hionis, P.E. 
Kathy Buciarelli, P.E. 
Scott Martin, P.E. 
Kevin Sorensen, S.E. 
George Rodriguez, AIA 
Lucian Gunter, AIA 
Melissa Mennucci, S.E. 
David Chung, P.E. 
Steve Haidet, AIA 
Mike Anderson, P.E. 
Youssef Abdou 
Aleck Cheney, P.E. 

Fire Review/Inspection 
Gib Moush, FPE 
Flora Chen, FPE 
Chris Fowler 
John Shoffa 
Vincent Fung 
Mark Gustafson 
Loralyn Davis 
 

Permit Technicians 
Raylee Glasser 
Tracy Evenson 
Rosie Habing  
Julia Connally 

Building Inspectors 
Fred Cullum, CBO 
Ed O’Reilly, CBO 
Scott Wungluck, CBO 
Jose Martinez, CBO 
Mike Leontiades, CBO 
Greg Adams, CBO 
Chris Fowler, CBO 
Jane Alexander, CBO 
Greg Johnsen 
Andrei Oustinov 
Korwyn Peck 
Mike Emery 
Ron Stevens 

Building Inspectors 
Korwyn Peck 
Bill Aiken 
Mike Peschl 
Lucas Chapman 
Rick Watson 
Robert Hambrecht 
Emilio Torres 
Curtis Thibodeau 
Ed Pilling 
Paul Kennedy 
Don Hutsell 
Mike Morris 
Doug Ray 

Inspectors of Record 
Martin Scott, OSHPD, DSA  
Rory Shortreed, OSHPD  
Chris Fowler, OSHPD 
Bill Asbell, OSHPD, DSA 
Brian Clark, OSHPD 
Steve White, OSHPD 
  

 CASp 
David Rashe, CASp 
Brent Hipsher, CASp 
Mike Anderson, CASp 
Scott Wungluck, CASp 
Jerry Thome, CASp 
Howard Conroy, CASp 
  More than 80 additional staff 



  
 
 

 

 

Proposal to Provide Professional Building Inspections and Plan Check Services for City of Nevada City on an As-Needed Basis Page 3 of 4 
Section 4: Project Team  April 27, 2018 

Project Team Qualifications  

4LEAF Plan Review Personnel: 
4LEAF  has  30  plan  check  personnel  that  includes  Registered  Professional  Engineers,  Licensed  Architects, 
Certified  Access  Specialists,  and  ICC  Certified  personnel  dedicated  to  performing  plan  review  services  to  our 
municipal clientele.   Should duplicate names appear  in our competitor’s submittals, we are prepared to show 
payroll records to ensure you that all names listed in this proposal are employees of 4LEAF, Inc.   
 

Plans Examiners  Registrations & Certifications 
Melissa Mennucci, S.E.  Registered Structural Engineer 

Albert Kong, S.E.  Registered Structural Engineer 

Kevin Sorensen, S.E.  Registered Professional Engineer 

Mike Anderson, P.E., CASp  Registered Professional Engineer & CASp 

David Chung, P.E.,   Registered Professional Engineer  

Kathy Bucciarelli, P.E.  Registered Professional Engineer & 2 ICC Certifications 

Ana Akin, P.E.  Registered Professional Engineer & 2 ICC Certifications 

Joseph Nicolas, P.E.  Registered Professional Engineer 

Melissa Dubovik, P.E.  Registered Professional Engineer 

Stefanie Hionis, P.E, LEED  Registered Professional Engineer & LEED Accredited 

Anastasios Hionis, P.E., M.E., E.E.  Registered Professional Engineer, Mechanical and Electrical Disciplines 

Constantine Shuihaibar, P.E., PHD  Registered Professional Engineer 

Aleck Cheney, P.E.  Registered Professional Engineer 

Sareh Deyhimi, P.E.  Registered Professional Engineer & 1 ICC Certification 

Scott Martin, P.E.  Registered Professional Engineer 

Lucian Gunter, AIA  Registered Architect 

Keith Long, AIA  Registered Architect 

Steve Haidet, AIA  Registered Architect 

Youssef Abdou  Degreed Engineer 

Yousef Marmosh, P.E., M.E.  Registered Professional Engineer 

David Rashé, CBO, CASp  Certified Building Official, CASp, 11 ICC Certifications 

Peter Oliver  ICC Certified Plans Examiner 

Joseph Espinoza  ICC Certified Plans Examiner and 8 ICC Certifications 

Madhavi Latha  Degreed Engineer & ICC Certified Plans Examiner  

Fred Cullum, CBO  ICC Certified Plans Examiner and Building Official 

Gene Ferrero  ICC Certified Plans Examiner  

Shilpa Chandrashekar, AIA  Registered Architect 

 
Fire Review: 
4LEAF works  with  three  different  Fire  Protection  Engineers  for  fire  review  projects  such  as  sprinklers,  alarm 
systems, and other fire‐related consulting items.  The Fire Protection Engineers are provided below and resumes 
are available upon request. 
 

Vincent Fung, P.E.   Registered Professional Engineer, Fire Protection Engineer 

Flora Chen, P.E.  Registered Professional Engineer, Fire Protection Engineer 

Gib Moush, P.E.   Registered Professional Engineer, Fire Protection Engineer 

John Shoffa  Certified Fire Officer, Fire Plans Examiner 
 

 



  
 
 

 

 

Proposal to Provide Professional Building Inspections and Plan Check Services for City of Nevada City on an As-Needed Basis Page 4 of 4 
Section 4: Project Team  April 27, 2018 

4LEAF Inspector Database: 

Below is a snap shot of 4LEAF’s on‐call inspection database.  Should duplicate names appear in our competitor’s 
submittals, we  are  prepared  to  show payroll  records  to  ensure  you  that  all  names  listed  in  this  proposal  are 
employees of 4LEAF, Inc. 
 

Inspectors  Certifications 
Christopher Fowler, CBO  Certified Building Official, OSHPD A & 25 ICC Certifications 

Jane Alexander, CBO  Certified Building Official & 21 ICC Certifications 

Rory Shortreed, OSHPD A  OSHPD A & ICC Commercial Building Inspector 

Martin Scott OSHPD A  OSHPD A & DSA 1 Certification 

Brian Clark OSHPD B  OSHPD B & ICC Combination Inspector 

Keith Marshall, DSA 1  DSA 1 Certification 

Mike Leontiades, CBO  Certified Building Official & 9 ICC Certifications 

George Davis  Master Code Professional & 36 ICC Certifications 

Ron Stevens  17 ICC Certifications 

Mike Emery  14 ICC Certifications 

Jose Martinez, CBO  Certified Building Official & 12 ICC Certifications 

Howie Conroy, CBO, CASp  Certified Building Official, CASp & 11 ICC Certifications 

Ed O’Reilly, CBO  Certified Building Official, 10 ICC Certifications 

Jerry Thome, CBO, CASp  Certified Building Official, CASp & 9 ICC Certifications 

Devon Braaten  11 ICC Certifications 

Curtis Thibodeau  9 ICC Certifications 

Lucas Chapman, CBO  Certified Building Official & 11 ICC Certifications 

Chuck Andrews  8 ICC Certifications 

Emilio Torres  8 ICC Certifications 

Dave Rashe  Certified Building Official, CASp & 8 ICC Certifications 

Brent Hipsher, CBO, CASp  Certified Building Official, CASp & 6 ICC Certifications 

Scott Wungluck, CASp  CASp & 6 ICC Certifications 

Chris Pallares  5 ICC Certifications 

Greg Adams, CBO  Certified Building Official, 4 ICC Certifications 

Mike Morris  5 ICC Certifications 

Andrei Oustinov  5 ICC Certifications 

Ed Pilling  3 ICC Certifications 

Doug Ray  Degreed Engineer, 2 ICC Certifications 

  More than 75 additional ICC Certified Inspectors 

Permit Technicians: 

4LEAF  has  a  proven  track  record  of  providing  Permit  Technician/Counter  staff  to  jurisdictions  throughout 
California.    The  4LEAF  pool  of  talented  professionals  includes  qualified  and  experienced  permit  technicians, 
capable of providing all permit processing and counter services.   
 

Rosie Habing  Permit Technician 

Tracy Evenson   ICC Certified Permit Technician 

Nancy Cox  Permit Technician 

Long Thao  Senior Project Technician 

Traci Caton  Senior Project Technician 

Julia Connally  Permit Technician 



ver 4‐13‐18 

Exhibit C 
COST PROPOSAL 

(excerpts from Proposal dated April 27, 2018) 

  



  
 

 

 

Proposal to Provide Professional Building Inspections and Plan Check Services for City of Nevada City on an As-Needed Basis Page 1 of 2 
Section 5: Cost Proposal  April 27, 2018 

Section 5: Cost Proposal 

NATURE OF BUILDING SERVICES COST STRUCTURE 
 
Plan Review & CASp Services 

Complete Plan Review Percentage Cost:  65% 

Partial Plan Review Percentage Cost:  40% 

Plan Review Hourly Cost: $95 Non‐Structural Review 

         $120 Structural Review 

CASp Inspection and/or Review: $155/hour 

Fire Review: $155/hour 

* Fee includes initial review and two (2) rechecks. 

 
 
Staff Augmentation Services 
 

Senior Combination Building Inspector (Building Inspector III) ................. $105/hour 

Commercial Building Inspector (Building Inspector II)  .............................. $95/hour 

Residential Building Inspector (Building Inspector I) .................................. $85/hour 

Training Building Inspector ......................................................................... $65/hour 

Code Enforcement ...................................................................................... $90/hour 

Senior Permit Technician ............................................................................ $75/hour 

Permit Technician ....................................................................................... $65/hour 

On‐Site Plan Review Engineer .................................................................... $135/hour 

On‐Site Non‐Structural Plans Examiner ...................................................... $110/hour 

Fire Review (Fire Protection Engineer) ....................................................... $155/hour 

Inspector of Record (including DSA or OSHPD) .......................................... $135/hour 

Public Works Inspector ............................................................................... $147/hour 

Interim Chief Building Official ..................................................................... $130/hour 

CASp Inspection .......................................................................................... $155/hour 

Project Inspector / Inspector of Record ..................................................... $125/hour* 

Off‐Site Project Manager ............................................................................ $165/hour 

Principal‐in‐Charge ..................................................................................... $185/hour 

Hourly overtime charge per inspector ....................................................... 1.5 x hourly rate  

Mileage (for inspections performed within the City) ................................. IRS Rate + 20% 

 
*Rates will be communicated with  the County Management at  time of  request.   Rates will  vary based on the   
  qualifications and experience of the personnel. 
 
Larger complex plan reviews can be negotiated to achieve the best possible pricing.  4LEAF has a proven track 
record  of  working  with  municipalities  to  provide  expedited  reviews  with  special  discounted  pricing  when 
applicable. 
 

 



  
 

 

 

Proposal to Provide Professional Building Inspections and Plan Check Services for City of Nevada City on an As-Needed Basis Page 2 of 2 
Section 5: Cost Proposal  April 27, 2018 

  

BASIS OF CHARGES 
 
Rates are inclusive of “tools of the trade” such as forms, telephones, and consumables. 

 All invoicing will be submitted monthly. 

 Staff Augmentation work (excluding plan review) is subject to 4‐hour minimum charges unless stated 

otherwise.  Services billed in 4‐hour increments.   

 Most plan reviews will be done in 10 business days or less and 5 business days or less for re‐checks.  This 

is not inclusive of holidays or the day of the pick‐up of plans. 

 Expedited reviews will be billed at 1.5x the hourly rates listed in Section 5, Cost Proposal.  

 All hourly plan review services will be subject to 2‐hour minimum fee. 

 4LEAF assumes that these rates reflect the 2018‐2019 contract period.  3% escalation for 2020 and 2021 

is negotiable per market conditions. 

 Overtime and Premium time will be charged as follows: 

- Regular time (work begun after 5AM or before 4PM)    1 x hourly rate   

- Night Time (work begun after 4PM or before 5AM)    1.125 x hourly rate 

- Overtime (over 8 hours M‐F or Saturdays)      1.5 x hourly rate 

- Overtime (over 8 hours Sat or 1st 8 hours Sun)      2 x hourly rate 

- Overtime (over 8 hours Sun or Holidays)       3 x hourly rate 

 Overtime will only be billed with prior authorization of the Chief Building Official, Public Works Director, 

or other responsible designated Town personnel. 

 All work with less than 8 hours rest between shifts will be charged the appropriate overtime rate. 

 Mileage, driven during the course of Inspections will be charged at cost plus 20%. 

 Payment due on receipt.  All payments over 30 days will be assessed a 1.5% interest charge. 

 Client shall pay attorneys’ fees, or other costs incurred in collecting delinquent amounts. 

 Client agrees that 4LEAF’s liability will be limited to the value of services provided. 

 

 



ver 4‐13‐18 

Project Specific Fee Estimates ~ Building Inspection and Plancheck Services 

Note:   Hourly Rates shall include all cost components including labor cost, fringe benefit 
rates, indirect costs (overhead and general/administrative) fee/profit, and subconsultant costs. 
Do not include mark-ups, contingencies or optional services or tasks.   

Prior to City authorization to proceed with professional services, the Consultant shall 
provide a Project Specific Fee Estimate which shall include estimated hours and costs 
itemized by items of work for each type of service to be provided with a total for each 
item.   This agreement shall be used on a project specific basis when authorized by the 
City, not for all Building Official work within the City.

Invoice shall include actual hours and costs itemized by items of work performed with a 
total for each item. The City will only be billed for authorized work that 4Leaf does on 
projects for which the City designates 4Leaf to be the Building Official on, perform 
plancheck service on or inspection services on.   The City expects the permit applicant to 
pay for all Building Official services 4Leaf renders on any project assigned to them.  The 
City will be forwarding invoices to the permit applicant for payment and will pay the 
Consultant within 30 days under the terms outlined in this agreement.   The City will 
notify 4Leaf to suspend work if timely payment is not made by the applicant.



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
September 23, 2020        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Award of Contract for Church Street Water Service Replacement 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City 
of Nevada City to award a contract to PSCE in the amount of $21,774 plus $3,000 in 
contingencies for Church Street Water Service Replacement in Nevada City and authorize the 
Mayor to sign. 
 
CONTACT:  Bryan K. McAlister, City Engineer 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  
The City Engineer and Public Works staff identified Water Improvements on Church Street 
which are necessary for distribution of water service to City residents.  The project consists of 
new water pipe and water services for replacement of aging infrastructure, as further shown 
and described in the contract. 

 
City staff solicited bids for Church Street Water Service Replacement from local contractors.  
Qualified bids received are as follows: 
 

• Freschi Construction, Grass Valley CA    $  28,650   

• PSCE, Brownsville CA      $  21,774 

• C&D Construction, Grass Valley CA    $  27,250 

• Hardcore Construction, Rough & Ready, CA   $  29,550   
 

PSCE was selected as the lowest responsive and responsible bidder.    
 
FISCAL CONSIDERATIONS:  The project will be funded as authorized in the fiscal year 
2018/2019 water fund appropriations for water distribution and by Measure “S” for pavement 
rehabilitation. 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City of Nevada City to Award a Contract to 

PSCE for the Church Street Water Service Replacement and Authorize the Mayor to 
Sign 

 Contract for Church Street Water Service Replacement in Nevada City 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY TO 
AWARD A CONTRACT TO PSCE FOR CHURCH STREET WATER SERVICE 

REPLACEMENT IN NEVADA CITY AND AUTHORIZE MAYOR TO SIGN  
 
WHEREAS, The City of Nevada City provides water service to residents and customers 
within City limits and adjacent properties not within NID’s District boundary; and 

WHEREAS, The City of Nevada City provides maintenance of the water distribution 
system which includes replacement and repair of aging infrastructure; and 

WHEREAS, City has caused to be prepared certain plans, specifications and other 
contract documents pertaining to the Church Street Water Service Replacement; and 

WHEREAS, consistent with Municipal Code requirements, City staff advertised and 
received bids for Church Street Water Service Replacement in Nevada City.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Nevada City 
to award the contract to PSCE in the amount of $21,774 plus $3,000 contingencies, in 
the form attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein by this reference, for 
Church Street Water Service Replacement in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to 
sign.  

PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the City Council of the City of 
Nevada City on the 23rd day of September, 2020, by the following vote:  

 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:   

 
      ________________________________ 
      Erin Minett, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



 

Church Street 

Water Service Replacement 

 

 

City of Nevada City, 95959 
Nevada County, California 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

______________________________                         ______________________________ 

Bryan K. McAlister       William J. Falconi 
PE C58570        PE 25842 
PLS 9199         PLS 4911 
 
 
 



NOTICE TO CONTRACTOR'S 

Church Street Water Service Replacement 

Sealed proposals for Church Street Water Service Replacement will be received by the City at City Hall, 317 Broad 
Street, Nevada City, California, 95959, until 3:00 PM on Thursday September 17th, 2020, at which time, or as soon 
thereafter as practicable, all such proposals will be publicly opened and read at City Hall, 317 Broad Street, Nevada 
City, California.   
 
No Pre-Bid Meeting is scheduled for this project.    Please contact City Staff if you would like to meet at the project 
site.   Questions or requests for clarification shall be submitted in writing to bryan.mcalister@nevadacityca.gov.   
 
Bids shall be enclosed and sealed in an envelope addressed to the City of Nevada City at the above stated address 
and shall be marked "Church Street Water Service Replacement".  NO BID BONDS ARE REQUIRED.  The 
work includes the furnishing of all labor, materials, and equipment required for the job in accordance with the 
plans, specifications and other contract documents as set forth by the City Engineer. Such bid documents will be on 
file with the City staff and are available for inspection during office hours. Bid documents may be obtained at the 
office of said City Hall at 317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California on or after 

. 
************************************************************************* 

 

The City reserves the right to reject all bids; or to accept any portion of bid schedule; to reject any bid which is 
incomplete or irregular; to determine which proposal is, in its judgment, the lowest responsible bid of a responsible 
bidder and to waive any informality or minor irregularity of any bid. 

 

DATED: September 1, 2020   CITY OF NEVADA CITY 

 

            
      ______________________________ 

       Bryan McAlister 

       City Engineer 

 
 
 

  



PROPOSAL/CONTRACT 

 
Church Street Water Service Replacement  

Nevada City, CA 
 
TO:  City of Nevada City, City Hall, Nevada City, California. 
 

 The undersigned, as a bidder, submits the following proposal for the Church Street Water Service 
Replacement improvements in the City of Nevada City, California, and offers to perform all work and furnish all 
labor, materials, tools, equipment, power and water as required for the completion of said project, in accordance 
with the plans, specifications and all other contract documents. The bidder has inspected the project site and has 

examined all conditions affecting the proposed work.   The bidder is licensed with Contractors State License Board 
and is registered as a public works contractor with the Department of Industrial Relations as required to bid on this 

contract. 
 
 If this bid is accepted, the bidder agrees to execute the Agreement, and furnish to the City all documents and 
evidences of insurance, within ten (10) days after receiving written notice of the award of contract, and complete the 
project within twenty (20) working days  after receiving written notice to proceed.  No bid bond is required for 
this project. 
 
Attached to this bid and made a part hereof is a list of proposed subcontractors, setting forth all information required 
by Section 4104 of the Government Code. 
 
 
  
 
 The undersigned is (state whether individual, partnership or corporation)    . 
 
DATED:                
 
FIRM NAME:  BY:  
        Signature of Authorized Person 
ADDRESS:           

                                   Contact Person:  

PHONE:    

CELL PHONE: _______________________   

CONTRACTOR'S #:  

EXPIRATION:      

NEVADA CITY BUSINESS LICENSE #: 

____________  EXPIRATION: __________ 

  



 
BID SCHEDULE 

 
CITY OF NEVADA CITY 

CHURCH STREET WATER SERVICE REPLACEMENT 
 
No.   Quantity  Unit     Item Description                     Unit Price Total Price 
 
1.)           100   LF  2” PE Waterline  $________      $__________ 

 
2.)             90   LF  1-1/2” PE Water Service  $________      $__________ 

 
3.)  1    EA 2” Valve Assembly $________  $__________ 
 
4.)   10    TN Asphalt Trench Resurfacing $________  $__________ 
 
5.)            150        SF         Concrete Trench Resurfacing     $________      $__________ 

 
 
 
TOTAL:                               $__________ 
 
 
Note 

1. Project shall be prevailing wages. 
2. Unit price for pipe (water, sewer, storm drain) shall include all trench plates, shoring, abandonments or 

removal of existing pipe, potholing, sawcutting, fittings, staging/ bypass facilities, connections, 
excavation, bedding, backfill and testing.    

3. Unit price for water service shall include all labor and materials to connect to existing house service.  
Water Meter to be supplied by the City.   All other materials and meter boxes to be provided by the 
contractor. 

4. Unit price for Hydrant Assembly shall include all materials shown on hydrant detail and shall include 
costs for providing and installing bollards. 

5. Unit price for trench resurfacing shall include T-grind and asphalt paving, surface preparation and 
compaction of agg. base. 

  
 
 

  



LIST OF SUBCONTRACTORS 
 

 
 NAME 
 

 PLACE OF BUSINESS  PORTION OF WORK 

 
 1. 

  

 
 2. 

  

 
 3. 

  

 
 4. 

  

 
 5. 

  

 
 6. 

  

 
 7. 

  

 
 8. 

  

 
 9. 

  

 
10. 

  



AGREEMENT 
 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT is made this _______________ day of ______________________, between the CITY 
OF NEVADA CITY, a municipal corporation, hereinafter called "City," and 
___________________________________________, hereinafter called "Contractor." 
 WHEREAS, City has caused to be prepared certain plans, specifications and other contract documents 
pertaining to the CHURCH STREET WATER SERVICE REPLACEMENT in said City: and 
 WHEREAS, after notice duly given, City has awarded the contract for such work to Contractor; 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED by and between said parties as follows: 
 
 1. Scope of Work.  The contractor agrees to furnish all labor, materials, tools and equipment, required to 
complete the improvements in Nevada City, California, in accordance with the plans, specifications and other contract 
representation made in mandatory meetings.  All such work shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner 
and to the satisfaction of the designer of said project. 
 
 2. Contract Price.  As consideration for all such work, City agrees to pay to Contractor the total sum of 
_____________________________________________ ($________________) Dollars, payable in the manner 
hereinafter set forth. 
 
 3. Contract Documents.  The complete contract between the parties hereto consists of the Notice to 
Contractors, the Information to Bidders, the Bid Proposal, the General Conditions, the Plans and Specifications, and 
all other drawings and printed or written explanatory matter pertaining thereto. All of the foregoing documents are 
intended to cooperate, so that any work or requirement specified in any of them is to be carried out or observed the 
same as if mentioned in all. 
 
 4. Time for Performance.  Within five (5) days after the execution of this Agreement, City shall give 
Contractor written Notice to Proceed, and thereafter Contractor shall commence the work and shall prosecute the 
same with due diligence until completion and acceptance by City; provided, however, that all such work shall be 
completed and ready for use within twenty (20) working days after Contractor receives said Notice to Proceed. 
 
 5. Extension of Time.  If, because of adverse weather conditions, strikes, inability of the Contractor (through 
no fault on his/her part) to obtain necessary materials, or other cause beyond the reasonable control of Contractor, 
Contractor is unable to complete the required work within the allowed time, he shall be entitled to an extension or 
extensions of such time, commensurate with the unavoidable delay thus caused; provided, however that Contractor 
shall apply to City for approval of any such extension prior to the expiration of the time for performance as specified 
in the preceding paragraph. 
 
  6. Contractor's Failure to Complete Work.  If Contractor fails to prosecute the work with such diligence as 
will insure its completion within the time hereinabove specified, or any extension thereof, or fails to complete such 
work within such time, or if Contractor shall otherwise violate this Agreement, City may give written notice to 
Contractor and his sureties of City's intention to terminate this Agreement unless, within five (5) days after services 
of such notice, satisfactory arrangements are made with the City for the completion of such work or the curing of 
such breach; and if such arrangements are not made within such time, City may, at its option, terminate this 
Agreement by giving written notice of such termination to Contractor and his sureties. 
 
 7. Payments to Contractor.  On or before the tenth day of each month during the progress of the work, 
Contractor shall submit to the City Engineer an itemized statement of all labor and materials incorporated into the 
improvement during the preceding month and the portion of the contract price applicable thereto.    City shall pay to 
Contractor a sum equal to ninety (90%) percent of the contract price apportionment for approved progress payments. 
The remaining ten (10%) percent shall be paid to Contractor thirty-five (35) days after final acceptance of the work 
by City. 



 
 
 
 8. Indemnification.  Contractor agrees to hold City, and its officers, agents, and employees harmless from any 
and all liability and claims for damages for death and personal injury, and for property damage, incident to or arising 
out of the operations of Contractor or any subcontractor under this Agreement, and Contractor further agrees to 
defend City, and its officers, agents, and employees in any and all lawsuits which may be brought for such damages 
caused, or alleged to have been caused, by such operations.  In addition, Contractor agrees to furnish to the City 
evidences of insurance coverage.  The approval of such insurance by City shall not constitute a waiver or limitation 
of any rights under this indemnity agreement, regardless of whether such insurance shall be held to be inapplicable 
to any such damage or claims therefore. 
 
 
 Executed in duplicate this                     day of                         ,                . 
 
 
ATTEST: CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
    
 
 
                                         By:          
   (Mayor) 
 
   By:               
   (Contractor) 
 
 
   By:          
    (Authorized Officer) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
 

1. Inspection of Construction 
 

The Engineer shall have access to the work and the site of the work at all times and the Contractor shall 
afford such access to the Engineer and shall furnish all relevant information requested by him.  At the request of 
the Engineer the Contractor shall open for inspection any part of the work which has been covered up, and if 
any part of the work has been covered up in contravention of the instructions of the Engineer, or if on being 
opened up, is found not to be in accordance with the terms of the contract, the expense of opening and 
recovering shall be charged to the Contractor.  If the work has been covered up but not in contravention of such 
instructions and is found to be in accordance with the terms of the contract, the actual cost of opening and 
recovering shall be borne by the City, and in such case, if the work of opening and recovering is done by the 
Contractor, it shall be considered as extra work and paid for accordingly. 

 
2. Change Orders 

 
 If for any reason it becomes necessary or desirable to change the alignment, dimensions, or design of the 
work, the City shall have the right to issue written change orders therefore.  If the Contractor considers that any 
such change involves extra work, he shall immediately so notify the Engineer in writing, and shall make claim 
for compensation for such work not later than the first day of the month following the month in which the work 
was performed.  If, in the opinion of the Engineer, any change order results in a change in the amount of work 
performed, the contract price shall be adjusted for extra work or omitted work, as the case may be. 
 

3. Contractor’s Employees and Subcontractors 
 
 The Contractor shall at all times be responsible for the adequacy and efficiency of his employees and any 
subcontractor and the latter’s employees.  All workers shall have adequate skill and experience to perform 
properly the work assigned to them. 
 

4. Errors and Omissions 
 
 If the Contractor in the course of the work becomes aware of any error or omission in the contract 
documents, or of any discrepancy between such documents and the physical conditions of the work site, he shall 
immediately inform the Engineer, who shall take such action as he may deem necessary in order to rectify the 
matter.  Any work done after such discovery and without the authorization of the Engineer will be at the 
Contractor’s risk. 
 

5. Guaranty of Work 
 

 For a period of one (1) year after final acceptance of the work by the City, the Contractor shall make all 
Improvements and replacements arising out of any defective workmanship or materials.  If the Contractor fails 
to make such repairs or replacements within ten (10) days after receiving written notice to do so, or within such 
further time as may be allowed by the City, the City may undertake such repairs or replacements, in which case 
the Contractor shall be liable to the City for the cost thereof. 
 

6. Contractor’s Responsibility for Work 
 
 The Contractor shall be responsible for the proper care and protection of the work, and of all materials 
delivered to the work site, until completion of the work and its final acceptance by the City. 
 
 



7. Performance Bond 
 
 No Performance bond shall be required for this project. 
 

8. Payment Bond 
 

A payment (labor and materials) bond is required for public works contracts involving an expenditure in 
excess of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000).   If the contract is in excess of this amount the contractor 
shall provide a payment bond to the City of Nevada City before commencement of work.   Cost for the bond 
shall be included in the contractor bid proposal and no additional compensation will be provided.    
 
A payment bond shall be in an amount not less than 100 percent of the total amount payable pursuant to the 
contract. The bond shall be in the form of a bond and not a deposit in lieu of a bond. The bond shall be 
executed by an admitted surety insurer. 
 
9. Workmen’s Compensation Insurance 

 
 The Contractor shall carry workmen’s compensation insurance for all employees working on or about the 
site of the work, and if any work is subcontracted, the Contractor shall require each subcontractor to carry such 
insurance for all of the latter’s employees, unless they are covered by the Contractor’s insurance. 
 

10. Insurance Requirements 
 
 CONTRACTOR shall purchase and maintain insurance in amounts of coverage not less than the following 
amounts: 
 
   General Liability:  $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury,  
   (Including operations,  personal injury and property damage.  If     
   products and completed Commercial General Liability Insurance or 
   operations)   other form with a general aggregate limit is   
       used either the general aggregate limit shall 
       apply separately to this project/location or 
       the general aggregate limit shall be twice     
       the required occurrence limit.  
 
   Automobile Liability:  $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury  
       and property damage. 
 
 The Contractor shall deliver to the City, concurrently with the execution of the contract, certificates 
evidencing all insurance required by the contract, and each such certificate shall include a provision to the effect 
that the policy or policies cannot be canceled or materially modified unless the insurer gives the City at least 
fifteen (15) days written notice thereof prior to such cancellation or modification.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



11.  Prevailing Wages 
Contractor shall pay each laborer, workman or mechanic in accordance with State and Federal Prevailing Wage 
Rates and the California Labor Code. These wage rates are hereby made a part of this contract: 
 

State General Prevailing Wage Determinations in effect on date advertised 
General prevailing wage determination of Journeyman and Apprentice Prevailing Wage Rates can be 
accessed at the following websites: https://www.dir.ca.gov/oprl/DPreWageDetermination.htm 
And http://www.dir.ca.gov/das/publicworks.html  
 
Reference: Labor Code http://www.labor.ca.gov/laborlawreg.htm 
 
Federal Prevailing Wage Determinations in effect on bid date 
http://www.wdol.gov/wdol/scafiles/davisbacon/ca.html 
 

Electronic Certified Payroll Records 
 All contractors must furnish electronic certified payroll records to the Labor Commissioner using the 

online eCPR data system 

 No contractor or subcontractor may be listed on a bid proposal for a public works project unless 
registered with the Department of Industrial Relations pursuant to Labor Code section 1725.5 [with 
limited exceptions from this requirement for bid purposes only under Labor Code section 1771.1(a)]. 

 No contractor or subcontractor may be awarded a contract for public work on a public works project 
unless registered with the Department of Industrial Relations pursuant to Labor Code section 1725.5. 

 This project is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the Department of Industrial 
Relations. 

 The contractor shall post job site notices prescribed by regulation. (See 8 Calif. Code Reg. §16451(d) 
   



Project Specifications  

 

PROJECT LIMITS 

224 AND 230 Church Street as shown on plan. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The project consists of a water service replacement and connection to existing water services within the project limits.   

The water service shall be placed along curb edge to minimize cost of trench resurfacing.   Required clearances between 

water and other utilities shall be accommodated with horizontal and vertical fittings as required.    Methods of 

installation shall be selected by the contractor, however the methods utilized shall result in minimal or no disturbance of 

private landscaping, fencing and hardscaping.      

CONSTRUCTION NOTES 

All improvements shall be constructed in accordance with the plans and details for the project and the latest edition of 

Caltrans Standard Plans and Standard Specifications and the Uniform Plumbing Code. 

For Trench Excavation, if there is solid rock material with a volume that exceeds 1/6cy in size that cannot be removed by 

standard excavating equipment (equivalent to a 20tn excavator), without drilling, ram hammering or splitting, then the 

Contractor shall be eligible for reimbursement of extra cost for rock removal.    The Contractor shall notify City staff of 

the means and methods of rock removal and hourly cost for rock removal prior to the extra work being performed. 

Bid items shall include full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, tools, equipment and incidentals for 

mobilization, traffic control, demolition, clearing, removal and disposal of demolition debris or excess materials, 

earthwork, compaction, shoring, dewatering, temporary bypass facilities, and all other incidental work as noted or 

shown on the plans.     Restoration of disturbed areas with similar materials as exists prior to construction (i.e. concrete 

or asphalt) and repair of any damaged materials shall be provided by the contractor at their expense.   Final Payment 

shall not be made until all cleanup and restoration work is complete.    

Contractor shall provide written notice to Public Works Supt or City Engineer no fewer than two days in advance of any 

disruption of service including water, sewer, sidewalk or road access.    The City will provide all notifications to the 

public.   The contractor shall coordinate and verify with City staff to ensure that property owners, business owners and 

residents have been provided sufficient notice of the disruption of service.   The Contractor shall not disrupt service 

without written approval from City staff.   Any complaints or special requests from City residents, business owners or 

visitors shall immediately be directed to City staff so that City staff can respond appropriately and in a timely manner.   

The Contractor shall not make concessions or agreements or attempt to resolve conflicts with residents, property 

owners or business owners but shall refer all such items to the City Engineer or Public Works Superintendent.    

TRAFFIC CONTOL 

When work is being performed, all streets shall have one lane of traffic available for alternating traffic.   At all times 

when work is not being performed, streets and driveways shall be safe for through traffic and pedestrians.   Lane closure 

shall comply with the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (CA MUTCD) current edition.   Notify Public Works Supt 

or City Engineer no fewer than two days in advance of proposed lane closure or driveway closure.   The contractor shall 

coordinate and verify with City staff that homeowners have been provided sufficient notice of any disruption of service 

including water, sewer or road access. 



 

MATERIAL NOTES 

Aggregate Base shall be Class 2, 3/4" maximum grading, conforming to standard specs. Section 26, placed at 95% 
Relative Compaction.  

Asphalt material shall be Type A or B 1/2‐inch maximum medium gradation and shall conform to the provisions in 
Sections39. “Asphalt Concrete,” of the Standard Specifications and these Special Provisions.  Asphalt cement shall be 
grade PG 64‐16 conforming to the requirements of Section 92 of the Standard Specifications.    Asphalt paving to include 
“T‐Section” edge grind/overlay of 8”‐12” width and 1” depth (beyond sawcut line) where adjoining existing asphalt.  

Concrete for trench patch shall consist of 5‐sack, 3,250psi concrete mix.    Concrete shall have the same section as 
existing or 6” thickness for driveways or 4” for sidewalk, whichever is greater.   Finish of concrete shall be equal or better 
than adjacent surfaces, with broom finish and score line or expansion joints that align with existing joints. 

 
WATER LINE PIPE AND FITTINGS 

Contractor shall provide and install all material necessary for the project including tubing, and pipe, horizontal and vertical 

elbows, short pipe pieces, corporation stops, piping connections, couplings, jointing materials, warning tape, valve box and lid, 

restrained joints, thrust blocks, locating wire, warning tape, excavation, bedding and backfill.    Water pipe 4” and larger shall 

be CL150 C900.   Water pipe smaller than 4” shall be PE polyethylene water supply line.   Flushing, disinfection testing and 

pressure testing shall be provided. 

Trench backfill shall consist of sand bedding around pipe per Standard Specifications and trench zone backfill from top of sand 

bedding to bottom of roadway pavement section with compacted aggregate base.    

 

WATER SERVICES 

New saddles and taps will be Corporation Stops with a double brass saddle for DIP water main or double stainless steel saddle 

for PVC water main.    Water service will be shut off and restarted by City personnel.   Each shut off beyond 8 hours will result 

in a charge of $70 per hour with a 4hour minimum. 

B‐16 Water Meter boxes shall be provided by the contractor and placed and centered on water meters.  Meter will be provided 

by the City and shall be installed by the contractor.   Contractor shall be responsible for removal and disposal of debris, traffic 

control, testing, and flushing and tie‐in pipe connections. 

 

 







REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City, CA  95959 
September 23, 2020       www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Notice of Completion for Commercial Street Phase 1 Water, Sewer and Storm 
Drain in Nevada City 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution for the City of Nevada City 
authorizing the Mayor to sign a Notice of Completion for Commercial Street Phase 1 Water, 
Sewer and Storm Drain in Nevada City and authorize the City Clerk to file said Notice of 
Completion with the Nevada County Recorder’s Office.   
 
CONTACT:  Bryan McAlister, City Engineer 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
City Engineering and Public Works staff identified areas where Street Improvements and 
Water, Sewer and Storm Drain Improvements are needed on Commercial Street within the 
Downtown Historic District.  The project consists of new water and sewer pipe and services for 
replacement of aging infrastructure and storm drain improvements, as further shown and 
described in the contract.    
 
City staff solicited bids for Commercial Street Phase 1 Water, Sewer and Storm Drain 
Improvements from local contractors.  CME Services was awarded the contract by City Council 
on March 11, 2020 and the project was completed in August 2020. 
 
The Contractor was unable to complete the work within the contract time allotted.  City staff 
approved payment for all completed work in accordance with contract provisions.  Final 
payment for incomplete work has not been paid where the work involved is covered by unit 
prices contained in the Contract Documents, by application of unit prices to the quantities of 
the items involved.   Any remaining work will be included in the next phase for Commercial 
Street Phase 2 Improvements which will be publicly bid and awarded as a separate project. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  The project was funded as authorized by SB 1 and matching Measure “S” 
funds for storm drain and street improvements and by fiscal year 2019/2020 water and sewer 
fund appropriations 
 
ATTACHMENT:  
 Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution for the City of Nevada City Authorizing the Mayor to 

sign a Notice of Completion for Commercial Street Phase 1 Water, Sewer and Storm 
Drain 

 Exhibit ‘A’, Notice of Completion  

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 
 

RESOLUTION FOR THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY AUTHORIZING THE 
MAYOR TO SIGN A NOTICE OF COMPLETION FOR COMMERCIAL 

STREET PHASE 1 WATER, SEWER AND STORM DRAIN 

 

 
IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Nevada City that 
the Mayor is authorized to sign a “Notice of Completion”, a copy of which is 
attached hereto and labeled “Exhibit A” which completes the construction of the 
Commercial Street Phase 1 Water, Sewer and Storm Drain in Nevada City. 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Clerk is authorized to file said “Notice 
of Completion”, Exhibit A (attached) with the Nevada County Recorder’s Office. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the City Council of the City 
of Nevada City on September 23, 2020, by the following vote:  

 
AYES:   

NOES:   

ABSTAIN:   

ABSENT:   

   

 
  
      ________________________________ 
      Erin Minett, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 

 



                                                                                                       EXHIBIT A
RECORDING REQUESTED BY and
WHEN RECORDING MAIL TO:

DEPUTY CITY CLERK
CITY OF NEVADA CITY
317 Broad Street
Nevada City, CA  95959

SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR DEPUTY CITY CLERK'S USE ONLY

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT:

1.  That the undersigned is OWNER or agent of the OWNER of the interest of estate stated below in the
      property hereinafter described.

2.  The FULL NAME of the OWNER is: City of Nevada City

3.  The FULL ADDRESS of the OWNER is:  317 Broad St, Nevada City, CA 95959

4.  The nature of the INTEREST or Estate of the undersigned is: FEE

5.  A work of improvement on the property hereinafter described was COMPLETED: August 28, 2020

6.  The work of improvement completed is described as follows:  Commercial Street Phase 1 Water, Sewer
 and Storm Drain in the City of Nevada City.
7.  The NAME OF THE ORIGINAL CONTRACTOR, if any, for such work of improvement is:  CME Services

8.  The location of said project work is: Commercial Street in Nevada City

9.  The property of which said work of improvement was completed is in the City of Nevada City, County of
Nevada, State of California and is described as follows:  Commercial Street.

       City of Nevada City      
                 Owner

by: ___________________________________
        Erin Minett, Mayor

   __________________________________________    ________________________________________
(Date and Place) (Signature)

NOTICE OF COMPLETION

"I certify under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct."



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
September 23, 2020       www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE: Agreement for Public Safety Dispatch Services Between the City of Grass Valley, 
the Town of Truckee, the City of Nevada City and the County of Nevada (July 1, 2020 
through June 30, 2021) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Review and approve the agreement for public safety dispatch services 
between the City of Grass Valley, the Town of Truckee, the city of Nevada City and the County 
of Nevada for the period of July 1, 2020 through June 30, 2021 and authorize the Mayor and 
City Manager to sign. 
 
CONTACT:  Chad Ellis, Police Chief 
           Catrina Olson, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
The City of Nevada City, the Town of Truckee, the City of Grass Valley and the County of 
Nevada all receive dispatch services from Nevada County’s Regional Dispatch Center.  The 
Regional Dispatch center provides 24/7 dispatch services to the Nevada City Police 
Department as has done so for many years.   
 
The City of Nevada City entered into a multi-jurisdictional agreement for public safety dispatch 
services beginning November 1, 2012 and extended through the period of June 30, 2018.  The 
agreement was renewed for the period from July 1, 2018 ending June 30, 2019.  Amendment 
#2 that amended sub-section 1.1 of the agreement extended the agreement from July 1, 2019 
to June 30, 2020 and was authorized June 12, 2019.   
 
The current contract is up for renewal and is for a 12 month period.  The contract sharing cost 
is formula based on “Radio Users” and population.  Based on the current calculations Nevada 
City is responsible for 6.62% of the total annual cost of the regional dispatch center which 
comes out to $133,625.83. 
 
In all other respects the prior agreement of the parties remains in full force and effect.   
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  $133,625,83 which is included in the FY 20/21 Police Department budget. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 Agreement for Public Safety Dispatch Services Between the City of Grass Valley, The 

Town of Truckee, the City of Grass Valley and the County of Nevada including Exhibit 
“A” (service cost breakdown) 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 

Regional Dispatch Services Agreement – Nevada County, City of Grass Valley, Town of Truckee and Nevada City 

 
Preparation Date:  08/20/2020 Page 1 of 12 Revision Date:  09/07/2012 
 

AGREEMENT FOR PUBLIC SAFETY DISPATCH SERVICES 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF GRASS VALLEY, THE TOWN OF TRUCKEE, THE CITY OF 

NEVADA CITY AND THE COUNTY OF NEVADA 

 (July 1, 2020, through June 30, 2021) 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this ___ day of ____________, 2020 by and 

between the City of Grass Valley, the Town of Truckee, and the City of Nevada City hereinafter 

collectively as “Participants”, individually as “Participant” and the County of Nevada, hereinafter 

“County.” 

 

For and in consideration of the mutual promises herein exchanged the parties do hereby agree 

as follows: 

 

1. TERM 

 

1.1 Effective Dates.  This Agreement shall be effective from July 1, 2020, through June 

30, 2021 unless terminated as provided herein.   

 

1.2 Renewal.  At any time during the term of this Agreement the parties may meet to 

evaluate the terms of this Agreement and may modify, approve and/or ratify any renewal of this 

Agreement to the effective date of such renewal. Any amendment shall be in writing and approved by 

the appropriate governing bodies. 

 

1.3 Termination.  Not withstanding the provisions of Paragraphs 1.1 and 1.2 above, any 

Participant or County may terminate this Agreement, either with or without cause, upon notice in 

writing to the other party of not less than one hundred eighty (180) days prior thereto. In the event that 
this Agreement is terminated for any reason, the obligations of the Participant(s) to make payments to 

the County as set out herein for services provided, and obligations of the Participants and the County 

for mutual indemnification shall continue after any such termination.  Payments for services hereunder 

shall only be due through the date of termination. 

 

2. SCOPE OF SERVICE 

 

2.1 Duties of the County.  The County agrees, through the Sheriff thereof, to provide Public 

Safety Dispatch services for the NCRDC Participants at the Nevada County Communications Center 

Nevada City which shall be known as the Nevada County Regional Dispatch Center (NCRDC). These 

services shall include the following: 

 

2.2 Emergency Telephone.  County will receive and process all emergency telephone calls, 

including those received on 9-1-1 telephone lines and on published seven digit emergency telephone 

lines at NCRDC. All requests for police response will be received and processed by NCRDC for 

incidents within the relevant Participant’s jurisdiction. 

 

2.3 Alternate Emergency Line.  County shall maintain a seven-digit emergency telephone 

line to be used as an alternate for 9-1-I. For the Truckee area, this line (530-550-2320) may be 

published by the Participants as an alternate emergency telephone number. For the Western county, 



 

Regional Dispatch Services Agreement – Nevada County, City of Grass Valley, Town of Truckee and Nevada City 

 
Preparation Date:  08/20/2020 Page 2 of 12 Revision Date:  09/07/2012 
 

this line (530-477-6481) may be published by the participants as an alternate emergency telephone 

number. 

 

2.4 After Hours Non-Emergency Line.  County shall receive and process all after hours 

non-emergency telephone calls for the Police Departments of Participants at NCRDC. 

 

2.5 Computer Aided Dispatch.  The County shall provide dispatch services utilizing a 

modern Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) System at NCRDC. The County agrees to authorize the 

Participants to have unlimited access into this system from their Police Department. The Participants 

shall be responsible for any related hardware/software costs necessary to allow the Participants to have 

such access. The Participants agrees that appropriate and reasonable measure will be in place, which 

shall be reviewed and approved by County Information Systems Department to assure that the CAD 

application is not accessible from any other computers on their Local Area Network (LAN) except 

those located within or under the control of appropriate Participant Police Department staff. The 

Participants agree not to release any information from the CAD system to any third party without prior 

written authorization from County, except that the Participants may release information that describes 

Participant operational activity from the CAD incidents generated for respective Participant Police 

Department staff 

 

2.6 Records Management System.  The County shall provide information from the Sheriffs 

Records Management System (RMS) terminals at NCRDC so Participants’ staff can make entries into 

the RMS as Participant may decide. The Participants agree to take appropriate action and reasonable 

measures to assure that the RMS application is not accessible from any other computers on 

Participant’s LAN except those located within or under the control of appropriate Participant’s staff.  

The Participants agree not to release any information from the RMS system to any third party without 

prior written authorization from County, except that the Participants may release information that 

originates as part of each Participant’s operational activity for Individual Participant Police 

Department staff 

 

2.7 Incident Numbering.  The County will electronically record an “Agency Number” from 

NCRDC for all incidents within the Participant’s jurisdiction or when Participants units respond to 

calls outside the Participant’s individual jurisdiction. 

 

2.8 Interfacing with Participant Police Department Local Area Network.  The County will 

assist the Participants in interfacing with each Participant’s Local Area Network (LAN). The cost for 

any software/hardware needed for such interface will be borne by each individual Participant. 

 

3. OPERATIONAL ISSUES 

 

3.1 Advisory Committee. County and each individual Participant shall establish and 

maintain an “Advisory Committee” which shall be comprised of the Sheriff and Chief of Police from 

each Police Department.  The Advisory Committee shall meet minimally once per year to review and 

discuss policy, procedural and financial issues relevant to the functions of the NCRDC.  

Recommendations made by the committee are to be advisory and will assist the Sheriff in making 

decisions on operational and financial issues. 

 



 

Regional Dispatch Services Agreement – Nevada County, City of Grass Valley, Town of Truckee and Nevada City 

 
Preparation Date:  08/20/2020 Page 3 of 12 Revision Date:  09/07/2012 
 

3.2 User Group. County and each individual Participant shall establish and maintain a 

“User Group” which shall be comprised of a designee from the County and each Participant.  The User 

Group shall meet minimally once per year to review and discuss technology and operational issues 

relevant to the functions of the NCRDC.  Recommendations shall be made to the Advisory Committee 

as referenced in Section 3.1 of this contract. 

 

3.3 Policies and Procedures - Operations. The Advisory Committee is responsible for 

establishing the policies, practices, procedures and operational guidelines on dispatching services in 

conjunction with the NCRDC. NCRDC, County and Participants will follow said policies, practices 

and procedures in the administration of dispatch service pursuant to this Agreement.  

 

3.4 Conflict Resolution.  The supervisory personnel from the Participants should attempt 

to resolve problems involving dispatch by contacting the NCRDC   Communications Manager as soon 

as possible. Any unresolved or repetitive problems should be referred to the Sheriff’s Office 

Administrative Captain.  If any conflict is not resolvable under this section, then Section 14 shall 

apply. 

 

3.5 Disaster Operations:  Interaction with Participants Emergency Operations Centers.  The 

NCRDC will be the primary point for dispatching day-to-day emergencies. In the event the Participant 

Emergency Operations Center (EOC) is activated, there will be a need to modify how incidents are 

handled, especially for a large-scale event which has truly exhausted local resources. The details of 

the interaction between the NCRDC and the Participant EOC will be developed as a component of the 

policies, practices and procedures as referenced in 3.1 and 3.2 above. The development of such detail 

shall be initiated by Participant. 

 

3.6 Amendment.  Any party may initiate a request for a modification to this agreement in 

writing.  All modifications negotiated will be effective only upon written approval of all parties 

 

4. LEVEL OF SERVICE 

 

4.1 Level of Service.  The County shall provide twenty-four (24) hours per day, 365 days 

per year, Public Safety Communications Services as set forth in this Agreement. 

 

4.2 Staffing.  The County agrees to maintain staffing levels necessary to provide Public 

Safety Communications Services to the Participants. 

  

4.3 Variation in Scope of Service.  Variation in the scope of service shall be made by 

amendment, as provided in Section 2 of this Agreement. 

 

4.4 Budget Estimate.    In support of Participants budget process, County shall prepare and 

submit to Participants no later than March 15 of each year, a proposed estimated cost of dispatch 

services, such as that shown in Exhibit A, attached hereto, for the next fiscal year covering the period 

of July 1 through June 30. The associated cost estimate for performance of such Service Plan shall be 

incorporated into Section 8, Compensation for Services. 

 

4.5 Calls for Service.  A Call for Service is defined as being any incident reported to 



 

Regional Dispatch Services Agreement – Nevada County, City of Grass Valley, Town of Truckee and Nevada City 

 
Preparation Date:  08/20/2020 Page 4 of 12 Revision Date:  09/07/2012 
 

NCRDC requiring NCRDC to dispatch public safety services to either the Sheriff’s Office or a 

Participant Agency jurisdiction to provide fire/law enforcement service; or any incident initiated by a 

member of either the Sheriff’s Office or a member of the Participant agencies requiring NCRDC to 

have radio/phone communication with the reporting member. If the incident is within a Participant 

Agency’s city limits then the incident is considered a call for service for that Participant Agency. All 

other calls for service shall be considered a call for service for the County.  

 

5. REPORTS 

 

When requested, County will provide a Participant Agency with written reports addressing 

service performed under this Agreement. Such reports will address: services performed; detail of 

staffing levels, including number of hours (regular and overtime) worked, detailed significant staffing 

issues, or other reasonably obtainable information deemed important by a Participant Agency. Reports 

provided at the Participant’s request requiring additional amounts of staff time or other county 

resources may, at the Sheriff’s discretion, generate charges beyond those covered by this agreement. 

 

6. PROVISION OF SUPERVISION, LABOR, AND EQUIPMENT 

 

6.1 Supervision.  The responsibility of supervision of communications services at NCRDC, 

hiring of personnel, establishing standards of performance, assignment of personnel, determining and 

effecting discipline, determining training required, maintaining personnel files, and other matters 

relating to the performance of services and control of personnel, shall remain with County. County is 

bound to abide by bargaining agreements covering County employees performing services hereunder. 

 

The Participant’s Police Chief or other management personnel of the police department, as 

appropriate, may provide comments to the Sheriff or management personnel of that department, as 

appropriate, concerning the performance of dispatch personnel providing services to Participants 

under this agreement. If the Police Chief or their designee determines that services are not being 

provided in accordance with the standards established in this agreement the parties shall meet to seek 

a mutually acceptable resolution of the concern. If that meeting is not successful the Chief or 

designee may request a review of the employee or employees involved. 

 

 

6.2 Labor and Equipment.  For the purpose of performing said services, County shall 

furnish and supply all labor, supervision, equipment and supplies necessary to maintain the level of 

service to be rendered hereunder. Any equipment purchased by the Participants to be utilized by 

County NCRDC staff to provide services herein shall meet the Sheriff’s specifications. Any such 

equipment so purchased by the Participants shall remain within the County NCRDC during the term 

of this agreement. All such equipment shall remain in the ownership of the relevant Participant.  

Participants shall have advance notice as soon as administratively possible of any equipment purchases 

or system upgrades deemed necessary by the Sheriff to maintain the level of service to be rendered 

hereunder. 

 

6.3 Additional Equipment.  Any other equipment or infrastructure costs outside of section 

6.2 above, and not provided for in the annual budget estimate under section 4.4 above, shall only be 

acquired subject to mutual written agreement of County and the Participants 



 

Regional Dispatch Services Agreement – Nevada County, City of Grass Valley, Town of Truckee and Nevada City 

 
Preparation Date:  08/20/2020 Page 5 of 12 Revision Date:  09/07/2012 
 

 

6.4 County shall secure and manage upgrades to the E911 equipment available through 

CalOES 9-1-1 Emergency Communications Branch as deemed necessary and/or mandated by the 

County and State as program funding provides for the NCRDC. County shall provide a good faith 

estimate of upgrade costs to Participants prior to the execution of any contract by the County for 

upgrades. County and Participants recognize that non approval of necessary and/or mandated upgrades 

may result in cessation of services to participants of the NCRDC.  Any shortfalls between State 

funding levels and costs of upgrade are to be borne by the Participants and County proportionally in 

the same ratio as provided for in billing expenses.  Should a Participant initiate termination of this 

agreement pursuant to section 1.3, the Participant shall be liable for debts incurred under this program 

for E911 Customer Premise Equipment and Software being funded by CalOES 9-1-1 Emergency 

Communications Branch at the time of termination. 

 

7. EMPLOYMENT STATUS OF PERSONNEL 

 

7.1 Status of Employees.  All persons employed by County to perform services pursuant 

to this Agreement shall be and remain County employees and shall at all times, be under the direction 

and control of the County. All persons employed by County to perform the services pursuant to this 

Agreement shall be entitled solely to the rights and privileges given to County employees and shall 

not be entitled, as a result of providing services required hereunder, to any additional rights and 

privileges given to Participant employees. 

 

Participants shall not be liable for the direct payment of any salaries, wages, benefits or other 

compensation to any County personnel performing services hereunder for County or any liability other 

than that provided for in this Agreement. 

 

7.2 Labor Shortage.  In the event of a work slow-down, strike, or any other form of job 

action by those individuals assigned to Participants, County agrees to provide only that level of service 

which may be available through mutual aid, pursuant to Government Code Section 8615, et seq. 

Participants shall be billed only for the actual hours of service received. 

 

 

8. COMPENSATION 

 

8.1 Payment Basis.  The Participants shall pay for such service or services as are required, 

requested and provided under this contract during fiscal year at the rates and items described in Exhibit 

A “Service Costs”, or any revised rates or combinations thereof, plus such additional amounts as 

determined by the County’s Auditor-Controller that will reflect any amendment to the County Salary 

Resolution related to salaries and employee benefits adopted annually by the Board of Supervisors 

during the term of this contract. Said rates shall include all items of cost and expense to the Sheriff for 

providing the services hereunder. 

 

8.2 Establishment of Costs.  The cost to be charged to Participant shall be adjusted 

to reflect any unanticipated changes in the cost to County for providing services hereunder. 

Participant shall be notified of any change in cost to be charged Participant prior to submittal of 

the proposed change to the County Board of Supervisors, and Participant shall be given the 



 

Regional Dispatch Services Agreement – Nevada County, City of Grass Valley, Town of Truckee and Nevada City 

 
Preparation Date:  08/20/2020 Page 6 of 12 Revision Date:  09/07/2012 
 

opportunity to review the proposed change with County personnel. Participants shall, thereafter, 

be notified of adoption by County of the costs to be charged Participants, and said new costs to 

Participant shall take effect on the same date as County incurs the costs. Should Participant, 

subsequent to a cost adjustment, choose not to appropriate or expend any additional monies needed 

to support the level of service therefore to supplied, County reserves the right to reduce the level 

of service in accordance with the amount Participant is willing to expend. 

 

8.3  Cost Allocation.  The allocation of the costs of operation of the NCRDC for the 

current fiscal year will be allocated between the Participants and County based upon the 

percentages and costs as shown in Exhibit A.  

 

8.4  Payment of Costs.  Participants shall Pay to County monthly in advance on the 

first of each month one twelfth (1/12) of the annual amount shown on Exhibit A. County through 

the Sheriff’s Office, shall provide to Participants within  sixty (60) days of the conclusion of the 

fiscal year an itemized statement of the costs for services being charged for said quarters; Should 

the itemized statement show a savings from estimated costs shown on Exhibit A, then said savings 

will be credited back to Participants for the next month’s payment.  Should the itemized statement 

show a cost increase, then the Participants shall pay such shortfall with the next month’s payment.  

In the event of nonpayment, County’s remedy shall be to take any action permitted by law to 

recover unpaid amounts under the agreement.  

 

8.5  Credits.  From time to time County may receive revenue related to the operation 

of the NCRDC all of which should be credited against NCRDC costs on a pro rata basis where 

applicable. Examples of such credits may include: training reimbursements, grants, PERS credits, 

etc. Any reimbursement received by County from any non-County funding source for services 

charged to Participants under this Agreement will be credited to Participants. 

 

9. SUBROGATION 

 

To the extent that the County incurs any loss for which it is compensated in whole, or for 

more than fifty percent of its losses, by the Participants, the County shall assign its rights and 

interest in any claim or cross complaint that it may legally have or be entitled to assert, to the 

Participants. To the extent that the Participant incurs any loss for which it is compensated in 

whole, or for more than fifty percent of its losses, by the County, the Participant shall assign its 

rights and interest in any claim or cross complaint that it may legally have or be entitled to assert, 

to the County. 

 

10.  INDEMNIFICATIONS AND HOLD HARMLESS 

 

10.1 Indemnification by Participants.  Participants shall indemnify and hold County, 

its officers, agents, employees, volunteers, and independent contractors free and harmless from 

any claim or liability whatsoever, based or asserted upon any act or omission of Participant, its 

officers, agents, employees, volunteers, subcontractors, and independent contractors, for 

property damage, bodily injury or death, or any other element of damage of any kind or nature, 

occurring in the performance of the Agreement to the extent that such liability is imposed on 



 

Regional Dispatch Services Agreement – Nevada County, City of Grass Valley, Town of Truckee and Nevada City 

 
Preparation Date:  08/20/2020 Page 7 of 12 Revision Date:  09/07/2012 
 

County by the provisions of California Government Code Section 895.2, and Participants shall 

defend at its expense, including attorney fees, County, its officers, agents, employees, volunteers, 

and independent contractors in any legal action or claim of any kind based upon such alleged 

acts or omissions. 

 

10.2 Indemnification by County.  County shall indemnify and hold Participants, its 

officers, agents, employees, volunteers, and independent contractors free and harmless from any 

claim or liability whatsoever, based or asserted upon any act or omission of County, its officers, 

agents, employees, volunteers, subcontractors, and independent contractors, for property 

damage, bodily injury or death, or any other element of damage of any kind or nature, occurring 

in the performance of the Agreement to the extent that such liability is imposed on Participants 

by the provisions of California Government Code Section 895.2, and County shall defend at its 

expense, including attorney fees, Town, its officers, agents, employees, volunteers, and 

independent contractors in any legal action or claim of any kind based upon such alleged acts or 

omissions. 

 

11. INSURANCE 

 

 During the term of this Agreement, Participants and County shall maintain the following 

insurance coverage: 

  

A. Commercial General Liability Insurance.  The Participants shall promptly 

provide the County, and the County shall provide Participants, with proof of 

commercial general liability insurance, evidenced by a certificate of insurance 

with properly executed endorsements attached, which insurance shall include the 

following: 

 

(i) Broad form coverage for liability for death or bodily injury to a person or 

persons, and for property damage, combined single limit coverage, in the 

minimum amount of $1,000,000.00 

 

(ii) An endorsement naming the County, or in the case of the County’s 

insurance naming Participants as an additional insured under said policies, 

with respect to claims or suits arising from the Services provided or the 

relationships created under this Agreement;  

 

(iii) A provision that said insurance shall be primary and other insurance 

maintained by the County, or similarly Participants, shall be excess only 

and not contributing with Contractor’s insurance;  

 

(iv)  A provision that said insurance shall provide for thirty (30) days written 

notice to County, or in the case of County’s insurance, notice to 

Participants of any termination or change in coverage protection or 

reduction in coverage limits (except ten (10) days notice for non-payment 

of premium). 



 

Regional Dispatch Services Agreement – Nevada County, City of Grass Valley, Town of Truckee and Nevada City 

 
Preparation Date:  08/20/2020 Page 8 of 12 Revision Date:  09/07/2012 
 

  

B. Workers Compensation.  The Participants and the County shall maintain workers’ 

compensation insurance as required by law.  The Participants waive their right to 

subrogate against the County and the County waives its right to subrogate against 

Participants, for injuries incurred to their respective employees which are 

compensable under the Parties’ workers’ compensation insurance.  

 

C. Miscellaneous Insurance Provisions.  All policies of insurance required by this 

Agreement shall remain in full force and effect throughout the life of this 

Agreement and shall be payable on a "per occurrence."  At all times, the Parties 

shall keep and maintain in full force and effect throughout the duration of this 

Agreement, policies of insurance required by this Agreement.  Failure to provide 

and maintain the insurance policies, endorsements, or certificates of insurance 

required by this Agreement shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement. 

 

12. RIGHT TO AUDIT 

 

Upon reasonable notice, either party shall have the right to inspect and audit any 

records maintained by the other party relevant to this Agreement, to the extent allowed by 

law. 

 

13. INTERNAL POLICIES 

 

If requested by the Sheriff or Participants’ Police Chief, an internal policy 

memorandum may be entered into by and between said Sheriff and Participant Police Chief, 

subject to Advisory Committee Review with respect to questions relating to the provision of 

service under this Agreement. The policy will set forth the question raised and agreements 

reached in resolution of the question. The intent and purpose of each such policy shall be to 

administratively implement, interpret, or clarify one or more provisions of this Agreement. 

No such policy shall have the effect of amending this Agreement unless an amendment to 

this Agreement is approved in writing by the appropriate governing body.  

 

14. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

  

In the event one party believes a dispute exists over the implementation, interpretation, or 

payment of funds under this agreement that party shall provide reasonable written notice to the 

other party along with a proposed resolution of the dispute. If the other party does not accept the 

proposed resolution, in writing, the parties shall meet to seek to resolve the dispute.  

 

15. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND VENUE 

 

Venue and jurisdiction for all proceedings pertaining to this Agreement shall be in the 

Superior Court for the County of Nevada situated in Nevada City, California. 

 

16. NOTICES 



 

 

Regional Dispatch Services Agreement – Nevada County, City of Grass Valley, Town of Truckee and Nevada City 

 
Preparation Date:  08/20/2020 Page 9 of 12 Revision Date:  2/27/2020 
 

 

 

Any notices required or desired to be served by either party upon the other shall be 

addressed to the respective parties to be served as follows: 

 

If to County (three notices): 

County Executive Officer   Clerk of the Board of Supervisors 

950 Maidu Avenue    950 Maidu Avenue 

 Nevada City, CA 95959   Nevada City, CA 95959 

   

Sheriff, County of Nevada 

950 Maidu Avenue 

Nevada City, CA 95959  

 

If to Grass Valley (two notices) 

City Manager, Grass Valley   Chief of Police, Grass Valley 

129 East Main Street    129 East Main Street 

Grass Valley, CA 95945   Grass Valley, CA 95945 

 

 

 

If to Truckee (three notices): 

Town Manager, Town of Truckee  Chief of Police, Town of Truckee  

10183 Truckee Airport Road   10183 Truckee Airport Road 

Truckee, CA 96161    Truckee, CA 96161 

 

Town Clerk, Town of Truckee  

10183 Truckee Airport Road 

Truckee, CA 96161 

 

 

If to Nevada City (two notices) 

City Manager, Nevada City   Chief of Police, Nevada City 

317 Broad Street    317 Broad Street 

Nevada City, CA 95959   Nevada City, CA 95959 

 

 

17. SEVERABILITY 

 

If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, 

void, or unenforceable, the remaining provisions shall continue in fill force and effect. 

 

18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

 

This Agreement is intended by the parties hereto as a final expression of their 

understanding with respect to the subject matter hereof and as a complete and exclusive statement 



 

 

Regional Dispatch Services Agreement – Nevada County, City of Grass Valley, Town of Truckee and Nevada City 

 
Preparation Date:  08/20/2020 Page 10 of 12 Revision Date:  2/27/2020 
 

 

of the terms and conditions thereof and supersedes any and all prior and contemporaneous 

agreements and understanding, oral or written, in connection therewith. 

 

19. NO OBLIGATION TO THIRD PARTIES 

 

Nothing in this Agreement or any of the addenda hereto, is intended to nor shall it create 

any right in any person, firm, corporation, or entity, other than in the parties hereto, including but 

not limited to the employees of the parties, to any of the benefits hereunder. Nothing herein is 

intended to expand the duties and obligations of the Participants and/or County with regard to third 

party. 

 

20. FORCE MAJEURE   

 

Neither the County or any Participant shall be liable in damages for any failure or delay 

in performance under this Agreement (other than for delay in the payment of money due and 

payable hereunder) to the extent said failures or delays are proximately caused by conditions 

beyond that party's reasonable control and occurring without its fault or negligence, including, 

without limitation,  Acts of God, wars, insurrections, failure of suppliers, subcontractors, and 

carriers, and/or any other cause beyond the reasonable control of the party whose performance is 

affected.   As a condition to the claim of nonliability, the party experiencing the difficulty shall 

give the other prompt written notice, with full details following the occurrence of the cause relied 

upon.  

 

21. CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT 

 

This Agreement shall be constructed and enforced pursuant to the laws of the State of 

California. This agreement shall be interpreted as if jointly prepared by the parties.  No 

presumption shall arise from the identity of the drafter. 

 

22. ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS AND AGREEMENTS 

 

The parties agree to cooperate in the execution of any additional documents or agreements 

that may be required to carry out the terms of this Agreement. 

 

23. AGREEMENT CONTROLLING 

 

In the event of a conflict between the provisions of the text of this Agreement and Exhibits, 

the provisions of the text shall prevail. 

 

24. ASSIGNMENT/DELEGATION 

 

Neither party hereto shall assign, sublet, or transfer any interest in this Agreement or any 

duty hereunder without written consent of the other, and no assignment shall be of any force or 

effect whatsoever unless and until the other party shall have so consented. 

 



 

 

Regional Dispatch Services Agreement – Nevada County, City of Grass Valley, Town of Truckee and Nevada City 

 
Preparation Date:  08/20/2020 Page 11 of 12 Revision Date:  2/27/2020 
 

 

 

County of Nevada 

 

By_______________________________ Date__________________________ 

 Heidi Hall, Chair, Board of Supervisors 

 

By_______________________________ Date__________________________ 

 Alison Lehman, Chief Executive Officer 

 

By_______________________________ Date__________________________ 

 Shannan Moon, Sheriff 

 

By_______________________________ Date__________________________ 

 Kathryn Harrison, County Counsel 

 

 

Town of Truckee 

 

By_______________________________ Date__________________________ 

 David Polivy, Mayor 

 

By_______________________________ Date__________________________ 

 Dan Wilkins, Acting Town Manager 

 

 

City of Grass Valley 

 

By_______________________________   Date__________________________ 

    Lisa Swarthout, Mayor 

 

By_______________________________   Date__________________________ 

    Tim Kiser, City Manager 

 

 

City of Nevada City 

 

By_______________________________   Date__________________________ 

    Erin Minnett, Mayor 

 

By_______________________________   Date__________________________ 

    Catrina Olson, City Manager 

  



 

 

Regional Dispatch Services Agreement – Nevada County, City of Grass Valley, Town of Truckee and Nevada City 

 
Preparation Date:  08/20/2020 Page 12 of 12 Revision Date:  2/27/2020 
 

 

Exhibit A 

Service Costs 
 

The annual percentage of costs allocated to each participating agency have been calculated using 

a formula which takes into consideration each Participants jurisdictional population, calls for 

service and number of sworn staffing.  According to an economic development report (located 

here: https://www.townoftruckee.com/home/showdocument?id=9351) the year round population of 

Truckee is significantly affected by seasonal housing which is estimated at 47% of total available 

housing.  Even though the occupancy of those homes at less than full time rate, the occupancy is 

significant enough to impact the actual resident population.  Using this report and other data an 

adjustment factor to the base full time Truckee population of 131% is warranted.  This adjustment 

factor brings the Truckee population from 16,432 to 21,472.   

 

For Fiscal Year 2020-2021, the total annual cost for providing dispatch services to the County and 

all Participants is an estimated budget of $2,019,485. Invoicing for compensation per Section 8.4 

of the contract will occur throughout the effective dates of this contract as listed in Section 1.1 and 

reflect one twelfth (1/12) of annual estimated costs to each Participant as per Section 8.4 of the 

contract.  

 

• The City of Grass Valley agrees to pay monthly on an allocated percent of total of 

22.29% of the estimated annual budget, or $450,230.45. 

• The City of Nevada City agrees to pay monthly on an allocated percent of total of 

6.62% of the estimated budget, or $133,625.83. 

• The Town of Truckee agrees to pay monthly on an allocated percent of total of 20.48% 

of the estimated budget, or $413,669.25. 

• The County of Nevada shall be responsible for the remaining allocated percent of total 

of 50.60% of the estimated budget or $1,021,959.47. 

 

The total costs shall be adjusted periodically to reflect any changes in the cost to the County for 

providing Public Safety Dispatch services. Increases or decreases in dispatch costs will be shared 

based on the allocated percent of total as indicated above. 

 

Development of costs is shown in the tables below: 

 

 

Population  Based on Annual CA D.O.F .Published Population numbers

Reflects snapshot of  "Radio Users" on 2/27/2020 and Truckee Population adjustment as noted above

Agency
 Radio 

Users 
 Population 

 Calls for 

Service 

 Workload 

Index* 
 % of total  Allocated cost 

NCPD 9 3,122 7,987 20             6.62% 133,625.83$      

TPD 26 21,472 14,780 62             20.48% 413,669.25$      

GVPD 28 12,769 26,985 68             22.29% 450,230.45$      

NCSO 46 66,579 41,213 154           50.60% 1,021,959.47$  

103,942     304           100.00% 2,019,485.00$  

https://www.townoftruckee.com/home/showdocument?id=9351


REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
September 23, 2020           www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City to Award a Contract to 
Koch & Koch, Inc. in the Amount of $60,500 for Water Reservoir Cleaning and 
Maintenance at the Water Treatment Plant in Nevada City  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of 
Nevada City awarding a contract to Koch & Koch Inc. in amount of $60,500 for water reservoir 
cleaning and maintenance at Water Treatment Plant in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to 
sign. 
 
CONTACT:  Bryan K. McAlister, City Engineer 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  
Nevada City Water Treatment Plant operation staff identified maintenance that is needed at the 
Raw Water Reservoir in compliance with State Water Resources Control Board Division of 
Drinking Water requirements.  The project consists of cleaning the City’s Raw Water Reservoir 
which was constructed and has been in continuous use since 1978.  Cleaning of the reservoir 
will reduce or remove sediment, organics and algae that is negatively affecting PH levels 
making it difficult to treat the water in compliance with regulatory requirements. 

 
City staff solicited quotes for this work from two local contractors who are familiar with the 
reservoir cleaning and maintenance: 

• Koch & Koch, Penn Valley, CA 
• Robinson Enterprises, Nevada City, CA 

 
Quotes are based on daily costs for equipment and operators to clean the reservoir.  After 
meeting with Robinson Enterprises, they determined that they would not be available to do the 
work due to other contractual commitments with CALFIRE during this busy season.  The City 
has an immediate need to complete this work prior to October 15th so City staff worked with 
Koch & Koch to develop a plan for cleaning the reservoir using available equipment and 
operators at competitive rates.  Koch and Koch provided a cost estimate for mobilization at 
$2000 and a daily rate of $5,850 for equipment and operators.  For the purposes of the 
agreement we have assumed herein a maximum of ten (10) days for cleaning.  We expect the 
work to be completed somewhere between five (5) to ten (10) days as required to meet the 
needs of the treatment plant. 
 
Koch & Koch Inc was determined to be lowest, responsive and responsible bidder. 

 
FISCAL CONSIDERATIONS:  The project will be funded as authorized in the fiscal year 
2020/2021 appropriations for water treatment.    
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City of Nevada City Council to Award a Contract 

to Koch & Koch, Inc. for Water Reservoir Cleaning and Maintenance at the Water 
Treatment Plant 

 Contract for  Water Reservoir Cleaning and Maintenance at Water Treatment Plant in 
Nevada City 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
TO AWARD A CONTRACT TO KOCH & KOCH, INC. FOR WATER 

RESERVOIR CLEANING AND MAINTENANCE AT THE NEVADA CITY 
WATER TREATMENT PLANT   

 
WHEREAS, Nevada City Water Treatment Plant operates in compliance with 
State Water Resources Control Board Division of Drinking Water requirements. 
 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the City of Nevada City prioritization of projects 
for permit compliance and Water Treatment Plant improvements, City staff 
solicited quotes for Water Reservoir Cleaning and Maintenance at Water 
Treatment Plant. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Nevada 
City to pass Resolution 2020-XX awarding a contract to Koch & Koch Inc. in 
amount of $60,500 for Water Reservoir Cleaning and Maintenance at Water 
Treatment Plant in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the City Council of the City of 
Nevada City on the 23rd day of September, 2020, by the following vote:  

 

AYES:   

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:   

 
  
      ________________________________ 
      Erin Minett, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



 

Water Reservoir  

Cleaning and Maintenance 
at Water Treatment Plant 

 

 

City of Nevada City, 95959 
Nevada County, California 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

______________________________                          

Bryan K. McAlister        
PE C58570        
PLS 9199          
 



 
 
 

BID SCHEDULE 
 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
WATER RESERVOIR CLEANING AND  

MAINTENANCE AT WATER TREATMENT PLANT 
 
 

No.   Quantity  Unit     Item Description                     Unit Price Total Price 
 
1.)           1   LS  Mobilization  $ 2,000       $ 2,000 

 
2.)             10   DAYS  Reservoir Cleaning  $ 5,850       $ 58,500 

 
 
 
TOTAL:                               $60,500 
 
 
Note 

1. Project shall be prevailing wages. 
2. Unit price for Reservoir Cleaning shall include daily rate for equipment and operators.    

 
  

 
 

  



LIST OF SUBCONTRACTORS 
 

 
 NAME 
 

 PLACE OF BUSINESS  PORTION OF WORK 

 
1.   NONE 

  

 
 2. 

  

 
 3. 

  

 
 4. 

  

 
 5. 

  

 
 6. 

  

 
 7. 

  

 
 8. 

  

 
 9. 

  

 
10. 

  



AGREEMENT 
 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT is made this _______________ day of ______________________, between the CITY 
OF NEVADA CITY, a municipal corporation, hereinafter called "City," and Koch & Koch, Inc., hereinafter called 
"Contractor." 
 WHEREAS, Nevada City solicited quotes for Water Reservoir Cleaning and Maintenance at Water Treatment 
Plant; and 
 WHEREAS, after notice duly given, City has awarded the contract for such work to Contractor; 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED by and between said parties as follows: 
 
 1. Scope of Work.  The contractor agrees to furnish all labor, materials, tools and equipment, required to 
complete the improvements in Nevada City, California, in accordance with the plans, specifications and other contract 
representation made in pre-bid meetings.  All such work shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner and 
to the satisfaction of the designer of said project. 
 
 2. Contract Price.  As consideration for all such work, City agrees to pay to Contractor at rates set forth in the 
bid schedule, not to exceed amount the total sum of Sixty Thousand Five Hundred ($60,500.00) Dollars, payable in 
the manner hereinafter set forth. 
 
 3. Contract Documents.  The complete contract between the parties hereto consists of the Notice to 
Contractors, the Information to Bidders, the Bid Proposal, the General Conditions, the Plans and Specifications, and 
all other drawings and printed or written explanatory matter pertaining thereto. All of the foregoing documents are 
intended to cooperate, so that any work or requirement specified in any of them is to be carried out or observed the 
same as if mentioned in all. 
 
 4. Time for Performance.  Within five (5) days after the execution of this Agreement, City shall give 
Contractor written Notice to Proceed, and thereafter Contractor shall commence the work and shall prosecute the 
same with due diligence until completion and acceptance by City; provided, however, that all such work shall be 
completed and ready for use within twenty (20) working days after Contractor receives said Notice to Proceed. 
 
 5. Extension of Time.  If, because of adverse weather conditions, strikes, inability of the Contractor (through 
no fault on his/her part) to obtain necessary materials, or other cause beyond the reasonable control of Contractor, 
Contractor is unable to complete the required work within the allowed time, he shall be entitled to an extension or 
extensions of such time, commensurate with the unavoidable delay thus caused; provided, however that Contractor 
shall apply to City for approval of any such extension prior to the expiration of the time for performance as specified 
in the preceding paragraph. 
 
  6. Contractor's Failure to Complete Work.  If Contractor fails to prosecute the work with such diligence as 
will insure its completion within the time hereinabove specified, or any extension thereof, or fails to complete such 
work within such time, or if Contractor shall otherwise violate this Agreement, City may give written notice to 
Contractor and his sureties of City's intention to terminate this Agreement unless, within five (5) days after services 
of such notice, satisfactory arrangements are made with the City for the completion of such work or the curing of 
such breach; and if such arrangements are not made within such time, City may, at its option, terminate this 
Agreement by giving written notice of such termination to Contractor and his sureties. 
 
 7. Payments to Contractor.  On or before the tenth day of each month during the progress of the work, 
Contractor shall submit to the City Engineer an itemized statement of all labor and materials incorporated into the 
improvement during the preceding month and the portion of the contract price applicable thereto.    City shall pay to 
Contractor the payment of unit price for all work completed for approved progress payments. 
 



 8. Indemnification.  Contractor agrees to hold City, and its officers, agents, and employees harmless from any 
and all liability and claims for damages for death and personal injury, and for property damage, incident to or arising 
out of the operations of Contractor or any subcontractor under this Agreement, and Contractor further agrees to 
defend City, and its officers, agents, and employees in any and all lawsuits which may be brought for such damages 
caused, or alleged to have been caused, by such operations.  In addition, Contractor agrees to furnish to the City 
evidences of insurance coverage.  The approval of such insurance by City shall not constitute a waiver or limitation 
of any rights under this indemnity agreement, regardless of whether such insurance shall be held to be inapplicable 
to any such damage or claims therefore. 
 
 
 Executed in duplicate this                     day of                         ,                . 
 
 
ATTEST: CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
    
 
 
                                         By:          
   (Mayor) 
 
   By:               
   (Contractor) 
 
 
   By:          
    (Authorized Officer) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
 

1. Inspection of Construction 
 

The Engineer shall have access to the work and the site of the work at all times and the Contractor shall 
afford such access to the Engineer and shall furnish all relevant information requested by him.  At the request of 
the Engineer the Contractor shall open for inspection any part of the work which has been covered up, and if 
any part of the work has been covered up in contravention of the instructions of the Engineer, or if on being 
opened up, is found not to be in accordance with the terms of the contract, the expense of opening and 
recovering shall be charged to the Contractor.  If the work has been covered up but not in contravention of such 
instructions and is found to be in accordance with the terms of the contract, the actual cost of opening and 
recovering shall be borne by the City, and in such case, if the work of opening and recovering is done by the 
Contractor, it shall be considered as extra work and paid for accordingly. 

 
2. Change Orders 

 
 If for any reason it becomes necessary or desirable to change the alignment, dimensions, or design of the 
work, the City shall have the right to issue written change orders therefore.  If the Contractor considers that any 
such change involves extra work, he shall immediately so notify the Engineer in writing, and shall make claim 
for compensation for such work not later than the first day of the month following the month in which the work 
was performed.  If, in the opinion of the Engineer, any change order results in a change in the amount of work 
performed, the contract price shall be adjusted for extra work or omitted work, as the case may be. 
 

3. Contractor’s Employees and Subcontractors 
 
 The Contractor shall at all times be responsible for the adequacy and efficiency of his employees and any 
subcontractor and the latter’s employees.  All workers shall have adequate skill and experience to perform 
properly the work assigned to them. 
 

4. Contractor’s Responsibility for Work 
 
 The Contractor shall be responsible for the proper care and protection of the work, and of all materials 
delivered to the work site, until completion of the work and its final acceptance by the City. 
 
 

5. Performance Bond 
 
 No Performance bond shall be required for this project. 
 

6. Payment Bond 
 

No Payment bond shall be required for this project.    
 
7. Workmen’s Compensation Insurance 

 
 The Contractor shall carry workmen’s compensation insurance for all employees working on or about the 
site of the work, and if any work is subcontracted, the Contractor shall require each subcontractor to carry such 
insurance for all of the latter’s employees, unless they are covered by the Contractor’s insurance. 
 
 
 



8. Insurance Requirements 
 
 CONTRACTOR shall purchase and maintain insurance in amounts of coverage not less than the following 
amounts: 
 
   General Liability:  $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury,  
   (Including operations,  personal injury and property damage.  If     
   products and completed Commercial General Liability Insurance or 
   operations)   other form with a general aggregate limit is   
       used either the general aggregate limit shall 
       apply separately to this project/location or 
       the general aggregate limit shall be twice     
       the required occurrence limit.  
 
   Automobile Liability:  $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury  
       and property damage. 
 
 The Contractor shall deliver to the City, concurrently with the execution of the contract, certificates 
evidencing all insurance required by the contract, and each such certificate shall include a provision to the effect 
that the policy or policies cannot be canceled or materially modified unless the insurer gives the City at least 
fifteen (15) days written notice thereof prior to such cancellation or modification.  
 
 
11.  Prevailing Wages 
Contractor shall pay each laborer, workman or mechanic in accordance with State and Federal Prevailing Wage 
Rates and the California Labor Code. These wage rates are hereby made a part of this contract: 
 

State General Prevailing Wage Determinations in effect on date advertised 
General prevailing wage determination of Journeyman and Apprentice Prevailing Wage Rates can be 
accessed at the following websites: https://www.dir.ca.gov/oprl/DPreWageDetermination.htm 
And http://www.dir.ca.gov/das/publicworks.html  
 
Reference: Labor Code http://www.labor.ca.gov/laborlawreg.htm 
 
Federal Prevailing Wage Determinations in effect on bid date 
http://www.wdol.gov/wdol/scafiles/davisbacon/ca.html 
 

Electronic Certified Payroll Records 
 All contractors must furnish electronic certified payroll records to the Labor Commissioner using the 

online eCPR data system 

 No contractor or subcontractor may be listed on a bid proposal for a public works project unless 
registered with the Department of Industrial Relations pursuant to Labor Code section 1725.5 [with 
limited exceptions from this requirement for bid purposes only under Labor Code section 1771.1(a)]. 

 No contractor or subcontractor may be awarded a contract for public work on a public works project 
unless registered with the Department of Industrial Relations pursuant to Labor Code section 1725.5. 

 This project is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the Department of Industrial 
Relations. 

 The contractor shall post job site notices prescribed by regulation. (See 8 Calif. Code Reg. §16451(d) 
 





REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
             Nevada City CA 95959 
September 23, 2020       www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:   Action Minutes September 9, 2020 Regular City Council Meeting   
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Review and approve regular City Council meeting action minutes of 
September 9, 2020.  
 
CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
The action minutes for the September 9, 2020 are attached for review. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:   Not applicable.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 Regular City Council Meeting action minutes September 9, 2020 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


1 

[Type here] 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
ACTION MINUTES 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 9, 2020 

NOTE:  This meeting is available to view on the City’s website www.nevadacityca.gov – Go to Quick Links 
and Click on Agendas & Minutes and find the Archived Videos in the middle of the screen.  Select the 
meeting date and Click on Video to watch the meeting.  For website assistance, please contact Loree’ 
McCay, Deputy City Clerk at (530) 265-2496, ext 134. 

- City Council Meetings are available on DVD.  To order, contact City Hall - cost is $15.00 per DVD.
- Closed Session Meetings are not recorded.

CLOSED SESSION – 6:00 PM 

1. Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(4) City Attorney, Crystal Hodgson,
and Police Chief, Chad Ellis are requesting a closed session to discuss the potential for
litigation being initiated by the City in two matters.

Action: Staff to proceed as directed. 

REGULAR MEETING – 6:30 PM - Call to Order 

Roll Call:    Present:  Mayor Minett, Vice Mayor Strawser, Council Members Fleming and 
Fernández 
Vacant:  Council Member 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

PROCLAMATIONS: Dr. Johnson, Nevada County Public Health Officer and Jill Blake, 
Director, Nevada County Public Health Department 
Action: This item was pulled from the agenda. 

PRESENTATIONS: 

BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR: 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT (Per Government Code Section 54954.3)
Please refer to the meeting video on the City’s website at www.nevadacityca.gov.

2. COUNCIL MEMBERS REQUESTED ITEMS AND COMMITTEE REPORTS AND FUTURE
AGENDA ITEMS:

3. CONSENT ITEMS:

A. Subject: Accounts Payable Activity Report – June, July and August 2020
Recommendation: Receive and file.

B. Subject: Action Minutes August 21, 2020 Special City Council Meeting
Recommendation: Review and approve special City Council meeting action
minutes of August 21, 2020.

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


2 

[Type here] 
 

 

C. Subject: Action Minutes August 26, 2020 Regular City Council Meeting 
Recommendation: Review and approve regular City Council meeting action 
minutes of August 26, 2020. 

Action: Motion by Strawser, seconded by Fernández to approve items 3A through 3C as 
presented.   
(Approved 4-0, Vacancy 1, Roll call votes ayes; Minett, Strawser, Fleming and Fernández) 
 
4. DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ACTION ITEMS AND UPDATE REPORTS: 
 

A. Subject: Update on State Law Evictions Protections (AB 3088) 
Recommendation: Receive and file. 

Action: No action taken, receive and file. 
 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 
6. OLD BUSINESS:   
 

A. Subject: : Letter Addressing PG&E Tree Removal 
Recommendation:  
1. Finalize list of trees to be reviewed by an arborist; and 
2. Review the draft letter, approve content and authorize the Mayor to sign; and 
3. Direct staff to sign the PG&E encroachment permit request, dated  8/24/20 

Action: Motion by Strawser, seconded by Fernández to add $2,000 to the previously approved 
$5,000 not to exceed for contracting with an arborist to review the finalized list of trees.  
(Approved 4-0, Vacancy 1, Roll call votes ayes; Minett, Strawser, Fleming and Fernández) 
Action: Motion by Strawser, seconded by Fernández to approve the draft letter to PG&E and 
authorize the Mayor to sign. 
(Approved 4-0, Vacancy 1, Roll call votes ayes; Minett, Strawser, Fleming and Fernández) 
Action: Recommendation 3 was pulled from the agenda. 
 
7. NEW BUSINESS: 
 

A. Subject: Presentation by Nevada County Transportation Commission’s Consultant 
Fehr and Peers Regarding Senate Bill 743 Vehicle Miles Traveled Study 
Recommendations  
Recommendation: Receive and file. 

Action: No action taken, receive and file. 
 

B. Subject: Ordinance 2020-16, an Ordinance of the City of Nevada City Adding 
Section 17.80.240 to the Nevada City Municipal Code Regulating Stationary 
Standby Generators and Ordinance 2020-17 an Ordinance of the City of Nevada 
City Amending Section 8.20.90 of the Nevada City Municipal Code in Order to 
Update the City’s Ordinance Pertaining to Emergency Use of Generators 

Recommendation:  
1. Adopt Resolution 2020-65, Approving a Notice of Exemption Related to 

Adoption of Ordinance 2020-16 and Ordinance 2020-17 Updating the City’s 
Municipal Code Pertaining to Emergency Generator Use. 

2. Waive Reading of Ordinance, Read Title Only and Introduce for First 
Reading: Ordinance 2020-16, an Ordinance of the City of Nevada City 
Amending Section 8.20.90 of the Nevada City Municipal Code to Add an 
Exception to the City’s Noise Regulations for the Use of Emergency 
Generators. 



3 

[Type here] 
 

 

3. Waive Reading of Ordinance, Read Title Only and Introduce for First 
Reading: Ordinance 2020-17, an Ordinance of the City of Nevada City Adding 
Section 17.80.240 to the Nevada City Municipal Code Regulating Stationary 
Standby Generators. 

Action: Motion by Fleming, seconded by Strawser to adopt Resolution 2020-65 approving a 
Notice of Exemption related to the adoption of Ordinance 2020-16 and Ordinance 2020-17 
updating the City’s Municipal Code pertaining to Emergency Generator Use.  
(Approved 4-0, Vacancy 1, Roll call votes ayes; Minett, Strawser, Fleming and Fernández) 
Action: Motion by Fleming, seconded by Strawser to waive reading of Ordinance, read by title 
only and introduce for a first reading: Ordinance 2020-16, an Ordinance of the City of Nevada 
City amending Section 8.20.90 of the Nevada City Municipal Code to add an exception to the 
City’s noise regulations for the use of emergency generators.  
(Approved 4-0, Vacancy 1, Roll call votes ayes; Minett, Strawser, Fleming and Fernández) 
Action: Motion by Fernández, seconded by Fleming to waive reading of Ordinance, read by 
title only and introduce for a first reading: Ordinance 2020-17, an Ordinance of the City of 
Nevada City adding Section 17.80.240 to the Nevada City Municipal Code regulating 
stationary standby generators with the following change: “An Architectural Review application 
for all stationary standby generators between 10,000 watts to 18,000 watts” changed to 20,000 
watts. 
(Approved 4-0, Vacancy 1, Roll call votes ayes; Minett, Strawser, Fleming and Fernández) 
 
8. CORRESPONDENCE: 
  
9. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  
 
10. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT:  No report. 
 
11. ADJOURNMENT:  - 9:20 PM 
                
AYES:   MINETT, STRAWSER, FLEMING, FERNÂNDEZ   
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:      
ATTEST:  
        _____________________________ 
        Erin Minett, Mayor 
 
____________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
             Nevada City CA 95959 
September 23, 2020       www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:   Tesla Energy Products Purchase Agreement and California Self Generation 
Incentive Program (SGIP) 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Review, receive and file the attached Tesla Energy Products Purchase 
Agreement and California Self Generation Incentive Program.  
 
CONTACT:   Bubba Highsmith, Department of Public Works Superintendent 

Catrina Olson, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
The California Public Utilities Commission’s (CPUC) Self-Generation Incentive Program 
(SGIP) promotes the use of energy storage through incentives to install battery storage 
systems to a customer’s utility. In preparation for the next wildfire season, CPUC is funding 
more than $1 billion in SGIP that prioritizes communities living in high fire-threat areas and 
low-income and disadvantaged communities. 
 
Within the SGIP there are two higher rebate categories for non-residential customers, the 
Equity incentive program and the Equity Resiliency incentive program. The City qualifies for 
the Equity Resiliency program which covers 100% of the cost, including operations 
and maintenance costs. The sites must meet the following criteria set forth by the CPUC to be 
selected for this program: 
 

• Must be located in a High Fire Threat District (HFTD), and 
• must be a “Critical Facility” which includes water, wastewater or flood control facilities, 

and 
• provides critical services or infrastructure to one or more communities in a HFTD, and 
• at least one of those communities is a disadvantaged community or low-income 

census tract. 
 
This funding is distributed on a first-come, first-served basis through an application process. 
This application process is available to any battery energy storage project, regardless if the 
applicant is a private or public entity. Applications are prioritized by the date they come in, 
with no preference given to local governments. If funding is exhausted before the State 
approves Tesla’s applications for these projects, the agreements can be nullified. 
 
The City has chosen a project that qualifies at the Nevada City Wastewater Treatment Plant.  
Summary of the energy storage system for Nevada City’s Wastewater Treatment plant: 

• 140kW/696kWh system size. 
o 15 hours of backup when fully charged. 

• Cost to Nevada City: $0. 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


• Estimated annual savings: $17,094. 
• Estimated 10 year value: $182,869. 
• Estimated 20 year value: $394,887. 
• Tesla provides 10 years of system operation and maintenance for $0, after 10 

years you can sign up for extended O&M coverage with Tesla or any other 
qualified supplier. 

• System installation timeline: Q2 2021. 
 
In an effort to get an application submitted in a timely manner to be eligible for the available 
funding the City Manager, Catrina Olson signed the Standard Non-Disclosure Agreement, the 
Tesla Energy Products Service Agreement SGIP and the Energy Products Operations and 
Maintenance Agreement and submitted to Tesla September 16, 2020. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:   Not applicable.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 Tesla SGIP Equity Resiliency Contract Documents for the Nevada City Wastewater 

Treatment Plant 
 Tesla Commercial Energy Information 

















































 

    Your Tesla contact: Caleb Patrick  
cpatrick@tesla.com | (650) 350-9314 

 

TESLA COMMERCIAL ENERGY 

 

We take a long-term approach to ensure your energy storage system provides 
maximum performance, simplified integration and all-weather capabilities. You have 
peace of mind knowing that Tesla has successfully deployed 2.5 million kilowatts of 
solar and 2 million kilowatt hours of energy storage around the world. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
City of Nevada City WWTP         
650 Jordan St, Nevada City, CA 95959, US       
         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

    Your Tesla contact: Caleb Patrick  
cpatrick@tesla.com | (650) 350-9314 

 

ENERGY STORAGE SYSTEM RATINGS  

 

 

 

 

Battery Output Rating 140 kW 

Battery Size (3 Packs) 696 kWh 

Battery Value $511,987 

Total Project Cost $0 

Fully Charged Duration  15 hours 

 Average Duration  7.5 hours 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

    Your Tesla contact: Caleb Patrick  
cpatrick@tesla.com | (650) 350-9314 

 

PROPOSED SAVINGS PROJECTIONS 

Battery Energy Storage System Savings 

Estimated Annual 
Electricity Savings 

Estimated Long Term 
Electricity Savings 

 

 

  

10 Year Value $182,869 

20 Year Value $394,887 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Additional Information  
• Specific site/project specifics will need to be confirmed as part of the Site Survey & Permitting Process 
• We recommend that you change to PG&E tariff B-19 Opt S to increase your savings with storage 



 

    Your Tesla contact: Caleb Patrick  
cpatrick@tesla.com | (650) 350-9314 

 

POTENTIAL POWERPACK LOCATION 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City, CA  95959 
September 23, 2020                 www.nevadacityca.gov 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City 
Renewing Goals of the 2015 Energy Action Plan and Adopting the 100% Renewables 
Committee’s Renewable Energy Plan   
 
RECOMMENDATION: Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of 
Nevada City renewing goals of the 2015 Energy Action Plan and adopting the 100% Renewables 
Committee’s Renewable Energy Plan. 
 
CONTACT:  Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
The City Council adopted the Nevada City Energy Action Plan on August 9, 2015, which outlined 
energy reduction strategies only through the year 2020. The EAP endeavors to reduce energy 
consumption in residential and non-residential buildings and operations, and has provided guidance 
to the City and to residents and businesses to participate in community efforts to maximize energy 
efficiency. Many of the goals continue to be relevant beyond 2020 and staff recommends that the 
2015 strategies continue to be implemented through 2050, consistent with the 100% renewables goal 
expressed by City Council through Resolution 2017-49. Council passed Resolution 2017-49 on 
August 9, 2017 establishing a goal of 100% renewable energy for Nevada City and on October 25, 
2017 recognized the 100% Renewables Committee as an independent Charter with a charge of 
helping Nevada City reach this goal.  
 
NEVADA CITY 100% RENEWABLE ENERGY PLAN (REP):  
The Nevada City 100% Renewables Committee has created a 100% Renewables Energy Plan for 
implementing the 2017 Nevada City 100% Renewables Resolution. They are requesting that Council 
adopt their Renewables Energy Plan (REP), at the same time that Council renews the strategies of 
the 2015 EAP.  The REP outlines several goals to strive for by 2030 and additional goals for 2050, 
including adoption of a plan to achieve the 100% renewable energy goals at a future time and to set 
aside funds in the budget to be used toward implementing the REP and for third-party expertise. The 
plan does not provide specific timelines or budget amounts to achieve each goal.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:   
Re-adoption of the 2015 EAP and adoption of the proposed REP do not cause any new construction 
nor impose other changes that would create significant environmental impacts and are not 
considered a “project” pursuant to Section 15060(c)(3) under the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA), because the plans do not involve any commitment to a specific project which may 
result in a potentially significant physical impact on the environment, as contemplated by Title 14, 
California Code of Regulations, Section 15378(b)(4 & 5)).  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  The REP requires that Council commit funds to its implementation and for third-
party expertise, but does not suggest an exact figure.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
 Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City Renewing 

Goals of the 2015 Energy Action Plan and Adopting the 100% Renewables Committee’s 
Renewable Energy Plan 

 2015 Nevada City Energy Action Plan 
 Nevada City 100% Renewable Energy plan (REP) 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
RENEWING GOALS OF THE 2015 ENERGY ACTION PLAN AND ADOPTING 
THE 100% RENEWABLES COMMITTEE’S RENEWABLE ENERGY PLAN   

 
WHEREAS, the City Council adopted the Nevada City Energy Action Plan on August 9, 
2015 which outlines strategies through the year 2020 to reduce energy consumption in 
residential and non-residential buildings as well as municipal facilities and operations, and 
is intended to provide guidance to City staff, and inspire residents and businesses to 
participate in community efforts to maximize energy efficiency; and  
 
WHEREAS, City Council passed Resolution 2017-49 on August 9, 2017 establishing a 
goal of 100% renewable energy for Nevada City and on October 25, 2017 recognized the 
100% Renewables Committee as an independent Charter with a charge of helping 
Nevada City reach this goal;   
 
WHEREAS, many of the goals and targets outlined in the current Nevada City Energy 
Action Plan continue to be relevant in the City’s continued renewable energy goals;  
 
WHEREAS, Scientific observation indicates that average air and ocean temperatures have 
steadily increased globally over the last 100 years due to the combustion of fossil fuels that 
create greenhouse gases,  evidenced by rapid levels of glacial melt, reductions in sea ice, 
and shorter freezing seasons; and 
 
WHEREAS, Nevada City like all foothill communities in the Sierra Nevada, faces 
challenges associated with climate change, including increased frequency and altered 
timing of flooding, increasing reduced mountain snowpack, delayed snow accumulation, 
earlier snow melting and ultimately shortages in runoff and water supply that also may 
increase wildland fire risk; and 
 
WHEREAS, local economies in the Sierra Nevada rely heavily on natural resources for 
tourism, recreation, forestry, agriculture and other industries, and changes in weather 
patterns resulting in significantly warmer temperatures have the potential to adversely 
affect the vitality of the region's natural resources, which in turn directly impacts local 
business; and 
 
WHEREAS, the transition to a low-carbon community reliant on the efficient use of 
renewable energy resources and electrified transportation will provide a range of benefits 
including improved air quality, enhanced public health, increased national and energy 
security, local green jobs, reduced reliance on finite resources and myriad other positive 
outcomes; and 
 
WHEREAS, Nevada City is committed to helping facilitate this transition alongside other 
national and international communities that have prioritized addressing climate change by 
investing in clean, renewable energy to enhance the well-being of current and future 
generations; and 
 
WHEREAS, emissions from electricity generation are currently the largest component of 
both the municipal and community carbon inventories for Nevada City; and 
 



WHEREAS, the Nevada City Energy Action Plan outlines a series of strategies to reduce 
energy consumption in residential and non-residential buildings as well as municipal 
facilities and operations, and is intended to provide guidance to City staff, and inspire 
residents and businesses to participate in community efforts to maximize energy 
efficiency; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of Nevada City does hereby resolve as follows: 
Renewable Energy Goals: 
 

1) Continue to implement the goals and strategies outlined in the 2015 Nevada City 
Energy Action Plan through 2050 pursuant to goals established by Resolution 2017-
49, Exhibit A. 
 

2) Adopt the Nevada City 100% Renewable Energy Plan (REP) to further goals of 
reducing  electricity  use by  28% by 2030 and the goal of 100% Renewable Energy 
by 2050 as established by Resolution 2017-49 and pursuant to the 100% 
Renewables Committee Charter, Exhibit B 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular scheduled meeting of the City Council held on the 
23rd  day of September, 2020 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: 
 
NOES: 
 
ABSENT: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
       _________________________________ 
       Erin Minett, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Crystal V. Hodgson, City Attorney 
City of Nevada City 
 



Resolution 2020-XX, Exhibit A 

Nevada City 
Energy Action Plan 

 
APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL MAY 13, 2015 

 

 

Produced by Sierra Business Council 

Supported by Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) 

In Collaboration with the City of Nevada City 

 

Photo Credit: www.aboutnevadacity.com 

Photo Credit: www.nevadacitychambercom Photo Credit: www.centralcaliforniacyclingcom 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                          page ii  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                          page iii  

Credits and 
Acknowledgements 

 
City Staff 

 
City Council 

 
Planning Commission 

Cindy Siegfried, City Planner Teri Andersen, Mayor Dan Thiem, Chair 
Mark Prestwich, City Manager Jennifer Ray, Vice Mayor Brad Croul, Vice Chair 

 Robert Bergman Pamela Meek 
 Duane Strawser John Parent 
 Evan Phelps Bernice Gonzalez 

 

Sierra Business Council  
Paul Ahrns, Project Manager 
Brenda Gillarde, Senior Planner  
Nicholas Martin, Program Director 

Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E)  
Lisa McNally, Senior Program Manager 
 

Pacific Gas and Electric Company provides a range of comprehensive climate planning assistance to 
local governments, from providing energy usage data and assistance with greenhouse gas 
inventories, to training and guidance on the development and implementation of climate action 
plans. 

This program is funded by California utility customers and administered by PG&E under the auspices 
of the California Public Utilities Commission. 

Legal Notice 

THIS REPORT WAS PREPARED AS A RESULT OF WORK SPONSORED BY THE CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
(“COMMISSION”). IT DOES NOT NECESSARILY REPRESENT THE VIEWS OF THE COMMISSION, ITS EMPLOYEES, OR THE STATE OF 
CALIFORNIA. THE COMMISSION, THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ITS EMPLOYEES, CONTRACTORS AND SUBCONTRACTORS MAKE NO 
WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AND ASSUME NO LEGAL LIABILITY FOR THE INFORMATION IN THIS REPORT; NOR DOES ANY PARTY 
REPRESENT THAT THE USE OF THIS INFORMATION WILL NOT INFRINGE UPON PRIVATELY OWNED RIGHTS. THIS REPORT HAS NOT BEEN 
APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE COMMISSION NOR HAS THE COMMISSION PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THE 
INFORMATION IN THIS REPORT. 

This report was prepared for the City of Nevada City by the Sierra Business Council in partnership 
with PG&E. The authors would like to thank Nevada City staff for providing much of the insight and 
local information necessary for the completion of this report. The authors would also like to 
recognize PG&E for their administrative support of the Report, made possible through the use of 
Public Goods Charge funding. 

 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                          page iv  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                          page v  

Table of Contents 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ........................................................................................................ 1 

CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND ................................................................................................ 4 
Community Profile .................................................................................................................... 4 
Local Energy Efficiency Efforts ............................................................................................... 4 

CHAPTER 2: INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................... 6 
WHY PREPARE AN ENERGY ACTION PLAN? ............................................................................ 6 

Climate Science Basics ............................................................................................................ 6 
Local Climate Change Impacts ................................................................................................ 7 
Regulatory Context ................................................................................................................... 7 
Economic Opportunities .......................................................................................................... 8 
Relationship to CEQA............................................................................................................... 9 

ENERGY ACTION PLAN DEVELOPMENT ................................................................................... 9 
Process ...................................................................................................................................... 9 
Public Outreach ...................................................................................................................... 10 

USERS GUIDE TO THE REPORT ............................................................................................. 10 

CHAPTER 3: BASELINE INVENTORY AND FORECAST ........................................................... 12 
2005 Baseline Community-Wide Inventory .......................................................................... 12 
2020 Business-as-Usual Community-Wide Forecast .......................................................... 12 
2008 Baseline Municipal Operations Inventory ................................................................... 13 

CHAPTER 4: GOALS, STRATEGIES, AND ACTIONS .............................................................. 15 
DEFINITION OF KEY TERMS .................................................................................................. 15 
BASIS FOR ENERGY GOALS AND STRATEGIES ...................................................................... 16 
ENERGY REDUCTION POTENTIAL .......................................................................................... 16 
ENERGY COSTS AND SAVINGS ............................................................................................. 17 
ENERGY ACTION PLAN POTENTIAL ENERGY SAVINGS ........................................................... 18 
ENERGY EFFICIENCY GOALS, STRATEGIES AND ACTIONS ...................................................... 19 

CHAPTER 5: IMPLEMENTATION ......................................................................................... 34 
IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM ................................................................................................ 34 
FUNDING SOURCES AND FINANCING MECHANISMS ................................................................ 36 

U.S. Department of Energy .................................................................................................... 36 
California Energy Commission ............................................................................................. 36 
California Infrastructure and Economic Development Bank ............................................. 37 
California Statewide Communities Development Authority ............................................... 37 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                          page vi  

Pacific Gas and Electric Company ........................................................................................ 37 

APPENDIX A:  NEVADA CITY BASELINE ENERGY USE ......................................................... 38 

APPENDIX B: NEVADA CITY BUSINESS AS USUAL ENERGY USE FORECAST ........................ 40 

APPENDIX C: POTENTIAL ENERGY REDUCTION CALCULATIONS .......................................... 42 

APPENDIX D: EXISTING ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAMS, POLICIES AND CODES ................. 49 

APPENDIX E: PG&E AND OTHER ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAMS .................................... 52 

APPENDIX F: ENERGY EFFICIENCY FINANCING PROGRAMS ................................................. 55 

APPENDIX G: PUBLIC OUTREACH ..................................................................................... 57 
 

  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                          page vii  

Table of Figures 
Summary of Potential 2020 Annual Energy and Cost Savings ................................................................... 2 

Comparison of 2005 Baseline and 2020 Forecasted Annual Energy Use with and without the EAP ...... 2 

Energy Action Plan Content and Organization.......................................................................................... 11 

Baseline and BAU Forecast of Residential and Non-Residential Electricity and Natural Gas Use .......... 13 

2008 Baseline Municipal Operations Consumption ................................................................................. 14 

Summary of Potential 2020 Annual Energy Savings ................................................................................ 18 

EAP Implementation Matrix ...................................................................................................................... 35 

Table A-1: Nevada City 2005 Baseline Residential Energy Use by Energy Source................................... 38 

Table A-2: Nevada City 2005 Baseline Non-Residential Energy Use by Energy Source .......................... 38 

Table A-3:  Nevada City 2008 Baseline Municipal Buildings Energy Use by Energy Source ................... 39 

Table A-4:  Nevada City 2008 Baseline Public Lighting Energy Use by Energy Source ........................... 39 

Table B-1: BAU Residential Energy Use Forecast by Energy Source ........................................................ 40 

Table B-2: BAU Non-Residential Energy Use Forecast by Energy Source ............................................... 40 

Table B-3: Clear Path California BAU Energy Use Forecast Annualized Growth Rates .......................... 41 

Table B-4: BAU Residential Energy Use Forecast Growth Indicators and Annualized Growth Rates ... 41 

Table B-5: BAU Non-Residential Energy Use Forecast Growth Indicators and Annualized Growth Rates
 ............................................................................................................................................................ 41 

Comments from Joint Study Session 1:  August 28, 2014......................................................................... 57 

 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                                                          Executive Summary – page 1  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Nevada City Energy Action Plan (EAP) is a roadmap for expanding energy-efficiency and 
renewable-energy efforts already underway in the City. It builds upon energy-efficiency efforts 
begun in 2010 and work conducted by Sierra Business Council (SBC) from 2010-2015. The document 
focuses on three energy use sectors within the community – residential, non-residential and 
municipal (which is a subset of non-residential). The report only evaluates energy consumed by 
buildings and municipal operations; other energy consuming sectors such as transportation, solid 
waste, etc. are not addressed but could be at a future date. Nevada City owns/operates the City Hall, 
the City Yard, the Fire Station and Fire House, public parks, museums, water delivery, a water 
treatment plant, a wastewater treatment plant, streetlights and park lighting.  

The two primary energy sources consumed by the three community sectors are electricity and 
natural gas which is distributed by Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E). Additionally, there is 
potentially significant propane and other non-utility fuel use in Nevada City though due to data 
limitations this fuel use was not analyzed. According to the baseline inventory conducted for Year 
2005, the community consumed 34 million kilowatt hours (kWhs) of electricity and 1.5 million therms 
of natural gas. Municipal operations in 2008 accounted for 1,103,759 kWhs of electricity consumption 
and cost the City $164,630, while natural gas consumption reached 30,000 therms and cost the City 
$37,415. The forecast for Year 2020 shows a 20% increase in residential energy consumption and an 
11% increase in non-residential energy consumption if no additional energy efficiency actions are 
taken. To date the City’s energy efficiency efforts are saving over 4.3 million kWhs of electricity and 
32 thousand therms of natural gas annually, which underscores the importance of having such 
measures.1 The inventory and forecast work conducted by SBC identifies additional areas where 
significant opportunities exist for additional energy savings. The EAP specifies the actions needed 
to achieve those savings resulting in further reductions in energy consumption and increased energy 
savings for residents, businesses and the local municipal government. 

The City’s total municipal electricity consumption of 1,103,759 kWh is 3% of the community's total 
electricity consumption (34,028,712 kWh), and the City’s total natural gas consumption of 30,000 
Therms is less than 2% of the community’s total natural gas consumption (1,510,999 Therms). While 
the City has undertaken efforts to improve energy efficiency, there are still significant opportunities 
for the City to reduce energy usage and the associated costs, which are mentioned in the previous 
paragraph 

The document is organized into five chapters; the ‘heart’ of the document is contained in Chapters 
4 and 5 (Energy Efficiency Goals, Strategies and Actions, and Implementation). The goals address 
five key areas: 

- Energy efficiency in existing structures 
- Energy performance in new construction 

                                                             
1 Nevada City residential and non-residential energy savings based on projects completed 2006-2012. Source: 
PG&E 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                                                          Executive Summary – page 2  

- Expansion of renewable energy options 
- Energy efficiency in municipal operations 
- Water conservation which reduces energy needed to transport and treat water 

 
The strategies focus on voluntary measures that can be taken by residents, businesses and the local 
government. Key components include developing and disseminating information on existing rebate 
and incentive programs; public outreach via the City’s website and printed materials; training for 
staff, contractors and developers; and partnerships with PG&E and local and regional organizations. 
Energy reduction performance indicators and targets are established for each group of strategies. 
If all the actions are implemented, the EAP would reduce electrical energy used in 2020 by 28% and 
natural gas use by 10%. The estimated energy and cost savings for each strategy area would be as 
follows:  

      Summary of Potential 2020 Annual Energy and Cost Savings 

Strategy Area 
2020 Annual Energy Savings 2020 Annual Cost Savings 

kWh Therms Electricity2 Natural Gas3 
Existing Structures             3,062,584  135,990  $ 776,671  $ 475,965  
New Construction 877,070  28,890  $ 222,425  $ 101,113  
Renewable Energy 6,612,963  11,600  $ 1,677,047  $ 40,600  
Municipal Operations                220,752  6,000 $ 55,983  $21,000 
Water Conservation                  21,436  --  $ 5,436  -- 
Total           10,794,804  182,480 $ 2,737,562 $ 638,678 

 
 

The following table compares 2005 Baseline energy usage, 2020 Business as Usual (BAU) usage and 
potential energy use savings in 2020 with the Energy Action Plan (EAP). 

     Comparison of 2005 Baseline and 2020 Forecasted Annual Energy Use with and without the EAP 

Energy 
Use 

2005 Baseline 2020 BAU without 
the EAP 2020 with the EAP Percent Difference 

Electricity 34,028,712 kWh 38,705,886 kWh 27,911,082 kWh 
(-10,794,804 kWh) 

28% reduction from 2020 
BAU 

Natural 
Gas 1,510,999 therms 1,757,940 therms 1,575,460 therms 

(-182,480 therms) 
10% reduction from 2020 

BAU 
 

Purpose of the Nevada City Energy Action Plan 

The EAP can be used by local residents and business owners to see where they might achieve greater 
energy efficiency in their home or commercial building. The local municipal government can use it 

                                                             
2Assumed average rate of $0.2536 per kWh based on Forecast of PG&E Rates. 
http://www.ci.healdsburg.ca.us/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=8906 
3 Assumed average rate of $3.5 per therm based on extrapolation from PG&E 2015 natural gas forecast. 
http://www.pge.com/tariffs/rateinfo.shtml 

http://www.ci.healdsburg.ca.us/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=8906
http://www.pge.com/tariffs/rateinfo.shtml


Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                                                          Executive Summary – page 3  

to guide decisions about how to make the City’s building and operational infrastructure more energy 
efficient. It can also be used by City staff to prioritize programs to inform, encourage and inspire 
residents and businesses owners to be more energy efficient now and in the future. Exploring and 
implementing energy-efficiency programs creates flexibility for the City in meeting its energy 
demand. This in turn helps the community be more self-sufficient and economically resilient in light 
of probable future increases in energy prices, whether due to market conditions or the regulatory 
environment. Being energy efficient does not compromise the City’s historic character or charm but 
rather enhances its ability to respond to the ever changing external conditions related to energy 
supply and demand. 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                                                    Chapter 1: Background – page 4  

CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND 

Community Profile 

The City of Nevada City is a semi-rural and well-
preserved Gold Rush town, first settled in 1849 and 
incorporated in 1856. It covers an area of 2.2 square 
miles in southwestern Nevada County, roughly 60 
miles northeast of Sacramento. Highway 20 and 
Highway 49 transect and border the community, 
while Deer Creek flows through the City’s center. 
In 2010 the City was home to approximately 3,068 
residents living in 1,332 households with an average 
household size of 2.3. The City has a full-time staff 
of approximately 30 employees and an operating 
budget of $3.2 million. Nevada City owns/operates 
the City Hall, the City Yard, a Fire Station, public parks, museums, water delivery, a water treatment 
plant, a wastewater treatment plant, streetlights, park lighting and other municipal facilities. 
Electricity and natural gas for the community is distributed by Pacific Gas and Electric Company 
(PG&E). 

The climate in Nevada City reflects its location in the Sierra Nevada foothills. Average temperatures 
range from summer highs in the high 80 degrees Fahrenheit to winter lows in the mid 30’s with 
record highs in the 110’s and record lows in the low 20’s. 

Local Energy Efficiency Efforts 

Nevada City has also been dedicated to reducing their carbon footprint and creating a more 
sustainable future for its residents. Summarized below are activities and programs the City has 
undertaken to promote that leadership position. For a full description of programs and activities, 
refer to Appendix D. 

• Completion of Local Government Operations, and Community-wide Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions Inventories.  

• Actions to reduce government operations emissions including a recent $25,000 energy-
retrofit grant award. 

• Lead-by-example solar installations. 
• Purchase of high-efficiency and electric fleet vehicles. 
• Streamlining of solar permitting process. 
• City-wide water conservation program. 
• Commitment to increased walkability of city. 

 

Image Credit: en.wikipedia.org 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                                                    Chapter 1: Background – page 5  

In addition, the 2014 update to the Housing Element of the City’s General Plan supports energy 
efficiency in the following ways: 

 Promoting energy conservation activities throughout the city (p. 6-13) 
 Referring interested parties to the various rebate programs offered by PG&E (p. 6-13) 
 Notifying City residents that energy conservation improvements are available for 

assistance under the City’s residential rehabilitation program to income-based qualified 
households (p. 6-14) 

 Amending the General Plan by incorporating new policies and/or programs that will 
address available energy saving measures into new construction projects (p. 6-14) 

 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 2: Introduction - page 6  

CHAPTER 2: INTRODUCTION 

This chapter discusses the purpose and scope for the Nevada City Energy Action Plan (EAP), the 
regulatory context for energy efficiency planning, how the EAP was developed and provides a user’s 
guide to the document. 

WHY PREPARE AN ENERGY ACTION PLAN? 

Local economies in the Sierra Nevada rely heavily on 
natural resources for tourism, recreation, forestry, 
agriculture and other industries. Changes in weather 
patterns resulting in less precipitation and 
significantly warmer temperatures have the 
potential to adversely affect the vitality of the 
region’s natural resources, which in turn directly 
impacts local business. Reducing a community’s 
demand on the energy grid helps lighten the need for 
new energy generating plants and creates the 

flexibility for the community to more readily meet its energy needs with locally produced renewable 
energy. Retrofitting homes and businesses to be more efficient creates local jobs, reduces energy 
costs, improves air quality, and in combination with increased opportunities for walking and 
bicycling, improves community members’ health. In addition, money not spent on energy can 
instead be spent at local businesses, improving the local economy.  

The Nevada City EAP outlines a series of strategies to reduce energy consumption in residential and 
non-residential buildings as well as municipal facilities and operations. This plan is intended to 
provide guidance to City staff, demonstrate the City’s commitment to energy efficiency and inspire 
residents and businesses to participate in community efforts to maximize energy efficiency and 
reduce the associated air quality impacts of fossil fuel based electricity. 

Climate Science Basics 

Naturally occurring gases 4  dispersed in the atmosphere 
determine the Earth’s climate by trapping solar radiation. This 
phenomenon is known as the greenhouse effect, which is a 
natural process that perpetuates life on earth by keeping the 
planet’s surface warm. Scientific observation indicates that 
average air and ocean temperatures have steadily increased 
globally over the last 100 years. Evidence of this includes rapid 
levels of glacial melt, reductions in sea ice, shorter freezing 
seasons and decreases in snowpack.  

                                                             
4 The primary greenhouse gas (GHG) in the earth’s atmosphere are water vapor, carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide 
and ozone. 

Image Credit: simpleclimate.wordpress.com 

Photo Credit: David McKay 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 2: Introduction - page 7  

Scientific studies suggest that human activities are accelerating the concentration of greenhouse 
gases (GHGs), which affects the global climate. The most significant contributor is the burning of 
fossil fuels for transportation and electricity generation, which introduces large amounts of carbon 
dioxide and other GHGs into the atmosphere. Collectively, these gases intensify the natural 
greenhouse effect, causing global average surface temperatures to rise.5 

Local Climate Change Impacts  

The City of Nevada City, like all foothill communities in the Sierra Nevada, faces challenges associated 
with climate change in the region. Increased frequency and altered timing of flooding will increase 
risks to agriculture, people, ecosystems and infrastructure. Potential impacts on water resources 
include reduced mountain snowpack, delayed snow accumulation, earlier snow melting and 
ultimately shortages in runoff and water supply. Extended droughts may increase wildland fire risk. 
Since local economies in the area rely heavily on these resources for agriculture, tourism, recreation 
and other industries, climate change may negatively affect economic activity in Nevada City, and 
ultimately impact quality of life for community members.  

Regulatory Context 

California is a leader in developing policies to reduce GHG emissions, and these policies are some of 
the drivers behind the completion of GHG inventories and energy efficiency planning at the local 
level. The state’s key efforts are described on the following page.  

 

                                                             
5 Based on IPCC, 2007: Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth 
Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, Pachauri, R.K and Reisinger, A. 
(eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 104 pp. 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 2: Introduction - page 8  

 
 

Economic Opportunities 

One of the potential outcomes of implementing the Nevada City EAP is increased investment in local 
green businesses and technologies which could provide new economic development opportunities 
for the City. The following indicators suggest a robust market for clean economy businesses and 
industries as we move forward to the next decade. 6  New clean economy jobs and business 
opportunities range from water efficiency and recycling to energy and battery technologies as well 
as the transformation of existing industries. All of this creates new economic opportunities for 
communities within the Sierra Nevada region.  

 California has more patent registrations in clean technology than any other state. 

 California leads the nation in energy storage systems development and innovation.  

                                                             
6 2014 California Green Innovation Index, 6th Edition. Next 10. www.next10.org 
http://greeninnovationindex.org/sites/greeninnovationindex.radicaldesigns.org/files/2014-Green-Innovation-
Index.pdf. p. 29, 33-44 

•Title 24, Part 6. Energy Efficiency Standards first adopted in 1978. Ongoing updates. 
Established minimum energy efficiency performance standards for residential and 
nonresidential buildings. Effective July 2014 new energy efficiency construction 
standards cost-effectively increase efficiency by 20% for residential buildings and 25% 
for non-residential buildings.

1978

•Senate Bill 1078.  Established Renewable Portfolio Standards for each of the state's 
investor-owned utilities (IOUs), electric service providers, and community choice 
aggregators to acquire 20% of their electricity from renewable resources by 2010 and 
33%  by 2020.

2002

•Executive Order S3-05.  Governor’s Executive Order. Set GHG reduction targets for 
state agencies at Year 2000 levels by 2010, 1990 levels by 2020 and 80% below 1990 
levels by 2050.

2005

•Assembly Bill 32.  Landmark legislation that requires the California Air Resources 
Board (ARB) to develop regulatory and market mechanisms that will reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions to 1990 levels by 2020.

2006

•Senate Bill 97. Requires lead agencies to analyze GHG emissions and climate change 
impacts under the California Environmental Quality Act.2007

•Senate Bill 375. Requires the California Air Resources Board to establish GHG 
reduction targets for each Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) in California and 
directs each MPO to develop a Sustainable Communities Strategy.

2008

•CALGreen. Enhances sustainable construction practices through mandatory and 
voluntary measures including reduced construction waste, water conservation, non-
toxic sealants and use of renewable materials. Now part of Title 24 and updated on 
same schedule.

2011

http://greeninnovationindex.org/sites/greeninnovationindex.radicaldesigns.org/files/2014-Green-Innovation-Index.pdf
http://greeninnovationindex.org/sites/greeninnovationindex.radicaldesigns.org/files/2014-Green-Innovation-Index.pdf


Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 2: Introduction - page 9  

 Jobs within California’s Core Clean Economy increased by 20% in the last decade 
(January 2002 to 2012) while the total state economy increased 2%. 

 Within California’s Core Clean Economy, the service sector ranked highest (57%) 
followed by manufacturing (13%), installation (11%), supplier (10%) and research and 
development (7%). 

 California’s clean manufacturing jobs over the last decade were up 53%, while total 
state economy manufacturing fell by 21%. 

 

Relationship to CEQA 

The City of Nevada City determined the EAP was categorically exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) per section 15061 (b) (3) of the CEQA guidelines:  

The activity is covered by the general rule that CEQA applies only to projects 
which have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment. 
Where it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility that the activity 
in question may have a significant effect on the environment, the activity is not 
subject to CEQA. 

Information in the document (and related background reports) can be used in environmental 
assessments required for new development projects, thus expediting the project review process. 

ENERGY ACTION PLAN DEVELOPMENT 

Process 

The path to the EAP began in 2010 when the City 
engaged Sierra Business Council (SBC) to conduct a 
GHG inventory of municipal facilities and then 
subsequently in 2011 to conduct a GHG inventory for 
the community, including residential and non-
residential sectors. Energy consumption data was 
gathered for baseline years 2008 (municipal 
operations) and 2005 (community-wide, 
which is the recommended year due to data 
availability). Calculations were performed to estimate baseline emissions using the most current 
methodology and protocols at the time.7 The baseline inventories were presented to the City Council 
in March 2011 and March 2012. 

                                                             
7 The municipal inventory followed the Local Government Operations Protocol and the community inventory 
followed the International Local Government Greenhouse Gas Emissions Analysis Protocol. As part of the EAP 
process the City’s community emissions were updated to meet the recently released United States Community 
Protocol, the new national standard. 

Photo Credit: http://my.theNevada Citynews.com Photo Credit: sacbike.org 

http://my.theloomisnews.com/


Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 2: Introduction - page 10  

In 2013 the City decided to take the information gathered through the baseline inventory process 
and formulate energy strategies that would assist the community in being more energy efficient 
now and in the future.  

In 2014, the baseline inventory data was forecasted out to 2020 using local and regional growth 
projections. The data gathered during the inventory and forecasting process helped identify those 
activities within the community that consumed the most energy (and correspondingly had the 
highest GHG emissions). This information pointed the way to where the greatest energy efficiencies 
could be realized, resulting in a series of goals, strategies and actions the City can undertake to 
reduce energy consumption as well as dollars spent on energy. Performance indicators and targets 
were identified, where appropriate, to be used by the City to measure its progress toward achieving 
greater energy efficiency. 

Public Outreach  

As with any local planning process, community involvement is an essential part of its success. For 
the EAP, input was widely sought within the City to help shape its content and ensure the document 
is relevant and realistic. The public outreach strategy included a community study session (August 
28, 2014), an online survey, information on the City’s website, meeting notices in local newspapers, 
fliers posted in downtown, targeted outreach to local businesses and organizations, and duly 
noticed public meetings before the Planning Commission (April 16, 2015) and City Council (May 13, 
2015).  

 
USERS GUIDE TO THE REPORT 

The EAP can be used as a tool to guide municipal and community decisions about the best ways to 
improve energy efficiency in the home, business, and municipal facilities and operations. It is 
designed as an integrated ‘living’ document that can be modified and augmented as new 
information, programs and energy efficiency technologies become available. The following diagram 
describes the information contained in the five chapters and appendices of the EAP. It provides a 
roadmap to assist the reader in accessing relevant information on existing and future energy 
consumption, policy direction, implementation actions, performance targets and a work plan for 
implementing the EAP. 

 

 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 2: Introduction - page 11  

Energy Action Plan Content and 

Organization 

 

Executive Summary
Provides brief overview of the 

EAP

Chapter 3: Baseline Inventory and 
Forecast

Describes the methodology and results 
of the community-wide and municipal-

operations energy consumption 
inventory for base years 2005 and 

2008, and a community-wide forecast 
to Year 2020

Chapter 5: Implementation
Provides a matrix that serves as a 

roadmap for implementing the 
EAP as well as funding sources. 

The matrix prioritizes actions into 
a 3-year work plan.

Appendices
Contains detailed data, 

sources, calculation 
methodologies, existing PG&E 

programs and potential 
funding sources.

Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and 
Actions

The 'heart' of the document that 
guides and informs decisions about 

energy efficiency. Contains five goals, 
with implementing strategies, actions, 

and performance targets.

Chapter 2: Introduction
Discusses rationale for the EAP, 

climate basics, regulatory 
context, public outreach, and 
how the EAP was developed.

Chapter 1: Background
Describes the Nevada City 

community and energy efficiency 
efforts to date, including 
ordinances and policies.



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 3: Baseline Inventory and Forecast - page 12  

CHAPTER 3: BASELINE INVENTORY AND FORECAST 

This chapter summarizes the 2005 baseline and 2020 forecast of community-wide energy 
consumption as well as the 2008 baseline of municipal-operations energy consumption. SBC 
previously worked with the Nevada City to conduct baseline GHG emissions inventories of the City’s 
municipal operations and community-wide activities and sources. These inventories were conducted 
from 2010-2012, with support from PG&E. The baseline and forecasted energy consumption 
informed the strategies for reducing energy consumption and increasing energy efficiency discussed 
in Chapter 4. It also provides a baseline year against which future progress can be measured.  

2005 Baseline Community-Wide Inventory 

Nevada City’s community-wide energy consumption data is expressed as aggregated residential and 
non-residential energy consumption by energy source. The City’s municipal electricity use is included 
with the community-wide energy usage. Electricity and natural gas consumption were the two 
largest energy sources in the Nevada City built environment.  

2020 Business-as-Usual Community-Wide Forecast  

Nevada City’s community-wide residential and non-residential energy use were forecasted out to 
2020 under a business-as-usual (BAU) scenario. Since the City’s municipal electricity use is included 
with the community-wide energy usage, a separate forecast for municipal energy was not 
completed. The BAU forecast scenario was completed using the Statewide Energy Efficiency 
Collaborative (SEEC) ClearPath California toolkit. The BAU forecast estimates how energy use would 
change from 2005 to 2020 in the absence of any energy efficiency or renewable energy policies or 
programs. The two required inputs for a forecast: baseline energy consumption data and growth 
rates are presented in Appendix A and B respectively. The baseline data was pulled from the 
community-wide GHG emissions inventory. The growth rates were calculated using local and 
regional projections of households and employment. 

The City’s residential energy use was forecasted to increase 20% by 2020 using the projected change 
in households in Nevada City. The annualized growth rates for households in Nevada City were 
calculated based on the actual change in households from 2000 to 2009, and the projected growth 
in new households to meet the 2009-2014 and 2014-2019 Nevada City Regional Housing Needs 
Assessments. (See Appendix B) 

The City’s non-residential energy use was forecasted to increase 11% by 2020 using the projected 
change in employment in Nevada County. The annualized growth rates for employment were 
calculated based on the actual change in employment in Nevada County from 2005 to 2010, as well 
as the forecast for 2020 and 2030 as reported by the California Department of Transportation in the 
long-term socio-economic forecast for Nevada County. (See Appendix B). 

 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 3: Baseline Inventory and Forecast - page 13  

Baseline and BAU Forecast of Residential and Non-Residential Electricity and Natural Gas Use 

 
 

2008 Baseline Municipal Operations Inventory 

Among Nevada City’s municipal operations, the Wastewater Treatment plant consumes the most 
amount of energy, followed by the Water Treatment Plant. A majority of Nevada City’s municipal 
facilities and operations consume both electricity and natural gas, with the most significant being 
the City Hall, Pioneer Park and the Fire Station. 

The City’s total electricity consumption of 1,103,759 kWh is 3% of the community's total electricity 
consumption (34,028,712 kWh), and the City’s total natural gas consumption of 30,000 Therms is less 
than 2% of the community’s total natural gas consumption (1,510,999 Therms). Although the City has 
undertaken efforts to improve energy efficiency, there are still significant opportunities for the City 
to reduce energy usage and the associated costs. In 2008, the City spent over $164,630 on electricity, 
and $37,415 on natural gas. Detailed electricity and natural gas use is presented in Appendix A. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000

 -

 5,000,000

 10,000,000

 15,000,000

 20,000,000

 25,000,000

 30,000,000

Residential
Electricity

Non-Residential
Electricity

Residential
Natural Gas

Non-Residential
Natural Gas

Th
er

m
s

Ki
lo

w
at

t H
ou

rs

2005 Baseline

2020 Forecast

Baseline and BAU Forecast of Residential and Non-Residental 
Electricity and Natural Gas Use



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 3: Baseline Inventory and Forecast - page 14  

2008 Baseline Municipal Operations Consumption 

 
 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

 -

 100,000

 200,000

 300,000

 400,000

 500,000

 600,000

 700,000

Wastewater
Treatment

Plant

Water
Treatment
Plant and

Pumps

City Hall Pioneer Park Fire Station Other
Buildings

Public
Lighting

N
at

ur
al

 G
as

 U
sa

ge
 (T

he
rm

s)

El
ec

tr
ic

ity
 U

sa
ge

 (k
W

h)

Electricity (kwH)

Natural Gas (Therms)

2008 Baseline Municipal Operations Energy Consumption



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 15  

CHAPTER 4: GOALS, STRATEGIES, AND ACTIONS 

This chapter identifies goals, strategies and actions Nevada City can undertake to reduce municipal 
and community energy consumption, energy-related costs and energy-related GHG emissions in 
both the near and far term. The goals, strategies and actions pertain to the energy consumed by 
buildings and facilities in the residential, non-residential and municipal sectors. Other sectors, such 
as transportation and solid waste, are not included in this report but could be addressed in future 
studies. 

The baseline and forecast data indicate that without a plan to reduce energy consumption, the 
community’s energy use and associated costs will continue to increase over time. The community’s 
residential electricity and natural gas use is forecasted to increase by 20% by 2020 and the 
community’s non-residential electricity and natural gas use is forecasted to increase by 11% by 2020. 
The continued increase in non-renewable energy consumption also translates to more dollars spent 
on energy and additional air quality impacts within the region. 

DEFINITION OF KEY TERMS 

Key terms used in this report are defined below to assist in understanding the purpose of each and 
the interconnection between them. Definitions for some non-key terms are footnoted throughout 
the report at the bottom of the relevant page. 

Goal 

An expression of a desired outcome, an ideal future result or condition, based on community 
priorities and vision. Goals are not quantifiable or time-dependent but rather represent the end 
state. 

For example: To improve public safety. 

Strategy 

An intermediate step between a goal and an action. Strategies define specific pathways that, if 
followed, will help achieve the goal. 

For example: Improve lighting conditions in public spaces. 

Action 

Individual activities the jurisdiction will undertake to implement an energy-efficiency strategy. A 
strategy can have several actions.  

For example: Review existing lighting conditions and install new light fixtures where required. 

Performance Indicator 

A quantifiable measure that is used to gauge performance in meeting identified actions. 

For example: Percentage of public space reviewed for safe lighting conditions.  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 16  

Target 

The numerical result that demonstrates achievement of a strategy.  

For example: Fifty percent (50%) of public spaces reviewed by 2020. 

BASIS FOR ENERGY GOALS AND STRATEGIES 

To identify the most appropriate energy-efficiency strategies for the City the following 
documents/resources were reviewed: 

 2005 Community-Wide GHG Emissions inventory, 2008 Government Operations GHG Emissions 
Inventory and forecast of future emissions (prepared by SBC in 2010 – 2012) 

 Nevada City General Plan (as updated January 2014) 
 Nevada City Municipal Code (as updated April 2014) 
 Review of measures underway/in place in Nevada City 
 Review of measures in other similar jurisdictions 
 Meetings/consultation with City staff 
 Public input received from community members 

There are a myriad of measures and practices to reduce energy consumption and emissions. 
Selection of those most appropriate for Nevada City was based on the criteria below and in 
consultation with City staff: 

 Potential of actions to reduce energy use 
 Estimated cost to City to implement actions 
 Estimated costs and savings for residents / business owners 
 Availability of staff resources or other partner organizations to implement 
 Availability of potential funding to assist with implementation 
 Benefits to the community in addition to energy savings (e.g. cost savings, air-quality 
improvement) 

ENERGY REDUCTION POTENTIAL 

The energy reduction potential was calculated for applicable measures using data collected in the 
baseline municipal and community-wide GHG inventories and the energy use forecasts combined 
with the estimated energy savings associated with completion of the applicable 2020 targets. The 
annual energy reduction potential was calculated using top-down methods to estimate energy 
savings achieved in 2020 by meeting the associated 2020 targets. Calculations are documented in 
Appendix C. 

  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 17  

ENERGY COSTS AND SAVINGS 

For the City, the economic implications of implementing the energy efficiency and reduction 
measures primarily involve costs associated with staff time and potential costs associated with 
retaining outside consultants to assist with program implementation. Using the City’s 2013-14 
budget, an estimate was made of low, medium and high cost ranges that could be incurred by the 
City to implement the action measures in the report. The potential costs savings realized from 
implementation of some of the measures were not factored into this range, given the uncertainty 
of program design details and how they would exactly be carried out. The purpose of the cost range 
is to provide a relative measurement for fiscal impact to the City that will assist in prioritizing the 
measures for implementation. For Nevada City, the following cost ranges are used in this report:  

 

Cost to City (annual) Low: 0-$3,000 
Medium: $3,001 - $6,000 
High: $6,001+ 

 

For residents and businesses, some reduction measures do not result in any notable private costs or 
savings. However, wherever possible, analysis and quantification was framed in terms of annual 
costs/savings (or average annual costs/savings). While there are funding sources and financing 
mechanisms available to offset private costs, calculations were based on a hypothetical average and 
did not include potential offsets. Almost all measures with private cost implications result in a return 
on investment in energy cost savings that will accrue over time, thus defraying some of the initial 
investment costs. The strategies were designed with a focus on actions with the highest return on 
investment. 

 

Cost to Resident or Business (annual) 
 

Low:  $0-$100 
Medium:  $101-$250 
High:  $251 or greater 

Savings to Resident or Business (annual) 
 

Low:  $0-$100 
Medium:  $101-$250 
High:  $251 or greater 

 

  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 18  

ENERGY ACTION PLAN POTENTIAL ENERGY SAVINGS 

Potential annual energy savings in 2020 were calculated for each strategy and where applicable 
reported for residential and non-residential energy use. Combined the strategies in the EAP can 
potentially reduce energy use by 10,794,804 kWh and 182,480 therms. 

Summary of Potential 2020 Annual Energy Savings 

Strategy Area Strategy Title 
2020 Annual Energy Savings 

Electricity 
(kWh / Year) 

Natural Gas 
(therms / Year) 

Existing 
Structures 

1.1 
Expand outreach and education to 
increase participation in voluntary 
home energy-efficiency programs. 

Residential  822,141   75,211  

1.2 

Expand outreach and education to 
increase participation in voluntary 
non-residential energy-efficiency 
programs. 

Non-
Residential  2,240,443   60,779  

New 
Construction 

2.1 
Improve compliance with Title 24, 
Part 6 – Green Building and Energy 
Efficiency Standards. 

Residential  111,684   7,050  

Non-
Residential  694,696   18,103  

2.2 
Provide incentives for buildings to 
exceed the current Title 24, Part 6 – 
Energy Efficiency Standards. 

Residential  25,788   2,502  

Non-
Residential  44,902   1,235  

Renewable 
Energy 

3.1 

Evaluate the City’s residential, non-
residential and municipal solar 
potential and assess barriers to 
increased solar energy use. 

Residential  4,220,706   0 

Non-
Residential  2,122,544    0 

3.3 
Encourage new development 
projects to meet 70% of their energy 
needs from renewable resources. 

Residential  60,171   5,837  

Non-
Residential  209,541   5,763  

Municipal 
Operations 

4.1 Improve the energy efficiency of 
existing municipal structures.    53,113   2,807  

4.2 
Evaluate the feasibility of improving 
energy efficiency of traffic signals 
and public lighting. 

Public 
Lighting  23,400   2,559  

4.3 
Evaluate the feasibility of improving 
energy efficiency of wastewater and 
potable water systems. 

   144,239   634  

Water 
Conservation 

5.1 Encourage residents and businesses 
to conserve water used indoors.     11,508    

5.2 Encourage residents and businesses 
to conserve water used outdoors.    9,928    

Total Potential 2020 Annual Energy Savings 10,794,804 182,480 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 19  

ENERGY EFFICIENCY GOALS, STRATEGIES AND ACTIONS 

The goals and strategies in this section are focused on improving the energy efficiency of existing 
and future buildings, reducing costs associated with energy consumption in municipal buildings and 
operations, and reducing the carbon intensity of the City’s energy sources. The goals were designed 
with the California’s preferred “loading order” in mind for meeting energy demand: first cost-
effective energy efficiency, then cost-effective renewable energy, and finally conventional energy 
sources. 

SUMMARY OF GOALS AND STRATEGIES 
GOAL 1: INCREASE ENERGY EFFICIENCY IN EXISTING STRUCTURES 
 Strategy 1.1: Expand outreach and education to increase participation in voluntary home 

energy-efficiency programs. 
 Strategy 1.2: Expand outreach and education to increase participation in voluntary non-

residential energy-efficiency programs. 
 Strategy 1.3: Identify and promote programs that help finance energy-efficiency and 

renewable-energy projects. 

GOAL 2: INCREASE THE ENERGY PERFORMANCE OF NEW CONSTRUCTION 
 Strategy 2.1: Improve compliance with Title 24 Green Building and Energy Efficiency 

Standards. 
 Strategy 2.2: Provide incentives for buildings t0 exceed the current Title-24 Energy 

Efficiency Standards. 
 Strategy 2.3: Reduce the heat island effect and related summer heat gain in residential and 

non-residential projects. 

GOAL 3: INCREASE RENEWABLE ENERGY USE  
 Strategy 3.1: Evaluate the City’s residential, non-residential and municipal solar potential 

and assess barriers to increased solar energy use. 
 Strategy 3.2: Develop a comprehensive renewable energy program that provides outreach, 

financing, and technical assistance. 
 Strategy 3.3: Encourage new development projects to meet 70% of their energy needs from 

renewable resources. 

GOAL 4: INCREASE ENERGY EFFICIENCY IN MUNICIPAL STRUCTURES AND OPERATIONS 
 Strategy 4.1: Improve the energy efficiency of existing municipal structures. 
 Strategy 4.2: Evaluate the feasibility of improving the energy efficiency of public lighting. 
 Strategy 4.3: Evaluate the feasibility of improving the energy efficiency of the potable 

water and wastewater infrastructure. 

GOAL 5: INCREASE COMMUNITY WATER CONSERVATION AND EFFICIENCY TO REDUCE 

ASSOCIATED ENERGY USE 
 Strategy 5.1: Encourage residents and businesses to conserve water used indoors. 
 Strategy 5.2: Encourage residents and businesses to conserve water used outdoors. 

 

  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 20  

GOAL 1: INCREASE ENERGY EFFICIENCY IN EXISTING STRUCTURES 

Approximately 80% of the housing stock in Nevada City was built prior to the 
adoption of California’s Title 24 energy standards in 1978 and the non-
residential building stock is likely similarly dated. Improving the energy 
efficiency of existing buildings will save homeowners and businesses money 
by reducing their long-term energy costs. The City will leverage existing 
resources to expand education and outreach programs to promote energy 
efficiency in existing residential and non-residential structures. 

 
Strategy 1.1: Expand outreach and education to increase participation in 
voluntary home energy-efficiency programs. 

Residential energy-efficiency improvements have the potential to reduce 
energy bills and GHG emissions. The City will continue to partner with PG&E, 
Nevada County, the Energy Upgrade California alliance and other community 
organizations to leverage existing resources and expand public education 
and outreach campaigns that encourage residents to voluntarily make 
energy-efficiency improvements within their homes and to take advantage 
of the low-cost energy-efficiency financing programs described in Strategy 
1.3 below. As part of the outreach program, the City will include on its 
website information on available energy-efficiency rebates and incentive 
programs. The website will also link to local case studies of homes that have 
implemented cost-effective, energy-efficiency improvements when available. 

 
 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME 

TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 
Continue to partner with PG&E and Project Go 
Inc. to activate programs for income-eligible 
Nevada City residents. 

Short-Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning & 
Building8 

Departments 

2 

Continue to partner with PG&E, the Energy 
Upgrade California alliance and other community 
organizations to increase participation in energy 
efficiency rebates and incentive programs. 

Short-Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning & 
Building 

Departments 

3 
Include on the City’s website information on and 
links to residential energy-efficiency rebates, 
incentives, and case studies. 

Short-Term 
(1-2 years) 

City Manager’s 
Office 

 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 

1 Percentage of households participating in 
energy-efficiency rebate programs. 30% participating by 2020 

2 Percentage of households achieving an 
improvement in building energy efficiency. 

30% achieving 30% energy 
savings by 2020 

3 Number of households achieving an 
improvement in building energy efficiency 434 Existing Households 

                                                             
8 Refers to Nevada County building department 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

822,141 kWh 
75,211 therms 

Cost to City: 

Low to Medium 

Cost to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

Low to High         
(depending on finance 

program) 

Savings to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

Low to High         
(depending on finance 

program) 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Energy Costs 
Improved Air Quality 

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

Partnerships with 
Organizations and City 

Funds  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 21  

Strategy 1.2: Expand outreach and education to increase participation in 
voluntary non-residential energy-efficiency programs. 

Investments in building energy-efficiency retrofits can save considerable 
amounts of energy and reduce a business’s operational costs. The greatest 
barriers to these improvements are lack of information about efficiency 
practices and scarcity of low-cost financing for the initial capital costs. 
 
In partnership with PG&E, SBC and the Sierra Nevada Energy Watch program 
(SNEW), and local business organizations the City will provide outreach 
programs aimed at maximizing voluntary energy conservation within 
community businesses. These programs will target specific commercial 
sectors such as restaurants, supermarkets, retail, office, and manufacturing 
to provide useful energy and cost savings recommendations. The program 
will encourage businesses to conduct benchmarking 9, energy audits and 
implement energy-efficiency projects. The City will include on its website 
information on energy-reduction programs specifically for commercial and 
industrial businesses. Case studies of businesses that implemented cost-
effective, energy-efficiency improvements can be showcased on the website, 
focusing on those in Nevada City when possible. 

 
 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 Partner with PG&E and SBC to expand the 
SNEW program in Nevada City. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

City Manager’s 
Office 

2 
Provide links on the City’s website to tools 
that demonstrate the financial benefits of 
efficiency upgrades to local businesses. 

Short-Term 
(1-2 years) 

City Manager’s 
Office 

3 

Include on the City’s website information on 
and links to non-residential energy-
efficiency rebates, incentives, and case 
studies. 

Short-Term 
(1-2 years) 

City Manager’s 
Office 

 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 

1 Number of businesses served by SNEW with 
energy-efficiency improvements. 186 served by 2020 

2 Percentage of businesses participating in 
energy-efficiency rebate programs. 30% participating by 2020 

3 Percentage of businesses achieving an 
improvement in building energy efficiency. 

30% achieving 30% energy savings 
by 2020 

                                                             
9 Energy benchmarking compares a building’s energy performance against that of 
similar buildings. 

 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

2,240,443 kWh 
60,779 therms 

Cost to City: 

Low to Medium 

Cost to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

Low to High         
(depending on finance 

program) 

Savings to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

Low to High         
(depending on finance 

program) 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Energy Costs 
Improved Air Quality 

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

Partnerships with 
Organizations and City 

Funds  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 22  

Strategy 1.3: Identify and promote programs that help finance energy 
efficiency and renewable energy projects.  

The up-front costs of energy efficiency improvements can be a considerable 
barrier for many homeowners and businesses. However there are numerous 
options to address this challenge, including PG&E’s on-bill financing program, 
low interest loans, energy-efficient mortgages, and Property Assessed Clean 
Energy (PACE) programs. Nevada City currently has an approved PACE 
program. 
 
One example, on-bill financing, works in conjunction with PG&E’s energy 
efficiency rebate and incentive programs to eliminate upfront costs. The cost 
of energy-efficiency retrofits is amortized on a property’s monthly energy 
bills. The program helps eligible customers pay for energy efficient retrofit 
projects with zero-interest, zero-penalty loans. Loan payments are included 
on the customer’s monthly utility bills and are set to not exceed the energy 
savings (in dollars) realized from the energy-efficiency retrofit. For further 
information refer to this report’s implementation section and appendices.  
 
Another example, Property Assessed Clean Energy (PACE) programs are an 
innovative financing tool that allows residential and non-residential property 
owners to receive financing for energy-efficiency, clean-energy and water-
efficiency projects, which they repay through a voluntary special assessment 
on their property tax bill. There are several organizations in California that 
provide cities and counties in California with access to PACE financing 
programs at no-cost to the local governments. 
 
The City will partner with PG&E, community organizations and local banks to 
identify and promote existing and potential financing programs. The City will 
include links to financing programs on its website. 
 
 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 

Partner with PG&E, community 
organizations and local banks to implement 
PACE financing and promote existing 
financing programs. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) City Manager’s Office 

2 
Include on the City’s website descriptions 
of and links to existing financing programs 
for energy efficiency upgrades. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) City Manager’s Office 

 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 
1 N/A N/A 

 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

 Supports Strategy 1.1 and 
1.2 

Cost to City: 

Low to Medium 

Cost to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

Low to High         
(depending on finance 

program) 

Savings to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

Low to High         
(depending on finance 

program) 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Energy Costs 
Improved Air Quality 

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

Partnerships with 
Organizations, Local Banks 

and City Funds



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 23  

GOAL 2: INCREASE THE ENERGY PERFORMANCE OF NEW CONSTRUCTION 

New buildings offer a significant opportunity to achieve high levels of energy 
efficiency through advanced materials and design. The City will work with 
developers and contractors to improve compliance with existing energy and 
green building standards and promote measures to exceed the energy 
standards. The City will also review the potential for incentives for buildings 
that exceed the Title 24 Energy Efficiency Standards. 

 
Strategy 2.1: Improve compliance with Title 24 Green Building and Energy 
Efficiency Standards. 

The 2013 revisions to the Title 24 Green Building (Part 11) and Energy 
Efficiency Standards (Part 6) help make new construction significantly more 
energy efficient. The Energy Standards are expected to be 25% more efficient 
than previous standards for residential construction and 30% more efficient 
for non-residential construction according to the California Energy 
Commission.10 The California Green Building Standards include mandatory as 
well as voluntary green building measures that also have energy saving 
benefits. Assisting developers and contractors in understanding the 
standards will help them achieve higher efficiencies on their projects. The 
energy reduction potential is based on full compliance with the standards. 
 
The City will provide opportunities for building officials and planning 
department staff to attend Title 24 energy and green building trainings as 
well as promote trainings and educational materials to contractors and 
developers. EnergyCodeACE and PG&E offer free Title 24 Part 6 tools, 
trainings and resources to assist the building industry, related stakeholders 
and the public to comply with the 2013 Building Energy Efficiency Standards. 
 
 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 
Provide opportunities for City building officials 
and planning department staff to attend Title 
24 trainings. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning & 
Building 

Departments 

2 
Include links to Title 24 energy and green 
building trainings and educational resources on 
the City’s website. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning & 
Building 

Departments 
 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 

1 Percentage of City staff that attended Title 24 
energy and green building trainings.  

100% of Planning & Building 
staff by 2020 

2 Percentage of New Construction complying 
with Title 24. 

100% of New Construction by 
2020 

                                                             
10 http://www.energy.ca.gov/releases/2012_releases/2012-05-
31_energy_commission_approves_more_efficient_buildings_nr.html 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

806,380 kWh 
25,153 therms 

Cost to City: 

Low 

Cost to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

None 

Savings to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

High 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Energy Costs 
Improved Air Quality 

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

Partnerships with 
Organizations and City 

Funds 

 
 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 24  

Strategy 2.2: Provide incentives for buildings to exceed the current Title 24 
Energy Efficiency Standards. 

Providing incentives for energy-efficient buildings, such as expedited permit 
processing, encourages developers to explore incorporating energy- 
efficient building features into their projects, which can save the property 
owner money over the life of the building. Reduced permitting times can be 
an effective incentive because it can translate to significant savings for 
developers that are paying interest on construction or bridge loans during 
the permit approval process. 
 
The City will encourage Nevada County to determine the feasibility of 
providing incentives or awards for buildings that exceed the current Title 24 
Energy Efficiency Standards. The City will provide information to contractors 
and developers on available incentives and education resources related to 
energy efficiency and green building. The City’s website will include 
information on available incentives and educational resources. 
 
 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 

Encourage Nevada County to determine 
the feasibility of providing incentives or 
awards for new buildings that exceed Title 
24 energy standards. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

2 

If feasible, encourage Nevada County to 
establish expedited permit processing for 
projects that exceed Title 24 energy 
standards by 30%. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

3 

Explore incentives that encourage 
applicants to exceed Title 24 energy 
standards. Research what other 
jurisdictions have implemented. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 

1 Percentage of new residential housing 
units exceeding Title 24 energy standards. 

15% of new buildings exceeding 
energy standards by 30% by 2020 

2 
Percentage of new non-residential 
buildings exceeding Title 24 energy 
standards. 

15% of new buildings exceeding 
energy standards by 15% by 2020 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

70,689 kWh 
3,737 therms 

Cost to City: 

Low 

Cost to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

None 

Savings to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

High 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Energy Costs 
Improved Air Quality 

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

Partnerships with 
Organizations and City 

Funds 

 
 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 25  

Strategy 2.3: Reduce the heat island effect11 and related summer heat gain in 
residential and non-residential projects.  

Trees, shade structures, cool (high albedo / solar reflectance) paving and 
roofing materials reduce the amount of solar energy absorbed and therefore 
temperature of rooftops and parking lots. By increasing the use of shading 
and cool paving and roofing materials it is possible to reduce heat gain in 
residential buildings and commercial centers. This decrease in ambient air 
temperatures and reduced heat gain in warm summer months can reduce 
the amount of energy required for air conditioning.  
 
Requirements could include a) tree standards for existing streets and 
parking lots; b) heat gain mitigation requirements for new parking lots 
(through the use of shade structures, trees or cool pavement, etc.); c) cool 
roofing requirements for new construction. Shade structures can also 
accommodate solar panels thus serving a dual purpose. 
 
The City will develop design guidelines and municipal codes to reduce 
cooling loads through the use of shade trees, shade structures, cool 
pavement and cool roofs in new construction. 
 
 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME 

TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 

Develop landscaping ordinance to include parking lot 
heat-gain mitigation design guidelines. Any new 
design guidelines will conform to existing historic 
district requirements. 

Near Term 
(3-5 years) 

Planning & 
Building 

Departments 

2 

Require new development projects with parking lots 
to mitigate heat gain through the use of shade trees, 
shade structures with or without solar arrays, or cool 
pavement. 

Near Term 
(3-5 years) 

Planning & 
Building 

Departments 

3 

Review existing landscape ordinance to determine if 
changes are needed to strengthen the focus on shade 
trees and their energy benefits, including guidance on 
tree types, planting, and maintenance. 

Near Term 
(3-5 years) 

Planning & Public 
Works 

Departments 

4 

Promote the installation of solar shade structures by 
requiring new development projects outside the 
City’s historic district with more than 80 spaces to 
obtain and submit a quote for solar shade structures 
with permit application. 

Near Term 
(3-5 years) 

Planning & 
Building 

Departments 

 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 
 N/A N/A 

                                                             
11 Increase in ambient air temperature due to excess heat created by non-permeable 
surfaces (such as roofs and pavement) being exposed to high temperatures during 
hot sunny days. 

 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

 Supports Strategies 2.1 and 
2.2 

Cost to City: 

Medium to High 

Cost to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

None 

Savings to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

Medium 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Energy Costs 
Improved Air Quality 

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

Partnerships with 
Organizations and City 

Funds 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 26  

GOAL 3: INCREASE RENEWABLE ENERGY USE  

Building rooftops and parking lots provide excellent opportunities for solar 
energy generation. In particular, non-residential and municipal facilities tend 
to have large, flat roofs that are well suited for solar equipment. The City will 
evaluate the local solar market potential and develop a comprehensive solar 
program that encourages the development of renewable energy. Local 
renewable-energy projects benefit the City’s economy by creating jobs and 
reducing energy costs. 

 
Strategy 3.1: Evaluate the City’s residential, non-residential and municipal 
solar potential and assess barriers to increased solar energy use. 

To facilitate installation of renewable energy systems, the City will evaluate 
the solar potential within Nevada City, taking into account design constraints 
in the Historic District. The City will also formulate and evaluate strategies 
needed to expand solar development. The City will review the existing 
permitting process and identify the current barriers to solar development. A 
streamlined permitting process using existing best practices will be 
developed to further promote and expedite the installation of solar systems. 
 
The American Solar Transformation Initiative (ASTI) provides no-cost 
planning assistance to local governments in California to develop a Solar 
Roadmap for their communities. The program provides participating local 
governments with an assessment of local solar market potential, estimated 
economic and environmental impacts, assessment of current solar processes 
and customized solar roadmaps to accelerate solar installations. 

 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

6,343,251 kWh 

Cost to City: 

Low to High 

Cost to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

None to High         
(depending on finance 

program) 

Savings to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

None to High         
(depending on finance 

program) 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Energy Costs 
Improved Air Quality 

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

American Solar 
Transformation Initiative 

and City Funds  

 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 
Evaluate the residential, non-residential 
and municipal solar potential in the 
community. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) Planning Department 

2 
Review existing permitting process and 
identify barriers to solar development.  

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

3 Develop streamlined permitting process 
for solar developments. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 

1 kWs of solar installed on residential 
structures. 2,379 kWs by 2020 

2 Number of homes installing solar systems 579 Households by 2020 

3 kWs of solar installed on non-residential 
structures. 1,197 kWs by 2020 

4 Number of non-residential structures 
installing solar systems 

152 Non-Residential Structures by 
2020 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 27  

Strategy 3.2: Develop a comprehensive renewable energy program that 
provides outreach, financing, and technical assistance. 

Outreach efforts will aim to maximize community participation in renewable 
energy generation and emphasize energy cost savings. The program will 
make available, information on how home and business owners can 
incorporate solar hot water heaters and solar photovoltaic systems into their 
living and working environments. Solar water heating is a proven technology 
that has a short payback period, providing owners with cost savings and two 
to three year paybacks, when solely owner-financed. 
 
The City will maintain a page of their website dedicated to renewable energy 
programs with tools available for making informed decisions on renewable 
energy, financing options and the permitting process. The American Solar 
Transformation Initiative provides participating local governments with a 
jurisdiction-specific public landing page for community education, including 
tools to evaluate the costs of solar projects and to request and compare 
quotes from local and regional solar vendors. The City will work with PG&E, 
community organizations and local banks to expand and promote available 
financing programs. 
 
 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 

Partner with PG&E and community 
organizations to provide educational 
materials and tools to help owners make 
informed decisions about the costs and 
benefits of renewable energy projects. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

2 

Update the City’s website with links and 
tools to evaluate renewable energy 
systems and how to request quotes from 
local and regional solar vendors. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) City Manager’s Office 

3 
Partner with PG&E, community 
organizations and local banks to expand 
and promote available financing options. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 
 N/A N/A 

 

 

 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

Supports Strategy 3.1 

Cost to City: 

Low to Medium 

Cost to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

None 

Savings to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

None 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Energy Costs 
Improved Air Quality 

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

American Solar 
Transformation Initiative 

and City Funds 

 

  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 28  

Strategy 3.3: Encourage new development projects to meet 70% of their 
energy needs from renewable resources. 

Solar water heating (SWH) and photovoltaic solar systems (PV) are two 
proven technologies that can be used to replace traditional energy use in the 
built environment. Commercial-scale SWH systems are designed to provide 
large quantities of hot water using solar energy. A typical SWH system 
includes roof or wall-mounted solar collectors that work with a pump, heat 
exchanger, and storage tanks. SWH systems can dramatically reduce the 
amount of natural gas or electricity used for heating water, lowering the 
fossil-fuel energy use associated with water heating. 
 
Solar PV systems have reduced in cost significantly over the last decade and 
will often have payback periods of 8 to 15 years. Additionally, there are new 
financing mechanisms; such as power purchase agreements, solar leases and 
Property Assessed Clean Energy financing, available where property owners 
can receive the benefits of solar power with little to no upfront costs. The 
federal renewable energy tax credit provides homeowners with a tax credit 
for 30% of qualified expenditures. There are incentives for non-residential 
buildings as well. The incentives are currently set to expire on December 31, 
2016. 
 
Providing recognition or awards for projects that will meet 70% of its energy 
needs from renewable sources will further incentivize this program. 
 
 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 

Encourage Nevada County to determine 
the feasibility of providing incentives or 
awards for new buildings that meet 70% of 
energy needs from renewable sources. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

2 

Provide information to contractors and 
developers on the current incentives for 
renewable energy developments during 
plan review. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 

1 
Percentage of new residential construction 
that meets 70% of energy needs with 
renewable energy. 

15% of residential new construction 
by 2020 

2 
Percentage of new non-residential 
construction that meets 70% of energy 
needs with renewable energy. 

15% of non-residential new 
construction by 2020 

 

 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

269,712 kWh 
11,600 therms 

Cost to City: 

Low to Medium 

Cost to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

None to High         
(depending on finance 

program) 

Savings to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

None to High         
(depending on finance 

program) 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Energy Costs 
Improved Air Quality 

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

Partnerships with 
Organizations, American Solar 
Transformation Initiative and 

City Funds  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 29  

GOAL 4: INCREASE ENERGY EFFICIENCY IN MUNICIPAL STRUCTURES AND 
OPERATIONS  

Measures undertaken by the City to improve energy efficiency not only 
reduce energy costs but also set an example for the local community and 
surrounding areas. The 2008 municipal operations inventory indicated that 
the City consumed 1,103,759 kWh of electricity in municipal buildings, water 
and wastewater facilities, and public lighting. The two largest consumers 
were wastewater treatment (55%) and buildings/facilities (24%). Additionally 
the City consumed 30,000 therms of Natural Gas, the majority of which was 
consumed by buildings/facilities (47%) and public lighting (43%). Installing 
Energy-Star rated equipment, lighting controls and programmable 
thermostats can reduce this energy use. Energy use can also be tracked by 
benchmarking municipal buildings with EPA’s Portfolio Manager. 
 

Strategy 4.1: Improve energy efficiency of existing municipal structures. 
In 2010, the City received an Energy Efficiency Block Grant award to replace 
a 5-ton HVAC system, upgrade interior lighting in four buildings and install 
occupancy sensors. The City will establish a purchasing policy that requires 
new electrical equipment to be Energy Star rated (or similar energy usage 
rating). The City will benchmark municipal facilities using the free EPA Energy 
Star Portfolio Manager software to track energy use and determine the 
efficiency of existing facilities. The facilities with the greatest energy use or 
highest energy intensity will be targeted for energy audits and retro-
commissioning 12  to optimize energy use and identify energy-efficiency 
opportunities. 

 

                                                             
12 Retro-commissioning is a systematic process to improve an existing building’s energy 
performance and occupants comfort through a whole-building systems approach 

 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

53,113 kWh 
2,807 therms 

Cost to City: 

Low to High 

Cost to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

None 

Savings to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

None 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Energy Costs 
Improved Air Quality 

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

Partnerships with 
Organizations, Energy 

Service Companies and City 
Funds 

 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 
Establish a purchasing requirement that all new 
electrical equipment be Energy Star rated when 
available. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

City Manager’s 
Office 

2 Benchmark municipal facilities using the EPA 
Energy Star Portfolio Manager. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

City Manager’s 
Office 

3 Conduct energy audit and retro-commissioning 
of municipal facilities. 

Near Term 
(3-5 years) 

City Manager’s 
Office with SBC 

Guidance 
 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 
1 Purchasing policy in place. 2015 
2 Benchmark municipal facilities. 2015 
3 Audit and retro-commission municipal facilities. 2017 

4 Percentage of existing buildings energy use 
reduced. 

20% of energy use reduced by 
2020 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 30  

Strategy 4.2: Evaluate the feasibility of improving energy efficiency of public 
lighting. 

 In 2008, the City used 117,000 kWh for street lighting spending about 
$33,300 on outdoor lighting. Additionally, the City consumed 12,797 therms 
of natural gas for decorative streetlights spending about $15,900. The City 
will determine the feasibility and evaluate the cost-effectiveness of 
converting street lights and other public lighting to higher efficiency lighting 
such as LEDs. Additionally, the City will evaluate the feasibility of improving 
the efficiency of the decorative natural gas lights. 
 
PG&E offers rebates for the replacement of streetlights with LEDs and full 
turnkey LED replacement services to local governments. 

 
 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 

Evaluate cost-effectiveness of upgrading 
the remaining street lights to energy 
efficient LEDS. Identify phasing and 
funding sources to offset costs. 

Near Term 
(3-5 years) 

Public Works 
Department 

City Manager’s Office 

2 
Evaluate feasibility of improving the 
efficiency of the decorative natural gas 
street lights.  

Near Term 
(3-5 years) 

Public Works 
Department 

City Manager’s Office 
 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 

1 Street light upgrade. 100% upgrade by 2020 

2 Percentage of public lighting energy use 
reduced. 20% of energy use reduced by 2020 

 

 

 

 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

23,400 kWh 
2,559 therms 

Cost to City: 

Low to High 

Cost to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

None 

Savings to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

None 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Energy Costs 
Improved Air Quality 

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

Partnerships with 
Organizations, PG&E and 

City Funds 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 31  

Strategy 4.3: Evaluate the feasibility of improving the energy efficiency of the 
potable water and wastewater infrastructure. 

 In 2008, the City used 116,954 kWh of electricity for potable water treatment 
and delivery and 604,240 kWh of electricity for wastewater treatment 
spending about $15,600 on potable water and $71,600 on wastewater. 
Additionally, the City consumed 3,170 therms of natural gas at the 
wastewater treatment plant spending about $4,000. The City will require 
energy efficiency analysis in all potable water and wastewater planning 
documents and facility upgrades by including energy efficiency provisions in 
RFPs the City releases for work. 
 
The City will also benchmark the potable water and wastewater facilities 
using the free EPA Energy Star Portfolio Manager software and Energy Use 
Assessment Tool to track energy use, conduct utility bill analysis and identify 
efficiency opportunities. The City will evaluate the feasibility of conducting 
audits of the potable water and wastewater system to identify energy 
efficiency improvements to pumps and treatment plants. Additionally, the 
City will implement a leak detection program to improve efficiency of the 
distribution and collection systems. The city will also evaluate the feasibility 
of using the biogas produced at the wastewater treatment plant to offset 
the natural gas or electricity usage required at the plant. PG&E offers 
technical assistance incentives and rebates for the installation of energy 
efficient equipment to local governments.  

 
 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 
Require energy efficiency analysis in all 
potable water and wastewater planning 
documents and facility upgrades. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Public Works 
Department 

City Manager’s 
Office 

2 

Benchmark potable water and 
wastewater treatment facilities using 
EPA’s Portfolio Manager and Energy Use 
Assessment Tool.  

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Public Works 
Department 

City Manager’s 
Office 

3 

Evaluate the feasibility of conducting 
energy audits and leak detection 
programs including the use of biogas for 
energy at the wastewater plant. 

Near Term 
(3-5 years) 

Public Works 
Department 

 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 

1 Energy Efficiency RFP Policy Complete 2016 

2 Potable water and wastewater facilities 
benchmarked 2016 

3 Percent of potable water and 
wastewater facilities energy use reduced  

20% reduction in energy use by 
2020 

 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

144,239 kWh 
634 therms 

Cost to City: 

Low to High 

Cost to Resident / 
Building Owner: 

None 

Savings to Resident / 
Building Owner: 

Low 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Energy Costs 
Improved Air Quality 

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

Partnerships with 
Organizations, PG&E and 

City Funds 

  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 32  

GOAL 5: INCREASE COMMUNITY WATER CONSERVATION AND EFFICIENCY TO 
REDUCE ASSOCIATED ENERGY USE 

The state of California’s official goal is to reduce per capita water use by 20% 
by 2020. In a typical California home the major indoor water users are toilets 
(33%), showers (22%), faucets (18%), washing machines (14%), and leaks (12%). 
Dishwashers rank last – 1%.13 Given that indoor water is delivered to a few, 
readily identifiable appliances, it is easy to target those with the greatest 
water conservation potential. Since it typically requires significant energy to 
source, treat and deliver water to community members; water conservation 
measures have the effect of reducing the amount of energy that the City 
needs to provide water. 

 
Strategy 5.1: Encourage residents and businesses to conserve water used 
indoors.  

The measures below focus on those most readily implementable in light of 
existing rebate/retrofit programs. Based on the 2013 study referenced in the 
footnote below, use of more water efficient toilets, showers, faucets, 
washing machines and leak detection could reduce water usage by 15 gallons 
per capita per day (GPCD), a 25% reduction from typical daily residential water 
usage of 62 GPCD. 
 
The City will continue to encourage residents and businesses to voluntarily 
reduce their water usage. The City will work with Nevada Irrigation District 
(NID) and PG&E to explore the feasibility of implementing new water 
efficiency programs. Programs could include a toilet swap event or free low-
flow showerhead giveaways. 

 

                                                             
13 California Water Plan Update, Chapter 3.  Urban Water Use Efficiency. 2013. 
http://www.water.ca.gov/calendar/materials/vol3_urbanwue_apr_release_16033.pdf 
14 Urban and agricultural water suppliers who do not meet the 20% reduction required 
by SB X7-7 (enacted in 2009) will not be eligible for state water grants or loans. 

 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

11,508 kWh 

Cost to City: 

Low 

Cost to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

Low  

Savings to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

Low 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Water Use, 
Reduced Wastewater Costs, 

Reduced Energy Costs  

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

Partnerships with NID, 
other Organizations and 

City Funds 

 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 Continue to promote existing water 
efficiency programs in Nevada City. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Public Works 
Department  

2 Work with NID and PG&E to explore the 
feasibility of implementing new programs. 

Near Term 
(3-5 years) 

Public Works 
Department  

3 
Redesign the water bill format to 
encourage water conservation in 
residential and commercial uses 

Near Term 
(3-5 years) 

Public Works 
Department  

 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 

1 
Percentage of households and businesses 
that voluntarily reduce indoor water use 
by 20% or more. 

100% of households by 202014 

http://www.water.ca.gov/calendar/materials/vol3_urbanwue_apr_release_16033.pdf


Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015 Chapter 4: Goals, Strategies, and Actions - page 33  

Strategy 5.2: Encourage residents and businesses to conserve water used 
outdoors. 

Significant water savings can be achieved in the outdoor environment 
through a few readily implementable programs. The City will work with NID 
to evaluate the feasibility of collaborating to provide Water Wise House calls 
where a trained water efficiency specialist will on request visit homes, review 
indoor and outdoor water needs, make water efficiency recommendations 
and provide water saving devices or if desired, will install certain water 
saving devices. Additionally, the City will evaluate the feasibility of offering 
Water-Wise business calls where trained technicians will come to a 
commercial site, check for leaks, conduct outdoor irrigation check-ups and 
provide watering schedules.  
 
The City will encourage or require new construction to include California 
Green Building Code’s (CALGreen) voluntary water-efficiency measures. 
Expedited permit review for projects meeting the voluntary CALGreen 
water-efficiency measures will be examined for feasibility. Additionally, the 
City will install water-efficient landscaping in areas managed by the City to 
serve as public demonstration areas.  
 

 

Annual Energy 
Reduction Potential: 

9,928 kWh 

Cost to City: 

Low 

Cost to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

Low  

Savings to Resident / 
Business Owner: 

Low 

Community Co-
Benefits: 

Reduced Water Use, 
Reduced Energy Costs  

Potential Funding 
Sources: 

Partnerships with NID, 
other Organizations and 

City Funds

 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION TIME TABLE RESPONSIBILITY 

1 

Review the City’s existing ordinances to 
remove any impediments to permitting 
the installation and use of greywater 
(recycled) systems that conform to Title 
24 Part 5 of the California Plumbing Code. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Planning and 
Building 

Departments 

2 
Work with NID to evaluate the feasibility 
of offering Water Wise programs and 
additional water efficiency rebates. 

Short Term 
(1-2 years) 

Public Works 
Department 

City Manager’s 
Office 

3 

Encourage voluntary compliance with 
CALGreen water efficiency measures by 
distributing information detailing the 
measures to builders, contractors and 
realtors. 

Near Term 
(3-5 years) 

Public Works & 
Building 

Departments 
 

4 
Evaluate the feasibility of offering 
incentives for or requiring the voluntary 
water efficiency measures in CALGreen. 

Near Term 
(3-5 years) 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

5 
Design a demonstration zero-water 
landscape as a teaching tool for reducing 
outdoor water use. 

Near Term 
(3-5 years) 

Planning & Public 
Works Departments 

 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGET 

1 
Percentage of households and businesses 
that voluntarily reduce outdoor water use 
by 20% or more. 

100% of households by 2020 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Chapter 5: Implementation - page 34  

CHAPTER 5: IMPLEMENTATION  

This chapter provides a roadmap for implementing the EAP. The City of Nevada City recognizes that 
a clear and straight-forward implementation program is essential to achieve the goals of the EAP. 
To successfully implement the EAP, the City, regional organizations and community members will 
need to work together and leverage existing and new national and state programs.  

Ensuring the strategies translate from policy language into on-the-ground results is critical to the 
success of the EAP. To facilitate this, each strategy described in Chapter 4 contains a table that 
identifies the specific actions the City plans to carry out in order to achieve the identified goals. The 
second section of each table provides performance indicators and targets that enable staff, Council 
members and the public to track strategy implementation and evaluate the effectiveness of the EAP. 

Evaluating the effectiveness of the EAP requires two key tasks: evaluation of the EAP as a whole and 
evaluation of the individual strategies. Community-wide emissions inventories provide the best 
indication of the overall EAP effectiveness, although it will be important to reconcile actual growth 
in the City versus the growth projected in the forecasts developed for the EAP. Conducting these 
inventories periodically, instead of annually, will allow direct comparison to the 2005/2008 baseline 
while lessening the impact on staff resources. It is recommended that inventories are completed at 
least every 5 years in order to monitor the effect of the EAP and adapt the strategies and actions to 
reach the identified goals. 

While community-wide inventories will provide information about the EAP’s overall effectiveness, it 
will be important to understand the effectiveness of each strategy in order to prioritize future 
actions. Evaluating strategy performance will require data on community participation rates and the 
associated energy savings. With the support of PG&E, the City will coordinate strategy evaluation on 
the same schedule as the community-wide inventories and summarize progress towards meeting 
the identified performance targets. For the EAP to remain relevant the City must be prepared to 
evaluate and revise the strategies and actions over time. It is likely new information, technology and 
programs will emerge; therefore, the City must be ready to take advantage of these opportunities. 
Additionally, the City will prepare interim progress reports, using a template provided by SBC, on an 
annual basis to track performance. 

IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAM 

The Implementation Program identifies specific actions and steps the City can take to achieve the 
specified 2020 targets. The following matrix prioritizes the actions by year based on staff resources, 
potential funding availability and partner organization’s capacity. The matrix serves as a guidepost 
for Staff to initiate actions in order to implement the EAP and track progress. 

 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Chapter 5: Implementation - page 35  

EAP Implementation Matrix1 

                                                             
1 Numbering system (1.1.1) refers to Goal 1, Strategy 1, Action 1, etc. 
2 Refers to Nevada County building department 

TIME 
TABLE IMPLEMENTATION ACTION SUPPORTS RESPONSIBILITY INFORMATION 

SOURCES 

2015 

Partner with PG&E and regional 
organizations to activate existing energy 
efficiency and water efficiency programs 

1.1.1 
1.1.2 
1.2.1 
1.3.1 
3.2.1 
5.1.1 
5.2.1 

Planning & 
Building2 

Departments 
City Manager’s 

Office 

Pacific Gas and 
Electric Company 

Provide information on and opportunities 
for staff, contractors and developers to 
attend training on Title 24 

2.1.1 
2.1.2 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

Pacific Gas and 
Electric Company 

Develop solar roadmap to analyze solar 
potential, review barriers to solar and 
streamline permitting 

3.1.1 
3.1.2 
3.1.3 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

American Solar 
Transformation 

Initiative 

Adopt purchasing guidelines, benchmark 
municipal facilities and require energy 
efficiency analysis in all potable water and 
wastewater projects. 

4.1.1 
4.1.2 
4.3.1 
4.3.2 

Public Works 
Department 

City Manager’s 
Office 

Pacific Gas and 
Electric Company 

2016 

Update the City’s website with 
information and links to energy efficiency 
programs, case studies, financing 
programs. 

1.1.3 
1.2.2 
1.2.3 
1.3.2 
2.1.2 
3.3.2 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

City Manager’s 
Office 

Pacific Gas and 
Electric Company 

Determine the feasibility of offering 
incentives for new construction that 
completes a green building checklist, 
including: 

• Exceed Title 24 energy 
requirements 

• Meet 70% of energy needs with 
on-site renewable energy 

• Exceed water efficiency 
requirements 

2.2.1 
2.2.2 
2.2.3 
3.3.1 
5.2.2 
5.2.3 

Planning & Building 
Departments 

City Manager’s 
Office 

Pacific Gas and 
Electric Company 

Develop and adopt ordinance that 
explicitly permits greywater (recycled) 
systems 

5.2.1 
Planning and 

Building 
Departments 

 

Partner with PG&E, Nevada County and 
local banks to promote and expand 
financing options for energy-efficiency, 
renewable-energy and water-efficiency 
projects 

3.2.2 
3.2.3 
4.2.1 

Planning, Building 
& Public Works 
Departments 

Pacific Gas and 
Electric Company 

American Solar 
Transformation 

Initiative 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Chapter 5: Implementation - page 36  

  

FUNDING SOURCES AND FINANCING MECHANISMS 

This section describes potential funding sources and financing mechanisms that the City can pursue 
to offset the financial burden of implementing the EAP. Each EAP strategy is accompanied with a 
simplified analysis of costs and savings, potential funding sources, and partnership opportunities. 
The spectrum of potential public and private funding sources is ever evolving and will need to be 
continually evaluated. This section outlines funding options that are currently available (as of 
December 2014). For additional information on energy efficiency programs and financing programs 
refer to Appendix D and F respectively. 

• U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) 
• California Energy Commission (CEC) 
• California Infrastructure and Economic Development Bank (IBANK) 
• California Statewide Communities Development Authority (CSCDA) 
• Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) 

 
U.S. Department of Energy 

The U.S. DOE provides formula grant funding and technical assistance for state and local 
governments to manage weatherization and clean energy programs including the Weatherization 
Assistance Program, State Energy Program, Energy Efficiency and Conservation Block Grant 
Program and American Solar Transformation Initiative. 

California Energy Commission 

The CEC offers low-interest loans to public institutions to finance energy-efficiency and energy 
generation projects on a first-come, first-serve basis. Interest rates are currently between zero and 
one percent. The CEC also manages the Energy Partnership Program, which provides no-cost (up to 
$20,000) technical assistance to public agencies. Technical assistance includes conducting energy 

2017 

Develop heat gain mitigation guidelines 
and ordinances for streets and parking 
lots 

2.3.1 
2.3.2 
2.3.3 
2.3.4 

Planning, Building 
& Public Works 
Departments 

Pacific Gas and 
Electric Company 

Conduct energy audits, retro-
commissioning on municipal facilities. 
Implement cost-effective energy efficiency 
projects and leak detection 

4.1.3 
4.3.3 

City Manager’s 
Office 

Pacific Gas and 
Electric  Company 

Evaluate the cost-effectiveness of 
upgrading traffic signals and street lights 
to LED 

4.2.1 
4.2.2  

Public Works 
Department 

City Manager’s 
Office 

Pacific Gas and 
Electric Company 

Work with NID to redesign the water bills 
to promote conservation, develop new 
water-efficiency programs and market 
programs in Nevada City including design 
of a zero-water demonstration garden 

5.1.2 
5.1.3 
5.2.4 
5.2.5 

Planning, Building 
& Public Works 
Departments 

Nevada Irrigation 
District 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Chapter 5: Implementation - page 37  

audits, preparing feasibility studies, contractor assistance and design review consultation among 
other services. The CEC also funds Energy Upgrade California, which was designed to be Californian’s 
one-stop-shop for home and business improvement projects that lower energy use, conserve water 
and natural resources. Californians can use the site to plan upgrade projects, locate participating 
contractors, and find rebates and incentives including up to $6,500 towards whole house energy 
upgrades. 

California Infrastructure and Economic Development Bank 

The IBANK finances public infrastructure and private development that promotes opportunities for 
jobs, contributes to a strong economy and improves the quality of life in California communities. In 
September 2014, California IBANK launched the Clean Energy Finance Center and the Statewide 
Energy Efficiency Program to provide low-cost financing to State and local governments for 
approved energy efficiency projects. The targets will be clean energy projects such as generation, 
distribution, transmission and storage; energy conservation measures; environmental mitigation 
measures; and water treatment and distribution. 

California Statewide Communities Development Authority 

The CSCDA is a joint powers authority with more than 500 cities, counties and special districts as 
Program Participants. CSCDA provides California’s local governments with an effective tool for the 
timely financing of community-based public benefit projects. CSCDA provides program participants 
with two energy financing programs. The Sustainable Energy Bond Program, which provides access 
to tax-exempt financing for energy efficiency projects through contracts with Energy Service 
Companies that contain guaranteed energy savings to cover the full cost of all retrofit work. The 
CaliforniaFIRST program provides local governments access to a multi-jurisdictional Property 
Accessed Clean Energy Program that allows property owners to secure upfront financing for energy 
and water-saving improvements, which they repay through a voluntary special assessment on their 
property tax bill. CSCDA is also in the process of developing OPEN PACE, a full turnkey resource for 
local governments where qualified program administrators will develop managed contractor 
networks within the community, provide 100% financing and file repayment obligations through the 
property tax bills. 

Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

PG&E provides technical assistance, rebates and incentives, and financing options to promote 
energy efficiency and renewable energy projects. For Residential customers, PG&E offers income-
eligible customers monthly discounts and free energy saving improvements. PG&E also offers 
appliance rebates and whole-home upgrade incentives. For Non-Residential customers, PG&E offers 
the Energy Efficiency Financing program, which provides businesses and government agencies 
access to 0% loans up to $100,000 for businesses and $250,000 for government agencies. PG&E also 
offers incentives and technical assistance to improve the operational performance of facilities’ 
equipment, lighting and control systems through a Retro-commissioning program. Additionally, 
PG&E offers design assistance, incentives and educational resources for new construction that 
exceeds Title 24 energy efficiency standard through the Savings By Design program. 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix A - page 38  

APPENDIX A:  NEVADA CITY BASELINE ENERGY USE 

The majority of electricity in Nevada City is provided by utilities though independent energy service 
providers also provide a small percentage as direct access electricity. Utility electricity and natural 
gas consumption data was collected from Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) for all accounts 
within the Nevada City limits. Direct-access electricity is energy supplied by a competitive energy 
service provider other than a utility, but uses a utility's transmission lines to distribute the energy. 
Due to confidentiality laws, PG&E was unable to release direct-access electricity consumption within 
the Nevada City limits. The direct-access electricity consumption within Nevada City was estimated 
from county-level, direct-access electricity data provided by the California Energy Commission (CEC). 
The total direct-access electricity consumption for Nevada County was used to determine the ratio 
of direct-access electricity use to utility-provided electricity use for residential and non-residential 
energy use. This ratio was applied to the utility-provided electricity use within Nevada City to 
determine an estimate of the direct-access electricity consumed within Nevada City. Non-utility 
propane, fuel oil and wood consumption used for space and water heating was estimated using 
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration reported heating degree days for Sacramento 
Drainage in 2005, the number of homes using non-utility fuels for home heating reported by the U.S. 
Census Bureau 2005-2009 American Community Survey, and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
reported space and water heating factors. For detailed references refer to the City of Nevada City 
2005 Community-Wide Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory.  

Table A-1: Nevada City 2005 Baseline Residential Energy Use by Energy Source 

Energy Source Value Units Data Source 

Electricity Consumption - PG&E 9,110,535 kWh Pacific Gas and Electric Company 
Electricity Consumption - Direct 
Access 24,369 kWh California Energy Commission 

Total Electricity Consumption 9,134,904 kWh  

Natural Gas Consumption 835,680 Therms Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

Propane (LPG) Consumption 43,870 Gallons NOAA, U.S. EPA and U.S. Census Bureau 

Wood for Home Heating Consumption 260 Cords NOAA, U.S. EPA and U.S. Census Bureau 
 

Table A-2: Nevada City 2005 Baseline Non-Residential Energy Use by Energy Source 

Energy Source Value Units Data Source 

Electricity Consumption - PG&E 22,665,170 kWh Pacific Gas and Electric Company 
Electricity Consumption - Direct 
Access 2,228,638 kWh California Energy Commission 

Total Electricity Consumption 24,893,808 kWh  

Natural Gas - PG&E 675,319 Therms Pacific Gas and Electric Company 
 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix A - page 39  

Utility electricity and natural gas consumption data was collected from PG&E for all accounts paid 
for by the City of Nevada City. 

Table A-3:  Nevada City 2008 Baseline Municipal Buildings Energy Use by Energy Source 

Energy Source Electricity Natural Gas Data Source 

Wastewater Treatment Plant 604,240 kWh 3,170 Therms Pacific Gas and Electric 
Company 

Water Treatment Plant and Pumps 116,954 kWh N/A Pacific Gas and Electric 
Company 

City Hall 77,680 kWh 4,485 Therms Pacific Gas and Electric 
Company 

Pioneer Park  64,507 kWh 3,121 Therms Pacific Gas and Electric 
Company 

Fire Station 42,080 kWh 2,042 Therms Pacific Gas and Electric 
Company 

Minor Facilities Total 81,298 kWh 4,385 Therms Pacific Gas and Electric 
Company 

Total Municipal Buildings Energy 
Consumption 986,759 kWh 17,203 Therms  

 

Table A-4:  Nevada City 2008 Baseline Public Lighting Energy Use by Energy Source 

Energy Source Electricity Natural Gas Data Source 

Street Lights 13,666 kWh 12,797 Therms Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

Park Lighting 8,579 kWh N/A Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

Other Outdoor Lighting 3,680 kWh N/A Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

PG&E Owned and Operated Street 
Lights 91,075 kWh N/A Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

Total Public Lighting Electricity 
Consumption 117,000 kWh 12,797 Therms  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix B - page 40  

APPENDIX B: NEVADA CITY BUSINESS AS USUAL ENERGY USE 

FORECAST  

The business as usual (BAU) community-wide energy use was forecasted using the Statewide Energy 
Efficiency Collaborative Clear Path California forecasting tool. Municipal energy use, because it is 
included within the non-residential energy use, was not forecasted separately. Residential energy 
use was forecasted using actual and projected housing units reported by the Nevada City Regional 
Housing Need Assessment (RHNA) 2014-2019. Non-residential energy use was forecasted using 
actual growth in Nevada County jobs for 2005-2009, and the 2006-2030 Employment Forecast 
Projection for Nevada County prepared by the California Department of Transportation. Annualized 
growth rates for Nevada City housing units and employment were calculated for the Clear Path 
California time periods required to forecast energy use. Annualized growth rates for each time 
period were calculated using the standard formula. 

Annualized Growth Rate = (X/Y)^(1/(Z)-1))-1
 

Where:  X = Forecast End Year Energy Use 

 Y = Baseline Year Energy Use 

 Z = Number of Years in the Forecast 

 

Table B-1: BAU Residential Energy Use Forecast by Energy Source  

Energy Source 2005 
Residential Energy Use 

2020 
Residential Energy Use 

2005-2020 Change in 
Energy Use 

Electricity (kWh) 9,134,904 11,000,099 1,865,195 

Natural Gas (Therms) 835,680 1,006,320 170,640 

Propane (Gallons) 43,870 52,826 8,957 

Wood (Cords) 260 313 53 

 

Table B-2: BAU Non-Residential Energy Use Forecast by Energy Source   

Energy Source 2005 Non- Residential 
Energy Use 

2020 Non-Residential 
Energy Use 

2005-2020 Change in 
Energy Use 

Electricity (kWh) 24,893,808 27,705,787 2,811,979 

Natural Gas (Therms) 675,319 751,620 76,301 
 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix B - page 41  

Table B-3: Clear Path California BAU Energy Use Forecast Annualized Growth Rates 

Energy Use Sector Growth 
Indicator 

Growth 
Indicator 

Source 

Annualized 
Growth Rate 
(2005-2009)  

Annualized 
Growth Rate 
(2009-2014)  

Annualized 
Growth Rate 
(2014-2020)  

Residential Households RHNA1 0.008268 0.017878 0.010769 

Non-Residential Employment Caltrans2 -0.013090 0.011586 0.017851 

 

Table B-4: BAU Residential Energy Use Forecast Growth Indicators and Annualized Growth Rates 

Year Households Growth Indicator Source 

2000 1,313 

Nevada City Regional Housing Need Assessment 
2009 1,414 

20143 1,545 

2019 1,630 

Time Period Annualized 
Growth Rate  

2005-2009 0.008268 

Nevada City Regional Housing Need Assessment 2009-2014 0.017878 

2014-2019 0.010769 

 

Table B-5: BAU Non-Residential Energy Use Forecast Growth Indicators and Annualized Growth Rates 

Year Employment Growth Indicator Source 

2005 29,800 
Caltrans Nevada County Employment Forecast 2006-2030 

Projection 2010 27,900 

2020 33,300 

Time Period Annualized 
Growth Rate  

2000-2010 -0.013090 Caltrans Nevada County Employment Forecast 2006-2030 
Projection 2010-2020 0.017851 

                                                             
1 RHNA: Nevada City Regional Housing Needs Assessment 
2 Caltrans Nevada County Economic Forecast 
3 Projected 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix C - page 42  

APPENDIX C: POTENTIAL ENERGY REDUCTION CALCULATIONS 

This appendix shows the calculations for potential energy reductions resulting from implementation 
of each energy efficiency strategy. For each strategy, each step of the calculation is numbered, 
calculation inputs are highlighted in yellow and results are highlighted in green. Potential energy 
savings were not calculated for non-utility fuels because of their limited use in Nevada City and the 
uncertainty surrounding efficiency programs for non-utility fuels. 

Strategy 1.1: Expand outreach and education to increase participation in voluntary home 
energy-efficiency programs. 

Target: 30% of Existing Households Reduce Energy Use 30% by 2020 
1. Baseline Year 2005 

2. Baseline Annual Residential Energy Use 
9,134,904 kWh Electricity 

835,680 Therms Natural Gas 
3. Baseline Number of Households  1,447 Housing Units 
4. 2020 Target Percent of Households Participating 30% of baseline homes 

5. 2020 Target Percent Energy Reduction From Baseline Year 
30% of electricity use 
30% of natural gas use 

2020 Participating Households  
= Baseline Households x Percent Participating =                     434  Housing Units 

2020 Electricity Savings  
= Baseline Energy Use x Percent Participating x Percent Reduction =             822,141  kWh / Year 

2020 Natural Gas Savings  
= Baseline Energy Use x Percent Participating x Percent Reduction =               75,211  Therms / Year 

 

Strategy 1.2: Expand outreach and education to increase participation in voluntary non-
residential energy-efficiency programs. 

Target: 30% of Existing Businesses Reduce Energy Use 30% by 2020 
1. Baseline Year 2005 

2. Baseline Annual Non-Residential Energy Use 
24,893,808 kWh Electricity 

675,319 Therms Natural Gas 
3. 2020 Target Percent of Non-Res Participating 30% participating 

4. 2020 Target Percent Energy Reduction From Baseline  
30% of electricity use 
30% of natural gas use 

2020 Electricity Savings  
= Baseline Energy Use x Percent Participating x Percent Reduction =         2,240,443  kWh / Year 

2020 Natural Gas Savings  
= Baseline Energy Use x Percent Participating x Percent Reduction =               60,779  Therms / Year 

 

 

 

 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix C - page 43  

Strategy 2.1: Improve compliance with Title 24 Green Building and Energy Efficiency 
Standards. 

Target: 100% of New Construction meets Title 24 Green Building and Energy Efficiency Standards 
1. Baseline Year 2005 

2. Forecast 2014-to-2020 Energy Use Increase (Without Title 24 
Compliance) 

Residential 
684,741 kWh / Year Electricity 

62,640 Therms / Year Natural Gas 
Non-Residential 

2,690,326 kWh / Year Electricity 
72,990 Therms / Year Natural Gas 

3. Climate Zone 11 New Housing Construction (2013 CEC)4 43.1% Single Family 
56.9% Multi-Family 

4. Percent of Residential Energy Use Associated with Space 
Heating, Cooling, Indoor Lighting and Water Heating (2004 CEC)1 

Electricity Natural Gas 
37% 88% 

5. 2008 Title 24 Energy Savings Associated with Space Heating, 
Cooling, Indoor Lighting and Water Heating (2008 CEC)2 Electricity Natural Gas 

Single Family (SF) 22.7% 10% 
Multi-Family (MF) 19.7% 7% 

Non-Residential (Non-Res) 4.9% 9.4% 
6. Percent of Residential Energy Use Associated with Space 
Heating, Cooling, Indoor Lighting and Water Heating (2010 CEC)3 

Electricity Natural Gas 
32% 86% 

7. 2013 Title 24 Energy Savings Associated with Space Heating, 
Cooling, Indoor Lighting and Water Heating (2013 CEC)4 Electricity Natural Gas 

Single Family (SF) 36.4% 6.5% 
Multi-Family (MF) 23.3% 3.8% 

Non-Residential (Non-Res) 22% 17% 
2020 Energy Savings from 2008 Title 24:  
Res = Forecast 2014-to-2020 Energy Use x Percent Covered 
Energy Use x [(Percent SF x 2008 SF Percent Savings) + (Percent 
MF x 2008 MF Percent Savings)]                                                                                           
Non-Res = Forecast 2014-to-2020 Energy Use x 2008 Non-Res 
Percent Savings 

 Residential  
53,186  kWh / Year Electricity 

4,571  Therms / Year Natural Gas 
 Non-Residential  

131,826  kWh / Year Electricity 
6,861  Therms / Year Natural Gas 

2020 Energy Savings from 2013 Title 24:  
Res = (Forecast 2014-to-2020 Energy Use - 2008 Title 24 Energy 
Savings) x Percent Covered Energy Use x [(Percent SF x 2013 SF 
Percent Savings) + (Percent MF x 2013 MF Percent Savings)]                                                                             
Non-Res = (Forecast 2014-to-2020 Energy Use - 2008 Title 24 
Energy Savings) x 2013 Non-Res Percent Savings 

 Residential  
58,498  kWh / Year Electricity 

2,479  Therms / Year Natural Gas 
 Non-Residential  

562,870  kWh / Year Electricity 
11,242  Therms / Year Natural Gas 

2020 Energy Savings from 2008 and 2013 Title 24 
= 2008 Title 24 Energy Savings + 2013 Title 24 Energy Savings = 

 Residential  
111,684  kWh / Year Electricity 

7,050  Therms / Year Natural Gas 
 Non-Residential  

694,696  kWh / Year Electricity 
18,103  Therms / Year Natural Gas 

                                                             
1 2004 CEC - http://www.energy.ca.gov/reports/400-04-009/2004-08-17_400-04-009ES.pdf 
2 2008 CEC - http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2008standards/rulemaking/documents/2007-11-
07_IMPACT_ANALYSIS.pdf 
3 2010 CEC - http://www.energy.ca.gov/2013publications/CEC-400-2013-008/CEC-400-2013-008.pdf 
4 2013 CEC - http://www.energy.ca.gov/2010publications/CEC-200-2010-004/CEC-200-2010-004-ES.pdf 

http://www.energy.ca.gov/reports/400-04-009/2004-08-17_400-04-009ES.pdf
http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2008standards/rulemaking/documents/2007-11-07_IMPACT_ANALYSIS.pdf
http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2008standards/rulemaking/documents/2007-11-07_IMPACT_ANALYSIS.pdf
http://www.energy.ca.gov/2013publications/CEC-400-2013-008/CEC-400-2013-008.pdf
http://www.energy.ca.gov/2010publications/CEC-200-2010-004/CEC-200-2010-004-ES.pdf


Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix C - page 44  

 

Strategy 2.2: Provide incentives for buildings to exceed the current Title 24 Energy 
Efficiency Standards. 

Target: 15% of New Construction Reduces Energy Use Beyond Title 24 Requirements  
(Residential 30% and Non-Residential 15%) 

1. Baseline Year 2005 

2. Forecast 2014-to-2020 Energy Use Increase 
Without Title 24 Compliance 

 Residential  
684,741 kWh / Year Electricity 

62,640 Therms / Year Natural Gas 
 Non-Residential  

2,690,326 kWh / Year Electricity 
72,990 Therms / Year Natural Gas 

3. 2020 Energy Savings from 2008 and 2013 Title 24 
Compliance (See Strategy 2.1) 

 Residential  
111,684 kWh / Year Electricity 

7,050 Therms / Year Natural Gas 
 Non-Residential  

694,696 kWh / Year Electricity 
18,103 Therms / Year Natural Gas 

4. Forecast 2014-to-2020 Energy Use Increase After 
Title 24 Compliance 

 Residential  
573,057 kWh / Year Electricity 

55,590 Therms / Year Natural Gas 
 Non-Residential  

1,995,630 kWh / Year Electricity 
54,887 Therms / Year Natural Gas 

5. 2020 Target Participation                                  
15% Residential 
15% Non-Residential 

6. 2020 Target Energy Savings 
30% Residential 
15% Non-Residential 

2020 Energy Savings Beyond Title 24 Requirements 
= Forecast 2014-to-2020 Energy Use Increase After 
Title 24 Compliance x Percent Participation x 
Percent Energy Savings = 

 Residential  
25,788 kWh / Year Electricity 

2,502  Therms / Year Natural Gas 
 Non-Residential  

44,902  kWh / Year Electricity 
1,235  Therms / Year Natural Gas 

 

 

  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix C - page 45  

Strategy 3.1: Evaluate the City’s residential, non-residential and municipal solar potential 
and assess barriers to increased solar energy use. 

Target: 40% of Existing Households and 20% of Businesses Install Solar PV by 2020 
1. Baseline Year 2005 

2. 2020 Target Potential Installations 
1,447 Residential 

759 Non-Residential 

3. Number of Existing Installations (2013 PG&E)1 
370 Residential 

34 Non-Residential 

4. Total Existing Installation kW (2013 PG&E) 
1,521 kW Residential 

268 kW Non-Residential 

5. 2020 Target Percent Participating 
40% Residential 
20% Non-Residential 

6. Average Hours of Electricity Production (2014 CSI)2 4.86 Hours / Day 
2020 Number of Participants 
= Potential Installations x  Percent Participating = 

579  Residential 
152  Non-Residential 

2020 kW Solar Installed  
= Potential Installations x Percent Participating x Total Size of 
Existing Installations / Number of Existing Installations = 

2,379  kW Residential 

1,197  kW Non-Residential 
2020 Solar-Produced Electricity 
= 2020 kW Solar Installed x Average Hours per Day Production x 
365 Days / Year = 

4,220,706  kWh / Year Residential 

2,122,544  kWh / Year Non-Residential 
 
 

Strategy 3.3: Encourage new development projects to meet 70% of their energy needs from 
renewable resources. 

Target: 15% of New Developments Meet 70% of Energy Needs with Renewable Energy by 2020 
1. Baseline Year 2005 

2. Forecast 2014-to-2020 Energy Use Increase After Title 24 
Compliance (See Strategy 2.2) 

 Residential  
573,057 kWh / Year Electricity 

55,590 Therms / Year Natural Gas 
  Non-Residential   

1,995,630 kWh / Year Electricity 
54,887 Therms / Year Natural Gas 

3. Forecast 2014-to-2020 New Construction 103 Households 

4. 2020 Target Percent Participating 
15% Residential 
15% Non-Residential 

5. 2020 Target Percent Provided by Renewables 
70% Residential 
70% Non-Residential 

2020 Non-renewable Energy Savings  
= Forecast Energy Use Increase After Title 24 Compliance x 
Percent Participating x Percent Provided by Renewables = 

Residential 
              60,171  kWh / Year Electricity 
                5,837  Therms / Year Natural Gas 

 Non-Residential  
            209,541  kWh / Year Electricity 
                5,763  Therms / Year Natural Gas 

                                                             
1 2013 PG&E – PG&E Energy Summary for Nevada City 2005 to 2013 
2 2014 CSI - http://www.csi-epbb.com/default.aspx 

http://www.csi-epbb.com/default.aspx


Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix C - page 46  

 

Strategy 4.1: Improve the energy efficiency of existing municipal structures. 
Target: Reduce Energy Use in Municipal Buildings by 20% by 2020 

1. Baseline Year 2008 

2. Baseline Annual Municipal Buildings Energy Use 
265,565 kWh Electricity 

14,033 Therms Natural Gas 
3. 2020 Target Percent Energy Reduction                     20% of Electricity Use 
2020 Electricity Savings                                                                   
 = Baseline Energy Use x Percent Reduction =          53,113  kWh / Year 

2020 Natural Gas Savings                                                            
 = Baseline Energy Use x Percent Reduction =            2,807  Therms / Year 

 

Strategy 4.2: Evaluate the feasibility of improving energy efficiency of traffic signals and 
public lighting. 

Target: Reduce Energy Used by the City for Public Lighting by 20% by 2020 
1. Baseline Year 2008 
2. Baseline Annual Municipal-Operations Street Lights and Other 
Lighting Energy Use 

117,000 kWh Electricity 
12,797 Therms Natural Gas 

3. 2020 Target Percent Energy Reduction                     20% Street Lights and Other 
2020 Electricity Savings  
= Baseline Energy Use x Percent Reduction =               23,400  kWh / Year 

2020 Natural Gas Savings  
= Baseline Energy Use x Percent Reduction =                 2,559  Therms / Year 

 

Strategy 4.3: Evaluate the feasibility of improving energy efficiency of wastewater and 
potable water systems. 
Target: Reduce Energy Used by the City for Wastewater and Potable Water Treatment Systems by 

20% by 2020 
1. Baseline Year 2008 

2. Baseline Annual Water/Wastewater Energy Use 
721,194 kWh Electricity 

3,170 Therms Natural Gas 

3. 2020 Target Percent Energy Reduction                     
20% of electricity use 
20% of natural gas use 

2020 Water Systems Electricity Savings  
= Baseline Energy Use x Percent Reduction =             144,239  kWh / Year 

2020 Water Systems Natural Gas Savings  
= Baseline Energy Use x Percent Reduction =                     634  Therms / Year 

 

  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix C - page 47  

Strategy 5.1: Encourage residents and businesses to conserve water used indoors.  
Target: 100% of Households and Businesses Reduce Indoor Water Use by 20% by 2020 

1. Baseline Year 2008 
2. Baseline Population 2,947 People 
3. Potable Water Energy Use (2008) 116,954 kWh / Year 
4. Nevada City Population (2008) 3,055 People 
5. Nevada City Potable Water Use (2008) 240,980,000 Gallons / Year 

6. Percent of Urban Water Demand (2013 CA WPU)1 
31% Residential Indoor 
44% Landscape Irrigation 
20% Non-Residential 

7. 2020 Target Percent Reduction in Indoor Water Use 20% Reduction 
8. Gallons Per Acre-foot Conversion 325,851 Gallons / Acre-foot 

Gallons Per Capita Per Day (GPCD) 
= 2008 Potable Water Use / 2008 Population / 365 Days Per Year 216  Gallons /Capita / Day 

2008 Potable Water Energy Use Factor 
= 2008 Potable Water Energy Use / 2008 Potable Water Use * Gallons 
Per Acre-Foot Conversion = 

158  kWh / Acre-Foot 

2005 Estimated Indoor Water Use 
= Total GPCD x (Percent Res + Percent Non-Res) = 110  Gallons / Capita / Day 

2005 Estimated Annual Water Use  
= Indoor GPCD x  Baseline Population * 365 Days Per Year / Gallons Per 
Acre-foot Conversion = 

364  Acre-Feet / Year 

2020 Reduced Indoor Water Use  
= Annual Water Use x Percent Reduction = 73  Acre-Feet / Year 

2020 Energy Savings from Reduced Water Use 
= Reduced Water Use x Energy Use Factor = 11,508  kWh / Year 

 

Strategy 5.2: Encourage residents and businesses to conserve water used outdoors. 
Target: 100% of Households and Businesses Reduce Landscape Water Use by 20% by 2020 

1. Baseline Year 2005 
2. Baseline Population 2,947 People 
3.Gallons Per Capita Per Day (GPCD) Water Use (See Strategy: 5.1) 216 Gallons / Capita / Day 
4. Gallons Per Acre-foot Conversion 325,851 Gallons / Acre-foot 

5. Percent of Urban Water Demand (2013 CA WPU) 
31% Residential Indoor 
44% Landscape Irrigation 
20% Non-Residential 

6. 2020 Target Percent Reduction in Outdoor Water Use 20% Reduction 
7. 2008 Potable Water Energy Use Factor (See Strategy: 5.1) 158  kWh / Acre-Foot 

2005 Estimated Landscaping Water Use 
'= Total GPCD x Percent Landscape Irrigation = 95  Gallons / Capita / Day 

2005 Estimated Annual Landscaping Water Use  
= Landscaping GPCD x Baseline Year Population * 365 Days Per Year / 
Gallons Per Acre-foot Conversion = 

314  Acre-Feet / Year 

                                                             
1 2013 California Water Plan Update - http://www.waterplan.water.ca.gov/docs/cwpu2013/2013-
prd/Vol3_Ch03_UrbanWUE_PubReviewDraft_Final_PDFed_co.pdf 

http://www.waterplan.water.ca.gov/docs/cwpu2013/2013-prd/Vol3_Ch03_UrbanWUE_PubReviewDraft_Final_PDFed_co.pdf
http://www.waterplan.water.ca.gov/docs/cwpu2013/2013-prd/Vol3_Ch03_UrbanWUE_PubReviewDraft_Final_PDFed_co.pdf


Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix C - page 48  

2020 Reduced Landscaping Water Use  
= Annual Landscaping Water Use x Percent Reduction = 63  Acre-Feet / Year 

2020 Energy Savings from Reduced Water Use 
= Reduced Landscaping Water Use x Energy Use Factor = 9,928  kWh / Year 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix D - page 49  

APPENDIX D: EXISTING ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAMS, POLICIES AND 

CODES 

EXISTING PROGRAMS/POLICIES/CODES DESCRIPTION 

Existing Programs  

 PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 
(PG&E) 

PG&E offers incentives, rebates and educational resources to 
residents, businesses, non-profits and government agencies in 
Nevada City. (http://www.pge.com/) 

 SIERRA BUSINESS COUNCIL (SBC) 
 

SBC administers the Sierra Nevada Energy Watch program, 
delivering cost effective energy-efficiency projects and 
benchmarking services to businesses, non-profits, and government 
agencies in Nevada City. SBC also offers consulting services to 
governments on energy and climate planning. 
(http://sierrabusiness.org/) 

 NEVADA CITY WATERWISE 
 

Nevada City WaterWise will not only help save residential water 
customers money but will help foster sustainability, provide 
conservation education, take pressure off of aging water treatment 
and delivery infrastructure, and ensure environmental preservation 
of our beloved watersheds and waterways. The WaterWise 
program also aims to guide residents towards the state mandated 
goal of 20% lower water use by the year 2020. WaterWise may also 
help Nevada City during the peak-use summer months when it has 
to buy additional water from NID, as well as stave off spending 
millions of dollars on infrastructure and water treatment plant 
renovations. WaterWise is currently offering free low-flow 
showerheads and a high-efficiency toilet rebate program. 
(http://www.nevadacityca.gov/water). 

 NEVADA CITY SUSTAINABILITY TEAM 
(NCST) 

NCST’s mission is to create a vision for the community that values 
environmental quality, social equity, and economic vitality, and to 
develop strategies for its implementation, long-term management 
and economic viability. NCST developed a Policy Matrix on 
September 14, 2011 which extensively lists economic, community, 
and environmental goals and objectives. 
(http://nevadacityca.gov/content/sustainability-team). 

 NEVADA IRRIGATION DISTRICT (NID) 

NID offers numerous programs promoting conservation and wise 
use of water, such as rebates and incentives, seminars and 
workshops, demonstrating sustainable landscape techniques for 
home gardening. (http://nidwater.com/conservation/). 

 GRID ALTERNATIVES 

GRID Alternatives is a nonprofit organization that brings the 
benefits of solar technology to communities that would not 
otherwise have access, providing needed savings for families and 
preparing workers for jobs in the fast-growing solar industry. 
(http://www.gridalternatives.org/) 

http://www.pge.com/
http://sierrabusiness.org/
http://www.nevadacityca.gov/water
http://nevadacityca.gov/content/sustainability-team
http://nidwater.com/conservation/
http://www.gridalternatives.org/


Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix D - page 50  

EXISTING PROGRAMS/POLICIES/CODES DESCRIPTION 

 TRC ENERGY SERVICES 

TRC Energy Services administers the California Advanced Homes 
program, which highlights best practices in energy efficiency, green 
building and sustainability, and offers generous financial incentives 
to help builders and architects create environmentally friendly, 
energy-efficient communities for potential home buyers. 
(http://cahp-pge.com/) 

 PROJECT GO INC. 
Project Go Inc. administers the low-income home energy 
assistance and weatherization assistance programs in Nevada City. 
(http://www.projectgoinc.org/) 

EXISTING POLICIES 
 (Nevada City General Plan [Housing Element current as of January 2014]) 

 IV. HOUSING ELEMENT – GOALS, 
OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROGRAMS 
(SECTION 6, P. 6-3) 

Policy 4-1-3 –  Promote energy conservation activities throughout 
the city 

Implementation Program 30 – The City shall refer interested 
parties to the various rebate programs offered by PG&E and 
various low income assistance programs offered by PG&E. 

Implementation Program 31 – Notify City residents that energy 
conservation improvements are eligible to income-based qualified 
households for assistance under the City’s residential rehabilitation 
program. 

Implementation Program 32 – With the assistance of an outside 
entity, incorporate new policies or programs resulting from the 
Energy Scarcity Resolution and/or Strategic Energy Resources 
Report as directed by the City Council. The amendments should 
address available energy saving measures into new construction 
projects. 

MUNICIPAL CODE 
(Current as of April 2014) 

 

 TITLE 17 – ZONING 

17.80.215 B.  Outdoor lighting shall utilize energy efficient 
fixture/lamps. 

17.80.070 D.  The landscape plan shall minimize the use of ground 
covers which are not drought-resistant. Wherever possible, the 
irrigation plan shall specify the use of drip irrigation. 

17.80.090 A.  The cutting or removal of any tree is prohibited 
except after receiving a permit. 

 TITLE 18 – ENVIRONMENT 

18.01.010 – Purpose A. 
The native and ornamental trees in Nevada City contribute to 
environmental stability, quality of life, character of the City, and 
the value of property.  

18.01.010 – Purpose B. 
The city council establishes basic standards and measures for the 
preservation and protection of trees. 

18.01.010 – Purpose C. 

http://cahp-pge.com/
http://www.projectgoinc.org/


Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix D - page 51  

EXISTING PROGRAMS/POLICIES/CODES DESCRIPTION 

It shall be the policy of the city to: 
1. Preserve trees through its development review process; 
2. Require permits for cutting or removal of protected trees; and 
3. Require property owners to coordinate with the city to ensure 
optimum maintenance and health of street trees. 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix E - page 52  

APPENDIX E: PG&E AND OTHER ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAMS 

This appendix lists programs and rebates currently offered by PG&E and other organizations, as of 
the publishing of the EAP. A full description of current incentives programs can be found online. 

ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAMS DESCRIPTION 

RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS  

 Home Upgrade 

PG&E’s Home Upgrade program offers rebates of up to $2,500 to 
help homeowners focus on their building shell to maintain a 
warmer or cooler indoor environment while lowering energy bills. 
Improvements may include attic, wall and floor insulation, duct 
sealing, furnace and AC replacements, and more. 

 Advanced Home Upgrade 

PG&E’s Advanced Home Upgrade program offers rebates up to 
$6,500 to go beyond building shell upgrades and is typically more 
complex, involving deep improvements. A Home Upgrade 
Professional will conduct a comprehensive energy assessment 
using energy-modeling software to create a customized energy-
saving plan for your home. 

 SmartAC™ 

PG&E’s SmartAC program offers the opportunity to help prevent 
summer energy supply emergencies from disrupting day to day 
activities. Upon joining, SmartAC will install their free SmartAC 
device. Once installed, the customer will receive a SmartAC reward 
check. 

 SmartRate™ 

PG&E’s SmartRate program gives a discount at 3¢ per kWh on the 
customer’s June through September monthly rate, or the 
equivalent of 23% off Tier 1 usage. In exchange, the customer pays 
a surcharge of 60¢ per kWh for 2-7PM usage between 9 and 15 
PG&E SmartDays™, May through October. With SmartRate 
automatic bill protection, the first summer is risk free. 

 Home Appliance Rebate 

PG&E offers residential customers rebates on the purchase of 
Energy Star® home appliances. Rebates on cooling systems range 
from $20-$425, heating systems from $100-$500 and appliances 
from $50-$75. 

 Solar Water Heating PG&E’s Solar Water Heating program provides incentives up to 
$2,719 based on the expected performance of the system. 

 Federal Renewable Energy Tax 
Credit 

A taxpayer may claim a credit of 30% of qualified expenditures for 
a renewable energy system that serves a dwelling unit located in 
the United States that is owned and used as a residence by the 
taxpayer. Expenditures include labor costs for on-site preparation, 
assembly or original system installation, and piping or wiring to 
interconnect a system to the home. 

 California Advanced Homes 

California Advanced HomesTM Program, administered by PG&E and 
TRC Energy Services, highlights best practices in energy efficiency, 
green building and sustainability, and offers generous financial 
incentives to help builders and architects create environmentally 
friendly, energy-efficient communities for potential home buyers. 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix E - page 53  

ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAMS DESCRIPTION 

 New Solar Homes Partnership 
(NSHP) 

The NSHP provides financial incentives and other support to home 
builders, encouraging the construction of new, energy efficient 
solar homes that save homeowners money on their electric bills 
and protect the environment. 

TARGETED RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS  

 Home Energy Assistance Program 
(HEAP) 

HEAP provides financial assistance to income-qualified applicants 
in the form of an annual utility credit for gas, electric, propane or 
firewood to help with the high costs of heating and/or cooling. 
HEAP programs in Nevada City are administered by Project Go Inc. 

 Emergency Crisis Intervention 
Program (ECIP) 

ECIP provides financial assistance in the event of a crisis, such as a 
48-hour shut-off notice. ECIP programs in Nevada City are 
administered by Project Go Inc. 

 Weatherization Assistance 
Program (WAP) 

WAP provides free weatherization services and products to 
improve a home’s energy efficiency and reduce overall utility costs, 
including attic insulation, weather stripping, caulking, minor home 
repairs and related conservation measures. WAP programs in 
Nevada City are administered by Project Go Inc. 

 Relief for Energy Assistance 
through Community Help (REACH) 

REACH provides grants for projects that reduce energy 
vulnerability such as PG&E’s one-time emergency financial 
assistance. 

 California Alternate Rates for 
Energy (CARE) 

Qualified low-income customers that are enrolled in the CARE 
program receive a 30-35 percent discount on their electric and 
natural gas bills. CARE is administered by PG&E. 

 Family Electric Rate Assistance 
(FERA) 

The FERA program provides a monthly discount on electric bills for 
income-qualified households of three or more persons. FERA is 
administered by PG&E. 

 Energy Savings Assistance Program 
The Energy Savings Assistance Program provides income-qualified 
customers with energy-saving improvements at no charge. The 
program is administered by PG&E. 

 Medical Baseline Allowance 
Residential customers with a qualified physician certified medical 
condition can receive additional quantities of energy at the lowest 
(baseline) price. The program is administered by PG&E. 

 Multi-Family  

PG&E's Multi-Family Program is for property owners and managers 
of existing residential dwellings or mobile home parks with five or 
more units. The program encourages owners to install qualifying 
energy-efficient products in individual tenant units and common 
areas of residential apartments, mobile home parks and 
condominium complexes. A full list of available rebates and 
incentives is available online. 

 Single Family Affordable Solar 
Housing (SASH) 

The California Solar Initiative SASH program provides qualifying 
low-income homeowners up-front rebates to defray the costs of 
installing a solar electric system. Depending on the income level, 
homeowners may be eligible for an entirely free system, or a highly 
subsidized one. The SASH program is administered by GRID 
Alternatives. 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                Appendix E - page 54  

ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAMS DESCRIPTION 

NON-RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS  

 Sierra Nevada Energy Watch 
Program (SNEW) 

SNEW, administered by Sierra Business Council, delivers cost 
effective-energy efficiency projects to businesses, non-profits, and 
governments in the Sierra Nevada region including Nevada County. 

 PG&E Rebates and Incentives 

PG&E offers non-residential customers rebates and incentives for 
power management software, occupancy sensors on lights, steam 
traps, HVAC motors and pumps, electric water heaters, process 
cooling, data center airflow management, boiler economizers, 
refrigeration, boiler heat recovery, refrigeration control, VSD 
pumps, boilers and fans. A full list of current rebates can be found 
using the PG&E money back tool. (www.pge.com/businessrebates) 

 HVAC Quality Maintenance 
Program 

PG&E’s Commercial HVAC Quality Maintenance Program offers 
generous incentives for enrolling in a three-year air conditioning 
quality maintenance service agreement and installing optional unit 
retrofits. The business owner will lower their operating, repair and 
replacement costs; optimize unit performance and efficiency; 
improve the indoor air quality and thermal comfort for employees 
and customers; help prevent HVAC unit failures that can threaten 
business operations; and reduce their carbon footprint. 

 Lighting Rebates 
PG&E offers rebates for high-efficient replacement lights as well as 
rebates to help cover the costs of qualifying fixtures and retrofit 
kits. 

 Federal Business Investment Tax 
Credit 

A taxpayer may claim an investment tax credit of 30% of qualified 
expenditures for solar, fuel cells, small wind systems or 10% of 
qualified expenditures for geothermal, microturbines and 
combined heat and power systems (CHP), aka co-generation 
systems. Expenditures include labor costs for on-site preparation, 
assembly or original system installation, and for piping or wiring to 
interconnect a system. 

 Savings By Design (SBD) 

SBD is a statewide program offered by PG&E to encourage high-
performance new building design and construction for commercial 
buildings. The program offers building owners and their design 
teams a wide range of services, such as design assistance, design 
team incentives, owner incentives, and educational resources. 

 Retrocommissioning (RCx) Program 

Retrocommissioning (RCx) is a systematic process for identifying 
less-than-optimal performance in your facility’s equipment, 
lighting and control systems and making the necessary 
adjustments. While retrofitting involves replacing outdated 
equipment, RCx focuses on improving the efficiency of what’s 
already in place. PG&E’s RCx Program provides incentives and 
connects businesses with experts to make sure their facilities — 
and the equipment and systems within them — are running in 
peak condition for optimal energy savings. RCx projects can 
improve a facility’s work environment and extend the service life 
of equipment. 

 

http://www.pge.com/businessrebates


Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                                                                         Appendix F - page 55  

APPENDIX F: ENERGY EFFICIENCY FINANCING PROGRAMS 

This appendix lists available financing programs for specific sectors (community-wide, residential, 
non-residential, and municipal).  

FUNDING SOURCE DESCRIPTION 

COMMUNITY-WIDE    

 Property Assessed 
Clean Energy (PACE) 

PACE is an innovative way to finance energy efficiency and renewable energy 
upgrades to buildings. Interested property owners evaluate measures that achieve 
energy savings and receive 100% financing, repaid as a property tax assessment 
for up to 20 years.  The assessment mechanism has been used nationwide for 
decades to access low-cost long-term capital to finance improvements to private 
property that meet a public purpose.  By eliminating upfront costs, providing low-
cost long-term financing and making it easy for building owners to transfer 
repayment obligations to a new owner upon sale, PACE overcomes challenges 
that have hindered adoption of energy efficiency and related projects in our 
nation’s buildings. In California PACE programs are administered by a number of 
entities http://www.pacenow.org/resources/all-programs/#California 

 Solar Power Purchase 
Agreement (PPA) 

A solar power purchase agreement (PPA) is a financial agreement where a 
developer arranges for the design, permitting, financing and installation of a solar 
energy system on a customer’s property at little to no cost. The developer sells 
energy to the host customer at a fixed rate that is typically lower than the local 
utility’s retail rate. The lower price offsets the purchase of grid electricity while 
the developer receives the income from these sales of electricity as well as any tax 
credits and other incentives generated from the system. 

RESIDENTIAL   

 Energy Star Energy 
Efficiency Mortgages 

An Energy Efficient Mortgage (EEM) is a mortgage that credits a home's energy 
efficiency in the mortgage itself. EEMs give borrowers the opportunity to finance 
cost-effective, energy-saving measures as part of a single mortgage and stretch 
debt-to-income qualifying ratios on loans thereby allowing borrowers to qualify 
for a larger loan amount and a better, more energy-efficient home. 
https://www.energystar.gov/index.cfm?c=mortgages.energy_efficient_mortgages 

 CHF Residential Energy 
Retrofit Program 

Through the California Home Finance Authority (CHF) Residential Energy Retrofit 
Program, eligible homeowners can finance energy efficiency and renewable 
energy measures, up to $50,000, with a 6.5% fixed interest rate 15-year loan. 
http://www.chfloan.org/programs/energy/overview.shtml 

NON-RESIDENTIAL    

 PG&E Energy 
Efficiency Financing 

PG&E offers 0% interest loans of up to $100,000. Loans can be used to replace old 
and inefficient equipment with no up-front out-of-pocket investment. The 
program allows 5 years for repayment; however, the energy savings continue to 
accrue after the loan is paid off. 
http://www.pge.com/en/mybusiness/save/rebates/onbill/index.page 

 Energy Savings 
Agreement 

An Energy Savings Agreement involves a financing contract with a private energy 
services company that packages energy efficiency as a service paid through the 
energy savings. It allows for 100% financing and is off balance sheet. 

http://www.pacenow.org/resources/all-programs/#California
https://www.energystar.gov/index.cfm?c=mortgages.energy_efficient_mortgages
http://www.chfloan.org/programs/energy/overview.shtml
http://www.pge.com/en/mybusiness/save/rebates/onbill/index.page


Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                                                                         Appendix F - page 56  

FUNDING SOURCE DESCRIPTION 

 SAFE-BIDCO 

SAFE-BIDCO offers small businesses, qualifying landlords, and non-profit 
organizations loans up to $450,000 for a maximum of 15 years to complete energy 
efficiency and renewable energy projects. The loan can cover energy studies, 
design and consultant fees, materials and equipment costs and loan fees. 
http://www.safe-bidco.com/loan-programs/energy-efficiency-loans/ 

MUNICIPAL   

 CEC Energy Efficiency 
Financing 

The California Energy Commission (CEC) offers school districts, charter schools, 
county offices of education, state special schools, community college districts 0% 
loans for energy efficiency and energy generation projects. CEC offers cities, 
counties, special districts, public colleges, universities and public care 
institutions/hospitals 1% loans for energy efficiency and energy generation 
projects. http://www.energy.ca.gov/efficiency/financing/ 

 PG&E Energy 
Efficiency Financing 

PG&E offers 0% interest loans of up to $250,000. Loans can be used to replace old 
and inefficient equipment with no up-front out-of-pocket investment. The 
program allows 10 years for repayment; however, the energy savings continue to 
accrue after the loan is paid off. 
http://www.pge.com/en/mybusiness/save/rebates/onbill/index.page 

 Energy Savings 
Agreement 

An Energy Savings Agreement involves a financing contract with a private energy 
services company that packages energy efficiency as a service that is paid through 
the energy savings. It allows for 100% financing and is off balance sheet. 

 CSCDA Sustainable 
Energy Bond Program 

California Statewide Communities Development Authority (CSCDA) and the 
Foundation for Renewable Energy and Environment are teaming together to 
provide public agencies and nonprofit organizations throughout California with 
access to tax exempt financing for critical sustainable energy investments. Under 
the Sustainable Energy Bond Program, participating entities and organizations will 
contract with an Energy Service Company (ESCO) to complete energy and water 
conservation measures. Improvements could include street lighting, building 
lighting, pumps, HVAC, system controls, boilers, chillers, ducting, windows, partial 
roofing, toilets and others. The program participants will receive substantial utility 
cost savings, including a contractual guarantee sufficient to cover the full cost of 
all retrofit work. All projects are financed through tax exempt bonds. 
http://www.cacommunities.org/energy-finance-programs/ 

 IBank Clean Energy 
Finance Center 

The California Infrastructure and Economic Development Bank (IBank) Clean 
Energy Finance Center (CEFC) encourages concerted public and private 
investments and utilizes IBank's access to capital markets for selected clean 
energy and energy efficiency projects. The IBank CEFC will help to drive energy 
related projects for State and local governments. 
http://ibank.ca.gov/clean_energy.htm 

 

http://www.safe-bidco.com/loan-programs/energy-efficiency-loans/
http://www.energy.ca.gov/efficiency/financing/
http://www.pge.com/en/mybusiness/save/rebates/onbill/index.page
http://www.cacommunities.org/energy-finance-programs/
http://ibank.ca.gov/clean_energy.htm


Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                                                                        Appendix G - page 57  

APPENDIX G: PUBLIC OUTREACH  

Throughout development of the Energy Action Plan (EAP) public outreach was a key part of the 
process. This effort involved a publicly noticed study session (August 28, 2014), an on-line survey and 
information on the City’s website. In addition there were two public hearings – one before the 
Planning Commission on April 16, 2015 and one before the City Council on May 13, 2015. The Council 
approved the EAP unanimously (5-0) on May 13, 2015. A variety of methods were used to ‘spread the 
word’ about the study session including newsprint articles, radio announcements, multiple email 
blasts to local contacts, and invitations to electeds, the Chamber and other local organizations and 
businesses. A summary of public input from the study session and on-line survey is described below. 

Study Session: August 28, 2014 

The study session summarized work performed by Sierra Business Council (SBC) for Nevada City in 
2010 – 2014. The work included an inventory of energy used community-wide and by municipal 
operations for base years 2005 and 2008, and a forecast of future usage to Year 2020. A series of 
charts and graphic displays were provided as well as handout materials summarizing the work done 
to date. 

While turnout was low a number of excellent comments were made that helped inform the next 
phase of the process – development of the goals, strategies and actions. A summary of the key 
comments is provided below. 

 

Comments from Study Session:  August 28, 2014 

Topic Comment 
Rebate/ Incentive Programs Energy Star – community has participated 

 Solar Rebate – community has participated 
 Smart Energy Line 
 Time of Use incentives 
 Window Replacement – community has participated 

Program Participation Cost savings (+) 
 Already off grid (-) 
 Lack of awareness (-) 
 Responsible Citizen (+) 
 Selling soon (-) 
 Upfront costs (-) 
 Declining home values (-) 
 Involved in process / takes lots of time (-) 
 Oversized solar (-) – community does not want 
 NOTE:  (-) = detractor;  (+) = incentive; 

Program Improvements Incentives for renters 
 Incentives for landlords 
 Lack of return on investments if selling home 
 Incentives for senior home owners 
 Education of loading order 
 General awareness 



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                                                                        Appendix G - page 58  

Topic Comment 
 Lengthen time period for rebate programs 
 Make signing up easier / simplify application process 
 Awareness of different kinds of solar – small solar 

Best Ways to Reduce Energy 
Use 

Target specific areas for programs; ripple effect 

 Tax incentives or rebates for non-residential (business) 
 Large scale solar 
 Change out city’s street lights to LED, but not so bright 
 Pamphlets / brochures at city hall 
 Incentivize lighting in homes 
 Promote light switch outs as a way to reduce cooling costs 
 Obtain resolutions from cities to partner with PG&E or commit to 

greater energy efficiency 
 LG’s advocate for more rebate programs – a unified voice 
 Tip of the month in local news media 
 Quarterly city news letter 
 Toilet swap out program in the H20 bill 

 

 

Online Survey 

To garner additional input from Nevada City residents on the strategies contained in the Energy 
Action Plan, Sierra Business Council designed and distributed an on-line survey. The survey was sent 
to SBC’s contact list for Nevada City, shared on Facebook (with a target towards Nevada City), local 
public officials, and current/past SBC Sierra Nevada Energy Watch customers. The response was 
good and overall indicated strong support for forwarding energy efficiency strategies throughout 
the community. A summary is provided on the following page. 

  



Nevada City Energy Action Plan  

Nevada City Energy Action Plan – Approved May 13, 2015                                                                                        Appendix G - page 59  

 
 
 

Online Survey Summary for Nevada City 
Activated March 30, 2015; Closed May 6, 2015 

 
Respondent Profile: 

 78 total responses 
 78% from Nevada City  
 91% were 45 or older 
 61% were 55 or older 

 

  
Survey Questions Responses 
Promote energy efficiency 89%  yes  
Are proposed strategies effective 75%  yes 
Offer incentives for projects exceeding Title 24 
energy requirements 

68%  yes  

Offer incentives for renewable energy projects 68%  yes  
Prioritize municipal energy efficiency and renewable 
energy projects 

79% yes City should prioritize. Focus should be: 
 Solar 
 Lighting 
 Building insulation 

Promote water conservation 90%  yes 
Offer incentives for projects exceeding Title 24 water 
efficiency requirements 

64%  yes 

Obtaining information to make a decision about an 
energy efficiency project in home/business 

Top two ways: 
 Average costs 
 Contractor quotes 

Accessing information about energy efficiency 
programs, rebates, etc. 

Top three sources:   
 City website 
 Seminars/Workshops  
 Energy Upgrade California 

Additional Comments (partial list)  Pursue but don’t require the strategies 
 Educate residents about energy efficiency 

and its benefits 
 Incentives work 
 Focus on energy efficiency measures first, 

then solar 
 City can set example/lead the way to energy 

efficiency 
 Questions seem redundant 
 Provide additional information to help 

residents in deciding to incorporate energy 
efficiency measures (input from PG&E, 
subsidies, payback, etc.) 

 



Renewable Energy Plan page 1 

Nevada City 100% Renewable Energy Plan (REP) 
Nevada City 100% Renewables Committee - Charter Sep 18, 2017 

Date: September 23, 2020 

Table of Contents 

Overview of the Renewable Energy Plan (REP) Page 2 

2030 Goal of 100% Renewable Electricity Page 4 

2050 Goal of 100% Renewable Energy  Page 7 

Addendum  - Energy Efficiency - Residential Page 8 

Appendix A - Current 2015 EAP savings table for kWh Page 12 

Appendix B - Current 2015 EAP savings table for therms Page 13 

Appendix C - Definitions relating to renewable and clean energy Page 14 

Appendix D - Recommended existing actions for the 2015 EAP Overview Page 15 

Appendix E - Recommended actions for the County/Grass Valley EAPs  Page 18 

Appendix F - Recent California Regulatory Context    Page 19 

Resolution 2020-XX, Exhibit B



Renewable Energy Plan page 2 

 

Overview of the Renewable Energy Plan (REP)  
 
On August 9, 2017 the Nevada City Council adopted this resolution: 
A RESOLUTION OF THE NEVADA CITY COUNCIL ESTABLISHING A GOAL OF 
100% RENEWABLE ENERGY FOR NEVADA CITY:  
Renewable Energy Goals:  

1) 100% Renewable Electricity by 2030 - Implement the City’s Energy Action Plan 
for electricity efficiency to reduce its use 28% by 2020. Ensure the transition to 
100% renewable energy for its community electricity supply from PG&E and 
independent providers by 2030. 

2) 100% Renewable Energy by 2050 - Phase-out fossil fuels in all sectors including 
electrification of transportation and heating systems. Support Federal and State 
programs for major investments in clean and renewable energy, storage and grid 
infrastructure to ensure reliability and affordability. 

3) Progress on these transitions will be published at least every other year starting 
in 2018. 

 
This 2017 Resolution follows on from the 2015 Nevada City Energy Action Plan, which 
is a roadmap for expanding energy-efficiency and renewable-energy efforts (see 
Appendix D).  
 
The Nevada City 100% Renewable Energy Plan (REP) goal is to continue implementing 
the goals, strategies and actions of the EAP and adding new actions to reach the 
particular goals of the REP. By July, 2020 we hope to have the energy figures from 
PG&E for 2019 to not only judge how the goals of the EAP were met, but also to 
establish a baseline for the year 2020. The following tables summarize the goals. 
 
    Table 1 - Energy Goals 
Energy 
Use 

2020 EAP 
Projection 

2020 
Actual 

2030 REP 
Projection  

2030 Cal/IOU 
Goal 

2045 REP 
Projection 

2045 Cal 
Goal 

Electricity 27,911,082 
 kWh 

 100% 
Renewable 
Electricity 

60% 
Renewable 
Electricity 

100% 
Renewable 
Energy 

Carbon 
neutral 

Natural gas 1,575,460 
therms 

 20% reduced  
use from 2020 

No target No natural gas 
used in city 

Carbon 
neutral 

 

    Table 2 - Energy projections   
Electricity 

kWh 
2030 BAU 

Zero 
Growth 
(ZNE) 

2030 
Savings 

 

2030 usage 2030 
PG&E 
60% 

renewable 

2030 kWh 
non-

renewable 

2045 kWh 
non-

renewable 

Nevada City 27,911,082 4,190,000 23,721,082 14,232,649 9,488,432 0 

      
Gas - Therms  Current 

Usage 
2020 

2030 BAU 
1%per year 

growth 

2030 
Savings  

20% 

2030 
usage 

2030 kWh 
 Non- 

renewable  

2045 kWh 
non-

renewable 

Nevada City 1,575,460  1,740,288 348,057 1,392,230 40,792,350 0 

 
Table 2 Energy Projections are based on certain assumptions:   



Renewable Energy Plan page 3 

 

 Current usage for Nevada City assumes 2015 EAP goals were met in 2020 

 Nevada City 2030 Business As Usual (BAU) figures assume zero BAU growth for 
electricity (ZNE) and current 2015 EAP therm growth (1% per year) 

 Savings reduction based on solar installations and energy efficiency of 4 million 
kWh and 20% therms savings over 15 years using Grass Valley EAP projections 
(more realistic given later technology than 2015 Nevada City EAP rate of 10%). 

 2030 kWh for therms shows the conversion of therms to kWh using a factor of 
29.3.     

 
It should be noted that residential and commercial carbon emissions are 12% of 
California emissions (Transportation 41%, Industrial 24%, AG 8%, and Other 15%). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Renewable Energy Plan page 4 

 

2030 Current goal of 100% Renewable Electricity 
 
Currently Nevada City obtains most of its electricity (90%) from PG&E. SB100 requires 
that all utilities must provide 60% renewable electricity of retail sales by 2030. That 
means that Nevada City cannot be 100% zero carbon unless it finds another source that 
is 100% renewable. The City can be carbon neutral if the 40% of their non-renewable 
supply is offset by renewable generation from another source, such as a solar farm. 
Note: solar panels are an intermittent source, so net metering allows them to be carbon 
neutral, but not zero carbon.  
 
Assuming PG&E continues to be the electricity source, the first step is to reduce total 
electricity used so less has to be offset (See Addendum for Energy Efficiency - 
Residential discussion). Building retrofitting such as improved insulation, triple-paned 
windows, LED lighting along with more efficient appliances are important 
considerations. The Nevada City EAP used a 30% building participation with 30% 
efficiency improvement over 15 years that would save 3 million kWh. We can make the 
assumption that over the next 10 years another 20% do home-retrofitting saving 2 
million kWh.    
 
The EAP projected that 579 residential buildings (40%) and 152 non-residential 
buildings (20%) would install solar from 2014 to 2020 saving 6.3 million kWh. In 2019 20 
buildings had solar added. Using the same solar ratios as the EAP, we will assume that 
by 2030, 200 buildings will install solar for a total solar of 2,190,000 kWh produced.           
 
If we assume that the 2019 Title 24 Zero Net Energy standards will be applied to all new 
residential buildings, these buildings will be zero carbon for electricity if solar provides 
all electricity, but only carbon neutral if the building is exempted from solar due to 
shading etc. or they are mixed fuel. We can also assume that few new non-residential 
buildings will be built due to architectural standards for Nevada City. If they are built, 
they are not required to be zero carbon or carbon neutral until 2030 when the new 
regulation becomes effective, 
 
Starting with 27,911,082 kWh projected for 2020 and subtracting 2 million kWh 
efficiency savings and 2 million solar savings, that would leave approximately 23.7 
million kWh to be provided by PG&E in 2030. If the city and its residents remain with 
PG&E, that means they will have to find a way to offset the other 40% non-renewable 
electricity of 9,488,432 million kWh to be carbon neutral. 
 
Nevada City has prepared an RFP for building of a solar farm at the old city airport. The 
recommended size is 4.39 MW-DC or 3.84 MW-AC producing 7,288,404 kWh/year. 
This would create a 75% carbon offset to the non-renewable 9,488,432 kWh portion of 
PG&E electricity. Technically the renewable energy credit (REC) would go to whomever 
purchase the power and where it was used, but it could be said that the City had 
provided the renewable power to meet its resolution goal.  

 



Renewable Energy Plan page 5 

 

An alternative would be to obtain power from a source other than PG&E. This could be 
from an existing CCA that has goals of obtaining 100% renewable energy by 2030, or 
forming a CCA with NID to use its hydropower assets to meet the renewable goals. 

 
Nevada City 2030 Planning Goals 

 

The following City planning administrative guidelines can help to meet the REP 2030 
goals: 

1.  Priority to be given to the lowest cost measures to meet energy needs including 
efficiency, weatherization, cogeneration, district heating and cooling, decentralized 
electricity generation and smart grids/microgrids, the use of industrial waste heat, 
building controls, automated lighting, solar-powered hot water heaters and programs 
that create an energy-saving culture in Nevada City. 
2. Implementation of the 2019 Title 24 CA Building Standards that will require new 
construction to be Zero Net Energy (ZNE). The Title 24 energy standards will require 
new residential construction to meet 100% of the energy use by renewables starting in 
2020. New commercial construction will need to comply by 2030. Provide incentives to 
builders that exceed the new ZNE state requirements. 
3. Structured mechanisms to be created to include low-income citizens in the 
benefits to be derived including creating quality careers adhering to local source hiring, 
a just transition for workers displaced by fossil fuel reduction, equitable access through 
ownership and benefits to new opportunity for historically marginalized communities, 
and affordable clean energy options. 
4. The public to have opportunities and be encouraged to participate in the process 
for planning and implementation. 
5. The City to participate in related regulatory proceedings and State legislation to 
advocate for rules and policies that support the city’s energy goals 
6. The City to work with PG&E and independent providers to accelerate the 
transition to renewable energy and minimize dependence on fossil fuels, including but 
not limited to, participating in regulatory proceedings to express City preferences for 
renewable energy goals and opposition to any new fossil fuel uses.  
7. The City to publicize the PG&E Energy Efficient Retrofit and On-Bill Financing 
Projects to inform the community on how to participate.      
8. The City to seek to collaborate with surrounding communities and communities 
within PG&E and independent providers service territories to share best practices on 
planning and implementation and seek partnerships where beneficial for the parties 
9. The City Council to have a plan to achieve these goals that will include interim 
milestones, budget estimates, equity metrics, estimated financial impacts, financing 
mechanisms, and the percentage of clean energy that shall be generated locally 
10. The City to make funds available for third-party expertise required to facilitate the 
Renewable Energy Plan for the city to achieve goals of 100% renewable energy 
11. The City to request additional funds in subsequent fiscal year budgets to be used 
solely for purposes of this REP. 
 

 



Renewable Energy Plan page 6 

 

The 100% Nevada City Renewables Committee can assist with the following outreach 
(see appendices A and B for specific direction):  

1) Keep abreast of new technologies and grant opportunities and hold public 
meetings to release the information  

2) Hold regular forums to explain various incentive plans and grant opportunities  
3) Help with a contract for a solar farm to ensure that all City facilities run on 100% 

renewable energy, and offset City citizen uses  
4) Proactively encourage all new homes to be all-electric (As of July 2020, 32 CA 

cities have implemented reach codes to encourage all newly constructed 
buildings to be all-electric) 

5) Ensure that building decarbonization rules based on AB3232, SB49, and Sb1477 
be recommended, including retrofitting existing homes to all electricity 

6) Review the 2019-2027 Housing Element for additional areas that can support 
new technology and standards for housing energy reduction. 

7) Coordinate with Grass Valley and Nevada County EAP groups on outreach 
efforts 
     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Renewable Energy Plan page 7 

 

2050 Current Goal of 100% Renewable Energy  
 
We recommend that the resolution be updated to match California goal of carbon 
neutrality by 2045 for all energy uses.  
 
In looking at the EAPs, you can see that the kWh can be created by renewable energy 
sources, but the therms from natural gas have no such direct offset. Energy efficiency in 
heating systems, water heaters, and gas street light replacements reduce the therms 
but require conversion to electricity to reach 100% renewable energy. Even though 
natural gas is less polluting than oil, it is methane which is more potent in the short run.  
 
Natural gas is .0053 metric tons of CO2 per therm. Electricity is .00069 metric tons CO2 
per kwh. Nevada City 2020 usage is 27,911,082 kwh which equals 19,259 metric tons 
CO2 and 1,575,460 therms which equals 8350 metric tons CO2. A car produces 4.63 
metric tons CO2 per year, so the natural gas use of Nevada City is equal to 1,800 yearly 
cars’ emissions.   
 
To meet the new 2045 goals of the resolution, the following additional actions are 
recommended, that can be implemented as soon as possible: 
  

1) Require the electrification of all existing and future homes by conversion of 
natural gas systems to electric:  

a. Residential space and water heating and ranges  
b. Commercial/municipal heating  

2) Require the transportation and agricultural sectors to convert to electric vehicles 
from gas combustion vehicles with renewable energy used for charging vehicles 

3) Planting trees, implementing regenerative AG, reducing vehicle use, reducing 
food waste, reducing water use and other measures will reduce the community 
carbon footprint    

4) These conversion efforts will need to be financed/supported by Federal and State 
subsidies  

5) Conversion of the City's municipal facilities’ natural gas inputs to renewable 
electricity sources. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Renewable Energy Plan page 8 

 

Addendum 
 

Energy Efficiency – Residential 
 

 
 
The energy pyramid was designed to help others understand the process of using 
energy efficiently. EnSave developed this illustration as a result of its 18 years’ 
experience designing and implementing energy efficiency programs for agriculture.  
 
Energy efficiency is positioned first in the California Energy Commission’s (CEC) 
loading order in the path to clean energy and reduced greenhouse gas. Energy 
efficiency delivers multiple benefits to homeowners, cities, the environment and the 



Renewable Energy Plan page 9 

 

power grid. Energy savings frees dollars already being spent on utilities to be spent 
locally. Home energy upgrade projects create jobs, increase business to local suppliers, 
may increase tax revenues when homes are sold, contribute to cleaner air and water 
and can be part of the solution to grid balancing and flexibility. Reduced demand 
decreases the size solar system required for power and related expenses. Energy 
efficiency is the least-cost source of energy at 20-30% of other sources. Energy 
efficiency too often doesn’t get the respect it deserves. 
 
Since Nevada City’s 2015 EAP was established, although the promotion of energy 
efficiency was included in the goals and implementation plan, minimal attention was 
actually directed towards realizing the vast potential benefits that energy improvements 
can deliver to our residential sectors. We propose that we correct this omission, raise 
the bar in our goals and dedicate greater effort to progress here.  
 

Review of the benefits of home efficiency assets:                                                                                     
 
Energy upgrades in new or existing homes typically result in homes that are more safe, 
healthy (indoor air quality), comfortable, durable, efficient, have better aesthetics (sound 
and odors), are higher quality, have lower emissions, cost less to operate and maintain, 
and have higher market value. Depending on the extent of the project, each of these 
benefits is attainable.  
 
Health   
In recent years attention to the healthy home benefits potential has increased and now 
even more so with COVID. There are increasing volumes of case studies about people 
who chose energy upgrades to save energy, where they or a family member 
experienced health improvements (particularly asthma) to a degree that far outshined 
the other benefits. From materials selections to all-electric, no-combustion appliances, 
these choices make a difference in the indoor air quality of our homes. Homes that are 
air tight with well-designed ventilation that delivers fresh-filtered air can significantly 
improve the quality of life of the occupants.  
 
We’re repeatedly reminded of the dangers of gas appliances and gas lines in homes 
and our infrastructure as frequent explosions make the headlines. Several recent 
studies have raised awareness that cooking may be the greatest source for indoor air 
pollutants, particularly cooking with gas which commonly produces particles and 
pollutants at levels that exceed our outdoor air quality standards.  
 
Resiliency  
Resiliency is a strong concern in our community, particularly due to our location in an 
area of high fire danger and experience of power safety shut offs in 2019. Several of our 
local home performance experts have been involved with education workshops and 
actual rebuilding for folks who lost their homes to fires in Sonoma, Napa, Paradise, and 
Redding. Efficient enclosures are recognized as the most cost-effective way to provide 
shelter that keeps people comfortable and healthy – longer.  In both building and power 
sources, best practices in home performance are vital to resilience. For example: air 



Renewable Energy Plan page 10 

 

tightness reduces smoke infiltration, helping to maintain good indoor air quality while 
outdoor air is heavy with smoke. Timing of use of heating, cooling, water heating and 
other appliances can be controlled to be in synch with daytime solar and evening 
storage for continuous power.  
 
In California, buildings produce 26% of our total carbon emissions with half of that 
attributable to homes. With the new building code cycle which became effective Jan 
2020, California is pivoting its focus from net zero energy to emissions-reducing 
efficiency powered by clean energy. Two major forces are driving this action - 
California’s carbon reduction goals and the ever-changing shifts in our power grid with 
fluctuations in supply, demand, time, and location. The overarching goal in simple terms 
is to “shave the peak”.  
 
What emissions-reducing efficiency means for homes -       
1. Optimize through efficiency 
2. Electrify everything 
3. Power by clean energy 
For homes, emissions-reducing efficiency means to continue the best practices of 
building science with 
1. Enclosures: Tight and well-insulated 
2. Mechanical systems: Heat pumps for space and water heating and also cooling 
Heat pumps are 3-5 times more efficient than the replaced electric or gas furnace and 
water heater. With these assets, newly constructed homes may be as much as 80% 
more efficient than a code built house and will cost less to build and operate. Upgrades 
in existing homes commonly realize savings of 40-60% which makes an addition of 
solar to reach net zero much more affordable. We have a case study of a house in 
Grass Valley that is currently at 93% savings. 
3. Solar powered: May include storage  
 
These benefits are compelling enough that we propose an acceleration of our 
community efforts so that more of our homeowners will be informed and motivated to 
take action.We are fortunate to have several excellent examples of successful 
community outreach campaigns such as CHERP in Claremont where they energy 
upgraded over 400 homes in four years. There are now 32 California cities who have 
established goals to accelerate their path to reduced emissions in advance of the state 
through incentives and support to homeowners and builders who follow the guidelines 
of efficiency/electrify/solar. California has already improved funding to incentivize heat 
pumps, storage, and the Energy Upgrade California general program is ongoing (in 
some version). Other incentives and programs are currently in progress of being rolled 
out so we anticipate there will be more financial support as they support California’s 
goals. 
 
Implementation details will be evolving but as a very brief outline for starters:  

 Outreach to general population: education, materials, case studies, house tours, 
video stories 

 Engagement with community small groups: presentations 



Renewable Energy Plan page 11 

 

 Data-informed market analysis and tailored outreach:  A project envisioned by two 
members of the Nevada City Renewables committee. This project leverages some 
of the skills and resources of our group and is roughly planned to involve 3 phases:  
1. Analysis of smart meter data of a large population of homes (majority of county). 

Obtain anonymized records from PG&E for initial analysis. This data can 
illuminate patterns of high energy use and can be sorted by zip code. From here, 
we can match with publically available demographic data to potentially sort by 
parameters such as age and square footage. We can then disaggregate the 
energy consumption to understand how the homes are using energy: baseload, 
heating, cooling, and hot water.  

2. Survey a group (1,000?) by phone or internet. This could be expanded to include 
Grass Valley, Lake of the Pines, Lake Wildwood and Truckee. Purpose: gain 
more insight about details of the houses to inform a marketing and program 
strategy.  

3. From these surveys, identify a smaller group of 100 (depending on funds) to 
ideally include a mix powered by natural gas, propane and all-electric. Have 
those homes inspected by a Home Energy Score (HES) assessor to calculate a 
Department Of Energy HES and deliver the homeowners a HES report. These 
reports will provide more details of the existing conditions of the homes to inform 
our strategies and establish a “pre” baseline score which if they go forward with 
an energy upgrade project will be revised, earning them a higher score. 
The HES is based on a scale of 1 to 10 so is easily understood by consumers. 
Fannie and Freddie offer special financing for homes that score a 6 and above. 
The HES raises visibility of key metrics including energy consumption and 
carbon emissions associated with a house while providing a professional 
inspection and information about current conditions with recommendations for 
cost-effective improvements; these can be very empowering and motivating for 
homeowners.  
Portland, Denver, Berkeley, Minneapolis and cities in CT have mandated HES at 
the time of sale of a home. Others are strongly encouraging it. This is to support 
transparency as a consumer protection and as a way to require disclosure of 
energy costs. HES is one of the most accessible of types of scores or energy 
ratings in terms of cost, time, and overall effort.  
 

With insights from actual data of our homes, something most cities lack, we’ll be better 
equipped to design a targeted program that will be much more successful and realize 
greater energy savings and GHG reductions sooner. This will spark activity and begin to 
produce results and success stories we can share to drive further momentum.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Renewable Energy Plan page 12 

 

Appendix A 
 
Nevada City EAP kWh Emissions Savings Analysis - 2020 savings 10,794,804 
kWh 
 28% reduction in electricity use 
 

Category Residential Non-
Residential 

City Total 

Building efficiency   822,141 2,240,443 76,513 3,139,097 

Title 24 compliance 111,684 694,696  806,380 

Exceed Title 24 25,788 44,902  70,690 

New bldg 70% renew 60,171  209,541  269,712 

Solar 4,220,706 2,122,544  6,343,250 

Reduce potable  5,754 5,754 144,239 155,747 

Reduce landscaping 4,964 4,964  9,928 

Total  5,251,208 5,322,844 220,752 10,794,804 

Percent of total 48.6% 49.3% 2.1% 100.0% 

  
Assumptions are: 

 30% of residences (out of 1,447) and 30% of non-residences will participate in 
energy efficiency programs. 

 Nevada City municipality will reduce its electrical usage by 20% 

 569 residences and 162 non-residences will add solar produced electricity 

 100% of users will reduce potable and wastewater usage by 20% 

 15% of new construction will meet 70% of energy needs with renewable energy  
 
Conclusions 
 

 With 64% of the energy efficiency coming from non-residential, a good effort 
should be made to advise Nevada City businesses. 

 With 75% of the Title 24 savings coming from non-residential, reaching out to 
them would be recommended.      

 With 80% of the solar savings coming from residential housing, a major effort has 
to be educating and assisting existing homeowners on solar power. 

 A strict enforcement of new construction zero net energy by the city is needed, 
so that new construction truly does not add to electricity load. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



Renewable Energy Plan page 13 

 

Appendix B  
 
Nevada City EAP Therms Emissions Savings Analysis - 2020 savings 182,480 
therms 
 10% reduction in natural gas use 
 

Category Residential Non-
Residential 

City Total 

Building efficiency   75,211 60,779 5,366 141,356 

Title 24 compliance 7,050 18,103  25,153 

Exceed Title 24 2,502 1,235  3,737 

New bldg 70% renew 5,837  5,763  11,600 

Reduce potable    634 634 

Total  90,600 85,880 6,000 182,480 

Percent of total 49.6% 47.1% 3.3% 100.0% 

  
Assumptions are: 

 30% of residences (out of 1,447) and 30% of non-residences will participate in 
energy efficiency programs. 

 Nevada City will reduce its natural gas usage by 20% 

 Nevada City will reduce potable and wastewater thermal usage by 20% 

 15% of new construction will meet 70% of energy needs with renewable energy  

 A therm equals 29.3 kWh, so the natural gas savings is equal to 5,346,664 kWh  
 
Conclusions 
 

 Equal effort should be carried out for residential and non-residential building 
owners.       

 A strict enforcement of new construction zero net energy by the city is needed, 
so that new construction truly does not add to thermal load. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Renewable Energy Plan page 14 

 

Appendix C 
 
Energy Planning Definitions 
 
The goal is to stop using non-renewable sources of carbon for non-essential energy 
needed to run the current society. There are ways to express this: 
1) Carbon neutrality - Achieving net zero carbon emissions by balancing a measured 
amount of carbon released with an equivalent amount sequestered or offset, or buying 
enough carbon credits to make up the difference. California sets 2045 as the goal for 
carbon neutrality and net negative thereafter. 
2)  Zero Net Energy (ZNE) - Same as carbon neutrality but applied to buildings. For 
example, a building with solar panels that sends renewable energy to the grid that is 
equal to the energy it uses from the grid can be considered “net zero” energy or carbon 
neutral.   
3) Zero Carbon: This is a case when no carbon is emitted, so no carbon needs to be 
captured or offset. For example, a household or commercial building that is off-grid, 
running entirely on solar, and using zero fossil fuels can label its energy zero carbon. 
4) Negative emissions - Refers to a number of technologies, the objective of which is 
the large-scale removal of carbon dioxide from the atmosphere.          
5) 100% Clean, Renewable Energy - The source of energy is from renewable resources 
that include solar, wind, geothermal, hydro and biomass. To guarantee 100 percent 
emissions reductions from renewable energy, power consumption needs to be matched 
with renewable generation on an hourly basis. For intermittent wind and solar, it means 
use of storage of previously generated renewable energy. Clean energy is energy that 
is produced through means that do not pollute the atmosphere. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Renewable Energy Plan page 15 

 

Appendix D 
 
Nevada City Energy Action Plan (EAP) - Existing   
 
The Nevada City Energy Action Plan (EAP) was approved by the City Council May 13, 
2015. The document focuses on three energy use sectors within the community – 
residential, non-residential and municipal (which is a subset of non-residential). The two 
primary energy sources consumed by the three community sectors are electricity and 
natural gas which is distributed by Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E). Direct 
sources account for around 10% of the PG&E uses. The report only evaluates energy 
consumed by buildings and municipal operations; other energy consuming sectors such 
as transportation, solid waste, etc. are not addressed but could be at a future date.  
 
The Plan determined a 2005 baseline of kilowatt hours and therms, and then projects 
the savings by 2020 from various strategies and actions. It does, however, not relate 
these savings to GHG emissions or indicate the remaining GHG emissions or the 
percent of renewable electricity that has been obtained.      
 
The goals address five key areas: 

 Energy efficiency in existing structures 

 Energy performance in new construction 

 Expansion of renewable energy options 

 Energy efficiency in municipal operations 

 Water conservation which reduces energy needed to transport and treat water  
 
The strategies focus on voluntary measures that can be taken by residents, businesses 
and the local government. Key components include developing and disseminating 
information on existing rebate and incentive programs; public outreach via the City's 
website and printed materials; training for staff, contractors and developers; and 
partnerships with PG&E and local and regional organizations. Energy reduction 
performance indicators and targets are established for each group of strategies. If all 
the actions are implemented, the EAP would reduce electrical energy used in 2020 by 
28% and natural gas use by 10%. 
 
The following are the goals and strategies for the Nevada City current EAP:  

GOAL 1: INCREASE ENERGY EFFICIENCY IN EXISTING STRUCTURES 
 Strategy 1.1: Expand outreach and education to increase participation in 

voluntary home energy-efficiency programs. 
 Strategy 1.2: Expand outreach and education to increase participation in 

voluntary non-residential energy-efficiency programs. 
 Strategy 1.3: Identify and promote programs that help finance energy-

efficiency and renewable-energy projects. 

GOAL 2: INCREASE THE ENERGY PERFORMANCE OF NEW CONSTRUCTION 
 Strategy 2.1: Improve compliance with Title 24 Green Building and Energy 

Efficiency Standards. 



Renewable Energy Plan page 16 

 

 Strategy 2.2: Provide incentives for buildings to exceed the current Title-24 
Energy Efficiency Standards. 

 Strategy 2.3: Reduce the heat island effect and related summer heat gain in 
residential and non-residential projects. 

GOAL 3: INCREASE RENEWABLE ENERGY USE  
 Strategy 3.1: Evaluate the City’s residential, non-residential and municipal 

solar potential and assess barriers to increased solar energy use. 
 Strategy 3.2: Develop a comprehensive renewable energy program that 

provides outreach, financing, and technical assistance. 
 Strategy 3.3: Encourage new development projects to meet 70% of their 

energy needs from renewable resources. 

GOAL 4: INCREASE ENERGY EFFICIENCY IN MUNICIPAL STRUCTURES AND OPERATIONS 
 Strategy 4.1: Improve the energy efficiency of existing municipal structures. 
 Strategy 4.2: Evaluate the feasibility of improving the energy efficiency of 

public lighting. 
 Strategy 4.3: Evaluate the feasibility of improving the energy efficiency of the 

potable water and wastewater infrastructure. 

GOAL 5: INCREASE COMMUNITY WATER CONSERVATION AND EFFICIENCY TO REDUCE 

ASSOCIATED ENERGY USE 
 Strategy 5.1: Encourage residents and businesses to conserve water used 

indoors. 
 Strategy 5.2: Encourage residents and businesses to conserve water used 

outdoors. 
 
These goals and strategies can be continued to help meet the 100% resolution.  
Replacement goal: Strategy 3.3: Encourage new development projects to meet 100% 
of their electricity needs by 2030 from renewable resources. 
 

Nevada City EAP Actions 
 
2015 

 Partner with PG&E  and regional organizations to activate existing energy efficiency and 
water efficiency programs 

 Provide information on and opportunities for staff, contractors and developers to attend 
training on Title 24 

 Develop solar roadmap to analyze solar potential, review barriers to solar and streamline 
permitting 

 Adopt purchasing guidelines, benchmark municipal facilities and require energy 
efficiency analysis in all potable water and wastewater projects. 

 
2016 

 Update the City¡¦s website with information and links to energy efficiency programs, case 
studies, financing programs. 

 Determine the feasibility of offering incentives for new construction that completes a 
green building checklist, including:  
 Exceed Title 24 energy requirements 



Renewable Energy Plan page 17 

 

 Meet 70% of energy needs with on-site renewable energy 
 Exceed water efficiency requirements 

 Develop and adopt ordinance that explicitly permits greywater (recycled) systems 

 Partner with PG&E, Nevada County and local banks to promote and expand financing 
options for energy-efficiency, renewable-energy and water-efficiency projects 

 
2017 

 Develop heat gain mitigation guidelines and ordinances for streets and parking lots 

 Conduct energy audits, retro-commissioning on municipal facilities. Implement cost-
effective energy efficiency projects and leak detection 

 Evaluate the cost-effectiveness of upgrading traffic signals and street lights to LED 

 Work with NID to redesign the water bills to promote conservation, develop new water-
efficiency programs and market programs in Nevada City including design of a zero-
water demonstration garden 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



Renewable Energy Plan page 18 

 

Appendix E 
 
Grass Valley and Nevada County EAP Actions  
 
2019 

 Continue to promote existing energy-efficiency, water-efficiency, and renewable-energy 
programs and best practices by providing information when available at City offices and 
on the City website. (1.1, 3.1, 2.2) 

 Develop a public recognition system for businesses that audit and retrofit their facilities 
and business practices. (1.1) 

 Join the Institute for Local Government's Beacon Program in order to receive assistance 
in tracking community and municipal energy use and learn more about best practices. 
(1.1, 1.3) 

 Continue to provide information regarding no-cost Title 24, Part 6 trainings for plans 
examiners, building inspectors, architects, designers, and contractors at City offices and 
on the City website. (1.2) 

 Continue to conduct building audits to benchmark energy and water use in facilities, and 
identify cost-effective retrofit projects. (1.3, 3.1) 

 
2020 

 Provide available information on incentives, resources, trainings, and funding 
opportunities for achieving Title 24 ZNE goals. Encourage new construction and 
renovation projects to participate in Energy Efficiency and Zero Net Energy design 
programs. (1.2) 

 Provide heat gain mitigation information when available for streets and parking lots (i.e. 
light-colored building and paving materials, landscaping, green roofs, shade trees, and 
other green infrastructure). (1.1) 

 Retro-commission facilities to maximize energy performance and complete cost-effective 
retrofit projects. (1.3) 

 Provide information when it becomes available on the benefits of incorporating 
renewable energy and energy storage systems into retrofit projects and into new 
construction. (2.1, 2.2, 2.3) 

 
2021 

 Consider adopting purchasing guidelines and energy-efficiency analysis requirements in 
RFPs. (1.3) 

 Continue expanding on-site renewable energy at feasible City facilities and sites. Further 
renewable energy procurement efforts by evaluating additional sites for renewable 
energy on City facilities and property. (2.2) 

 Encourage and participate in bulk purchasing of energy storage systems to support grid 
reliability and community resilience. (2.3) 

 Encourage broadband infrastructure in new development proposals to ensure optimal 
connectivity for IT controls and networks of operating systems. (2.3) 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Renewable Energy Plan page 19 

 

Appendix F 
 
State of California Regulatory Context 
  

 Title 24, Part 6. Energy Efficiency Standards first adopted in 1978. Ongoing 
updates. Established minimum energy efficiency performance standards for 
residential and non-residential buildings. Effective January 1, 2020 new energy 
efficiency standards will require near zero net energy for residential cost-
effectively through efficiency and onsite renewable energy. 

 Executive Order S-3-05. Governor's Executive Order. Set GHG reduction 
targets for state agencies at Year 2000 levels by 2010, 1990 levels by 2020 and 
80% below 1990 levels by 2050. 

 Assembly Bill 32. Landmark legislation that requires the California Air 
Resources Board (ARB) to develop regulatory and market mechanisms that will 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions to 1990 levels by 2020. 

 Senate Bill 97. Requires lead agencies to analyze GHG emissions and climate 
change impacts under the California Environmental Quality Act. 

 CALGreen. Enhances sustainable construction practices through mandatory and 
voluntary measures including reduced construction waste, water conservation, 
non-toxic sealants and use of renewable materials. Now part of Title 24 and 
updated on same schedule. 

 Senate Bill 32. Expands upon AB 32 and requires the California ARB to develop 
regulatory and market mechanisms that will ensure that statewide greenhouse 
gas emissions are reduced to 40% below 1990 levels by 2030. 

 Assembly Bill 398. Extends the cap-and-trade program mandated by AB 32 to 
continue through 2030. 

 Senate Bill 100. Revised the Renewable Portfolio Standards to require 
achievement of 50% renewable resources target by 2026, 60 percent by 2030 
and 100% eligible renewable energy or zero-carbon resources by 2045. 

 Assembly Bill AB3232 (9/13/18) Assess the potential for the state to reduce the 
emissions of greenhouse gases in the state’s residential and commercial building 
stock by at least 40 percent below 1990 levels by January 1, 2030. Assess the 
cost-effectiveness of strategies to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases from 
space heating and water heating in both new and existing residential and 
commercial buildings.  

 Senate Bill 49 (10/9/19) Adopt, by regulation, and periodically update, standards 
for appliances to facilitate the deployment of flexible demand technologies that 
can more conveniently have their electrical demand controlled by load-
management technology and third-party load-management programs. 

 SB1477 (11/18/18) Building Initiative for Low-Emissions Development (BUILD) 
and Technology and Equipment for Clean Heating (TECH). There are a range of 
technologies that can achieve deep emissions reductions in buildings, including 
advanced energy efficiency technologies, clean heating technologies, energy 
storage, and load management strategies. 

 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
             Nevada City CA 95959 
September 23, 2020       www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:   Cashin’s Field Affordable Housing Development Request for Financial Assistance   
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of 
Nevada City committing to an agreement with the Regional Housing Authority and Central 
California Housing Corporation to provide a loan to the Cashin’s Field Affordable Housing Project 
in the amount of $200,000 (effectively deferring that portion of development impact fees), and 
authorize the Mayor and City Manager to sign a letter of commitment for the loan. 
 
CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
The Regional Housing Authority (RHA) and its co-developer Central California Housing 
Corporation (CCHC) have received approval from the City to construct the Cashin’s Field 
Affordable Housing Project in the City of Nevada City, which is a 51-unit low-income affordable 
housing project. 
 
The City estimates that the developers will owe total development impact fees to the City in the 
amount of $598,651.  RHA and CCHC are asking the City to defer $200,000 of development 
impact fees in order help offset the financial impact on the project.  By providing a City loan to the 
project developers which will be a secured loan, the City will effectively allow the developer to 
defer payment of that portion of the impact fees for the loan term, which is being requested at 55 
years. 
 
RHA and CCHC have submitted an application for funding with the Federal Low-Income Housing 
Tax Credit Program.  The California Tax Credit Allocation Committee (CTCAC), responsible for 
allocating tax credits to owners and developers, encourages local government agencies to provide 
financial assistance to aid in the development and construction of low-income rental housing. If the 
developers receive an award of the Federal tax credits from the CTCAC, making the project 
feasible, a loan agreement will be brought before the City Council with terms as follows: 

1. Loan term fifty-five (55) years. 
2. Simple interest rate of 3%. 
3. Loan payments to be made annually from residual cash flow from the project secured by a 

deed of trust and promissory note. 
 
Staff recommends passing the Resolution and authorizing the Mayor and City Manager to sign a 
loan commitment letter. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:   Not applicable.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Deferral of $200,000 of development impact fees. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City Committing 

to an Agreement with the Regional Housing Authority and Central California Housing 
Corporation to Provide a Loan to the Cashin’s Field Affordable Housing Project in the 
Amount of $200,000 (Effectively Deferring that Portion of Development Impact Fees). 

 Cashin’s Field Affordable Housing Development Commitment Letter for Financial 
Assistance. 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY COMMITTING 
TO AN AGREEMENT WITH THE REGIONAL HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CENTRAL 

CALIFORNIA HOUSING CORPORATION TO PROVIDE A LOAN TO THE CASHIN’S FIELD 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROJECT IN THE AMOUNT OF $200,000 (EFFECTIVELY 

DEFERRING THAT PORTION OF DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEES)   
 

WHEREAS, the Regional Housing Authority (RHA) and its co-developer Central California 
Housing Corporation (CCHC) have received City approval to construct the Cashin’s Field 
Affordable Housing Project in the City of Nevada City, which is a 51-unit low-income affordable 
housing project serving income qualified residents in Nevada City and the surrounding areas; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the City estimates that the developers will owe total development impact fees to 
the City in the amount of $598,651.  The developers have asked for the City to defer $200,000 
of development impact fees in order to help offset the financial impact of the impacts that will 
be due to the City before the issuance of certificates of occupancy of the completed units; and 
 
WHEREAS, by providing a City loan to the project developers in the amount of $200,000, the 
City will effectively allow the developer to defer payment of that portion of the development 
impact fees for the loan term, which is 55 years; and 
 
WHEREAS, RHA and CCHC have submitted an application for funding with the Federal Low-
Income Housing Tax Credit Program which was established by the Tax Reform Act of 1986 to 
encourage construction and rehabilitation of low-income rental housing, and the California Tax 
Credit Allocation Committee (CTCAC) is responsible for allocating tax credits to the owners 
and developers of qualifying residential rental housing projects; and 
 
WHEREAS, CTCAC encourages local government agencies to provide financial assistance to 
aid in the development and construction of low-income rental housing, and it is expected that 
the City’s loan to the developers of $200,000 will provide additional financing needed to make 
the project financially feasible; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City finds a public purpose for the $200,000 loan to the Cashin’s Field 
developers and finds it to be for the benefit of the public; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Cashin’s Field units will satisfy a portion of State requirements to provide 
affordable housing and that the subject project will credit the state requirements as defined by 
the California Housing & Community Development Department (HCD); and  
 
WHEREAS, if the developers receive an award of Federal tax credits from the CTCAC and all 
other necessary financing to make the project feasible, then a loan agreement will be brought 
before the City Council of the City of Nevada City, with the following terms: the term of the loan 
shall be fifty-five (55) years; the interest rate shall be 3% simple interest; loan payments shall 
be made annually from residual cash flow only from the project, which shall be secured by a 
deed of trust and promissory note.   
 



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Nevada City, the City 
Council authorizes the Mayor and the City Manager to sign a commitment letter for a loan in 
the amount of $200,000 to the Cashin’s Field project, in substantially the same form as 
attached hereto as Exhibit “A.”  
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regularly scheduled meeting of the Nevada City City Council 
held on this 23rd day of September, 2020 by the following vote: 
 
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSTAIN:   
ABSENT:   

 

Erin Minett, Mayor 

ATTEST:  

Niel Locke, City Clerk 



1 
 

  
   
  

 
September 23, 2020 
  
Gustavo Becerra 
Executive Director 
Regional Housing Authority 
1455 Butte House Road 
Yuba City, CA  95993 
  
RE: Request for Financial Assistance 

     Development Impact Fee Loan ($200,000) 
     Cashin’s Field Affordable Housing Development 
     170 Ridge Road, Nevada City, CA 

  
Dear Mr. Becerra,   
  
On September 23, 2020 by means of Resolution No.____________, the City Council of the 
City of Nevada City approved and authorized a loan in the amount of $200,000 (to effectively 
defer that portion of the development impact fees until the balance of the loan is due) to a to 
be formed partnership consisting of Building Better Partnerships, Inc. (or assignee) and 
Central California Housing Corporation (or assignee) to facilitate the development of the 
above-referenced affordable housing project. Loan terms will include simple interest rate of 
3% interest, a 55-year term, and loan payments based on residual receipts, and the loan will 
be secured by a deed of trust and promissory note.   
  
Please be advised that this loan commitment is expressly conditioned upon your successful 
application for low-income housing tax credits and all other necessary financing to make 
the project feasible.   
 
We wish you the best as you attempt to obtain the balance of your required financing. 
Please feel free to contact me with any questions. 
  
Sincerely,        Sincerely, 
 
  
  
Catrina Olson      Erin Minett 
City Manager      Mayor 
  
  



2 
 

  
  
Cc:   
County of Nevada Board of Supervisors  
Central California Housing Corporation 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL City of Nevada City 
317 Broad Street 
Nevada City CA 95959 

September 23, 2020       www.nevadacityca.gov 
__________________________________________________________________________

TITLE:   A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City Pledging Support to 
the Nisenan Tribal Community of the Nevada City Rancheria to Preserve and Protect 
their Native Culture and Acknowledging the Ancestral Nisenan Lands 

RECOMMENDATION:  Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City 
of Nevada City pledging support to the Nisenan Tribal Community of the Nevada City 
Rancheria to preserve and protect their Native Culture and acknowledging the Ancestral 
Nisenan Lands and that a statement of that acknowledgment be read prior to each City 
Council meeting.  

CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, City Manager 

BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
On August 30, 2020 the City received a request from Shelly Covert (Secretary, Community 
Outreach and Spokesperson), accompanied by a draft Resolution of Support for the Nevada 
City Rancheria Nisenan Tribal Community, that the Nevada City Council consider the 
adoption of the draft Resolution. 

At the September 9, 2020 City Council meeting the Council requested that this item be added 
to the upcoming agenda.  The Resolution the supporting history of the Nevada City 
Rancheria Nisenan Tribe.  The Resolution also outlines that the City of Nevada City 
recognize the importance of the Nisenan contribution to the lands both future and past and 
resolves that the Council of the City of Nevada City acknowledges and supports the following: 

1. We acknowledge the continued existence of our oldest Nevada County residents and
citizens, the Nisenan Indian people; and

2. We support the Nevada City Rancheria Nisenan Tribe in their effort to restore their
Federal Recognition; and

3. We support the restoration of the Tribe’s Federal status and all rights that come with it;
and

4. We support the Tribe’s request to have lands within Nevada County taken into trust; and
5. We support the Tribe’s inherent rights to self-governance; and
6. We recommend that the U.S. Congress enact legislation to restore Federal Recognition

to the Nevada City Rancheria; and
7. We recommend that the State of California adopt a Joint State Resolution in support of

the restoration of Federal Recognition to the Nevada City Rancheria; and
8. We recommend our local Nevada County Board of Supervisors adopt a resolution in

support of the restoration of the Federal Recognition of the Nevada City Rancheria.

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


Also provided was a statement of acknowledgement for Council to consider reading all or 
some part of prior to the beginning of each Council meeting.  The following is the statement 
provided: 
 

“We acknowledge that the Nisenan people are still here among us today, though nearly 
invisible.   
We understand that we are on Nisenan land that was never ceded and the original tribal 
families have yet to recover from the near genocide of their people. 
As a resident or visitor in Nisenan land, we support the Nevada City Rancheria Nisenan 
Tribe in efforts to stabilize their people as well as their campaign to restore Federal 
Recognition.” 
 

If the Council choses to read this statement prior to each meeting Crystal Hodgson, City 
Attorney reviewed the statement and made the following suggested change to the second 
paragraph: 
 

“We understand that this area is part of the ancestral Nisenan lands were never ceded 
and the original tribal families have yet to recover from the near genocide of their 
people.”  

 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:   Not applicable.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City 

Pledging Support to the Nisenan Tribal Community of the Nevada City Rancheria to 
Preserve and Protect their Native Culture and Acknowledging the Ancestral Nisenan 
Lands and that a Statement of that Acknowledgment be Read Prior to each City Council 
Meeting. 

 Acknowledgement Statement 
 Nisenan Sign 



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY PLEDGING 
SUPPORT TO THE NISENAN TRIBAL COMMUNITY OF THE NEVADA CITY RANCHERIA 
TO PRESERVE AND PROTECT THEIR NATIVE CULTURE AND ACKNOWLEDGING THE 

ANCESTRAL NISENAN LANDS 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City lay within Nisenan territory on top of the Nisenan town of 
‘ustomah; and 
 
WHEREAS, before the creation of Nevada County and before the creation of the State of 
California itself, the Nisenan Indians made these foothills their home for millennia; and 
 
WHEREAS, California Indian Tribes had flourished for thousands of years before their near 
annihilation under the mission system, the Gold Rush, the early anti-Indian rule of the state, 
environmental devastation, and the forced assimilation practices of the Indian Boarding School 
system; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Nisenan people from this place were autonomous and self-governing people 
with their own territory, language and cultural customs, who lived in an ancient, symbiotic 
relationship with the land and animals, and honored their dead, who are buried throughout the 
Yuba River and Bear River watershed; and 
 
WHEREAS, in 1848, gold was discovered here, in Nisenan territory, and tens of thousands of 
emigrant and immigrant gold seekers descended into the homelands of the Nisenan people, 
devastating the environment and enslaving their people; and 
 
WHEREAS, in 1850, the United States sent Indian Agents to make treaties with California 
Indian Tribes. At conclusion, eighteen treaties were made to protect the Indians, to outline the 
cession of lands, and to relocate the Indians onto lands specifically identified as Indian 
Reserves; and  
 
WHEREAS, accordingly, on July 18, 1851, the Camp Union Treaty F was signed and 
concluded in Nisenan Territory near the Yuba River; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Camp Union Treaty promised payment and resources for the ceding of 
Nisenan controlled Tribal lands, in exchange for safety and reservation land (Royce 287) 
located between Penn Valley and Rough and Ready, California, as-well-as farming equipment, 
money, a school house, teacher, cattle, and cloth; and  
 
WHEREAS, because of strong anti-Indian lobbying in both the U.S. legislature and California, 
the eighteen treaties, including the Camp Union Treaty, were not ratified by the U.S. Senate 
leaving California Indians without land and without protection; and 
 
WHEREAS, completely landless, the surviving California Indians, including the Nisenan, found 
ways to exist on the fringes of society, sometimes resisting capture and starvation by surviving 
in remote lands as far from civilization as possible. Some surviving families intermarried with 
immigrant whites which provided protection and some semblance stability; and 



 
WHEREAS, next came the Indian Boarding Schools and the mantra of forced assimilation. “Kill 
the Indian save the man”. Thousands of California Indian children were forcibly taken from 
their families and sent to church run, Federally funded schools far from the children’s Tribal 
lands and communities; and 
 
WHEREAS, in the late 1800’s, several non-native Nevada County settlers stood up as 
champions for the Nisenan people, including the Native Sons and Daughters of the Golden 
West and Nevada County pioneer suffragette Bell Rolfe Douglas; and 
 
WHEREAS, as a direct result of this relentless advocacy on behalf of the Nisenan people, 
President Woodrow Wilson signed an Executive Order on May 6, 1913, establishing a 76 acre 
reservation in Nevada County for the Nisenan people near Nevada City, California; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Federal reservation land became known as the Nevada City Rancheria and 
was the only Indian reservation to exist in Nevada County; and 
 
WHEREAS, following a unanimous vote among the remaining Nisenan people on the 
Reservation, the eligible voting Tribal members of Nevada City Rancheria reorganized 
themselves under the 1934 Indian Reorganization Act, creating a Tribal Council, Constitution 
and Election Board; and 
 
WHEREAS, on August 18, 1958 Congress established a process for terminating the Federal 
trust relationship with forty-one California Indian Rancherias, severing the Federal trust 
relationship with individual tribal members and distributing the communal lands of forty-one 
California Indian Tribes, including the Nevada City Rancheria under the 1958 Rancheria Act 
(Public Law 85-671; 72 Stat. 619); and 
 
WHEREAS, in 1964, the Nevada City Rancheria was “terminated” and the reservation land 
was sold at auction to the highest bidder; and 
 
WHEREAS, in 1970, President Richard M. Nixon called for an end to termination policies 
allowing Indian governments to have the right of self-determination in a special message to the 
U.S. Congress; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Nevada City Rancheria Nisenan burning ground and cemetery was donated 
by Erikson Lumber Company and taken under stewardship by the Nevada County Cemetery 
District and where the Tribe continues to bury its dead even today; and 
 
WHEREAS, in 1988, the U.S. Congress repudiated “any policy of unilateral termination of 
Federal relations with any Indian nation” (Public Law 100-297; 25 U.S.C. 5301(f)); and 
 
WHEREAS, while most of the forty-one California Indian Rancherias terminated under the Act 
of August 18, 1958 have been restored to Federal status, three Congressionally terminated 
Rancherias, including the Nevada City Rancheria, continue to wait for restoration as federally 
recognized Indian tribes; and 
 
WHEREAS, today the direct descendants of the same Nisenan families remain here in their 
ancestral homelands and seek restoration of their Federal Recognition from the government of 



the United States and regain their place on the list of Federally Recognized Tribes; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City recognizes the importance of Nisenan contribution to this 
land, both future and past, and stands with the remaining Nisenan people as they fight to save 
their endangered culture; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council City of Nevada City that:  
 

1. We acknowledge the continued existence of our oldest Nevada County residents and 
citizens, the Nisenan Indian people; and  

2. We support the Nevada City Rancheria Nisenan Tribe in their effort to restore their 
Federal Recognition; and 

3. We support the restoration of the Tribe’s Federal status and all rights that come with it; 
and 

4. We support the Tribe’s request to have lands within Nevada County taken into trust; and  
5. We support the Tribe’s inherent rights to self-governance; and 
6. We recommend that the U.S. Congress enact legislation to restore Federal Recognition 

to the Nevada City Rancheria; and 
7. We recommend that the State of California adopt a Joint State Resolution in support of 

the restoration of Federal Recognition to the Nevada City Rancheria; and 
8. We recommend our local Nevada County Board of Supervisors adopt a resolution in 

support of the restoration of the Federal Recognition of the Nevada City Rancheria. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regularly scheduled meeting of the Nevada City City Council held 
on this 23rd day of September, 2020 by the following vote: 
 
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSTAIN:   
ABSENT:   

 
Erin Minett, Mayor 

ATTEST:  
     Niel Locke, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 



WE ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE
NISENAN PEOPLE ARE STILL HERE

AMONG US TODAY, THOUGH NEARLY
INVISIBLE.

 
WE UNDERSTAND THAT WE ARE ON
NISENAN LAND THAT WAS NEVER

CEDED AND THE ORIGINAL TRIBAL
FAMILIES HAVE YET TO RECOVER

FROM THE NEAR GENOCIDE OF THEIR
PEOPLE.

 
AS A RESIDENT OR VISITOR IN

NISENAN LAND, WE SUPPORT THE
NEVADA CITY RANCHERIA NISENAN

TRIBE IN EFFORTS TO STABILIZE
THEIR PEOPLE AS WELL AS THEIR
CAMPAIGN TO RESTORE FEDERAL

RECOGNITION.

- Land Acknowledgement

For more information and to support the Tribe visit Nisenan.org




	1 REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING - 09.23.20
	WEDNESDAY,  SEPTEMBER 23, 2020
	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

	2A-1 SR 9.23.20 League Conference Resolutions
	2A-2 League Annual Conf Reso Packet
	3A-1 Fire Activity Report August 2020
	3B-1 SR 9.23.20 Generator0 Generator and  Noise Amendment
	3B-2 Generator2 ATT2- Noise Emergency Generators Ordinance Amedment.docx (cvh edits)1
	ORDINANCE NO. 2020-XX
	AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:
	Erin Minett, Mayor
	ATTEST:
	Niel Locke, City Clerk
	APPROVED AS TO FORM

	3B-3 Generator1 ATT1  Ordinance (cvh alw)-Arch Review Update
	ORDINANCE NO. 2020-XX
	AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:
	Erin Minett, Mayor
	ATTEST:
	Niel Locke, City Clerk
	APPROVED AS TO FORM

	3C-1 SR 9-23-20 Award of Contract Amendment to 4Leaf Inc for Building Official Services
	3C-2 Reso 2020-XX -  Award of Contract Amendment to 4Leaf Inc for Building Inspection and Plancheck
	3C-3 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACT AMMENDMENT 4LEAF BUILDING INSPECTION AND PLAN REVIEW
	3D-1  SR 9.23.20 Award Contract for Church Street Water Service Replacement
	3D-2 Reso 2020-XX award contract for Church Street Water Service Replacement
	3D-3 Church Street Water Service Replacement
	3E-1 SR 9.23.20 Notice of Completion for Commercial Street Phase 1 Water, Sewer and Storm Drain
	3E-2 Reso 2020-XX NOC Commercial Street Phase 1 Water, Sewer and Storm Drain
	3E-3 NOTICE OF COMPLETION -  Commercial Street Phase 1 Water, Sewer and Storm Drain
	Sheet1

	3F-1 SR 9.23.20 Dispatch contract
	3F-2 Regional Dispatch Center Contract July 2020 -2021 Final-jw
	3G-1  SR 09-23-20- Award Contract for Water Reservoir Cleaning and Maintenance
	3G-2 Reso 2020-XX -award of contract to Koch & Koch for Water Reservoir Cleaning and Maintenance
	3G-3 contract for Water Reservoir Cleaning
	3H-1 SR 9.23.20 Action Minutes September 9, 2020
	3H-2 Meeting Minutes - September 23, 2020
	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

	4A-1 SR 9.23.20 Tesla Commercial Energy
	4A-2 Tesla SGIP Equity Resiliency Contract Documents for Nevada City Wastewater Treatment Plant
	4A-3 Tesla Energy Products - SGIP ER Proposal For City of Nevada City
	4B-1 SR 9.23.20 EAP-REP-0- Renewables Plan
	4B-2 Reso 2020-XX - Renewable Energy Goals
	4B-3 EAP-RFP-2-2015NVCity_EAP_Final_20150527
	4B-4 EAP-RFP-3-Nevada City 100 percent renewables energy plan
	6A-1 SR 9.23.20 Cashins Field Request for Financial Assistance
	6A-2 Reso 2020-XX  Loan to RHA and CCHC for $200000 (Cashin's Field) (cvh edits)
	AYES:
	NOES:
	ABSTAIN:
	ABSENT:

	6A-3 Financial Commitment Letter_Nevada City_Cashin's Field ($200k Loan)
	September 23, 2020

	7A-1 SR 9.23.20 Resolution Acknowledging the Nisenan
	7A-2 Reso 2020-XX City of Nevada City Nisenan
	AYES:
	NOES:
	ABSTAIN:
	ABSENT:

	7A-3 Nisenan land acknowledgment
	7A-4 Nisenan sign (BP)



